

Decision **PROPOSED DECISION OF ALJ GAMSON**
(Mailed December 21, 2012)

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Integrate
and Refine Procurement Policies and
Consider Long-Term Procurement Plans.

Rulemaking 12-03-014
(Filed March 22, 2012)

**DECISION AUTHORIZING LONG-TERM
PROCUREMENT FOR LOCAL CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS**

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE	PAGE
DECISION AUTHORIZING LONG-TERM PROCUREMENT FOR LOCAL CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS	1
DECISION AUTHORIZING LONG-TERM PROCUREMENT FOR LOCAL CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS	2
1. Summary	2
2. Background	4
3. Long -Term Local Capacity Requirements for the LA Basin Local Area – Party Positions	13
3.1. ISO	13
3.2. SCE Position	23
3.3. DRA Position	25
3.4. TURN Position	27
3.5. Environmental Parties’ Positions	29
3.6. Other Party Positions	31
4. Long -Term Local Capacity Requirements for LA Basin Local Area – Discussion	34
4.1. Statutory Guidance	34
4.2. Assumptions	36
4.2.1. One-in-Ten Year Load, with Two Major Contingencies	39
4.2.2. OTC Plant Compliance Schedule	40
4.2.3. Transmission	42
4.2.4. Demand Assumptions	4445
4.2.4.1. Energy Efficiency	4445
4.2.4.2. Demand Response	5051
4.2.4.3. Distributed Generation	5556
4.2.4.4. Energy Storage	5860
5. Minimum and Maximum Procurement Authorizations	6062
6. Long -Term Local Capacity Requirements for Big Creek/Ventura Local Area	6569
6.1. Discussion	6871
7. Procurement Process	7174
7.1. Technical requirements for local capacity	7174
7.2. Consistency with the Loading Order	7376
7.3. Discussion	7679

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(cont.)

TITLE	PAGE
7.3.1. RFOs and Bilateral Negotiations	81 <u>84</u>
7.3.2. Energy Division Review of Solicitation Process <u>SCE Procurement Pla</u>	86 <u>86</u>
7.3.3. SCE Application	88 <u>93</u>
8. Flexible Capacity	89 <u>95</u>
8.1. Discussion	92 <u>97</u>
9. Cost Allocation Methodology (CAM)	93 <u>98</u>
9.1. CAM Overview	93 <u>98</u>
9.2. Allocating Costs of Local Reliability Needs Among LSEs in Light of the CAM	96 <u>102</u>
9.3. Discussion	101 <u>107</u>
9.4. Should the CAM be Modified at This Time?	102 <u>108</u>
9.5. CAM Opt-Out	106 <u>111</u>
9.6. Discussion	107 <u>113</u>
9.7. SSJID Proposal	108 <u>113</u>
10. Cost of Capital (COC)	110 <u>115</u>
11. Motion of Megawatt Storage Farms 111 <u>(MSF)</u>	117 <u>117</u>
12. Categorization, Need for Hearings and Assignment	113 <u>118</u>
13. Comments on Proposed Decision	113 <u>118</u>
Findings of Fact	113 <u>120</u>
Conclusions of Law	120 <u>128</u>
ORDER	123 <u>131</u>

DECISION AUTHORIZING LONG-TERM PROCUREMENT FOR LOCAL CAPACITY REQUIREMENTS

1. Summary

In this decision, we authorize Southern California Edison Company (SCE) to procure between ~~1,050~~1400 and ~~1,500~~1800 Megawatts (MW) of electrical capacity in the West Los Angeles sub-area of the Los Angeles (LA) basin local reliability area to meet long-term local capacity requirements (LCRs) by 2021. SCE is also authorized to procure between 215 and 290 MW of the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local reliability area. The LCRs ~~are~~require resources ~~which must~~ be located in a specific transmission-constrained area in order to ensure adequate available electrical capacity to meet peak demand, and ensure the safety and reliability of the local electrical grid.

For the defined portion of the LA basin local area, at least ~~1,000~~1000 MW, but no more than ~~1,200~~1200 MW of this capacity must be procured from conventional gas-fired resources. At least 50 MW must be procured from energy storage resources. ~~As much as 450~~At least 150 MW of capacity ~~may~~must be procured through preferred resources consistent with the Loading Order in the Energy Action Plan, or energy storage resources. ~~As an exception to the 1,500 MW cap,~~ SCE is also authorized to procure ~~resources sufficient to achieve a current forecast of 1,519 MW of distributed generation (to the extent not already authorized in other Commission decisions)~~up to an additional 600 MW of capacity from preferred resources and/or energy storage resources. In addition, SCE will continue to obtain resources which can be used in these local reliability

areas through processes defined in energy efficiency, demand response, renewables portfolio standard, [energy storage](#) and other relevant dockets.

The long-term LCRs are expected to result from the retirement of thousands of MW from current once-through cooling generators due to compliance with State Water Quality Control Board regulations. We anticipate that much of the additional ~~2,400 MW of~~ LCR need currently forecast by the California Independent System Operator can be filled by preferred resources, either through procurement of capacity or reduction in demand. Preferred resources include energy efficiency, demand response, and distributed generation including combined heat and power. Energy storage resources may also be available.

In the next long-term procurement proceeding, expected to commence in 2014, we will evaluate whether there are additional LCR needs for local reliability areas in California.

SCE is directed to begin a solicitation process to procure authorized LCR resources. The first step is ~~to develop~~ a plan to issue one or more Request for Offers and/or to enter into cost-of-service contracts per Assembly Bill 1576 (Stats 2005, ch. 374). SCE should also actively pursue locally-targeted and cost-effective preferred resources. SCE's procurement plan shall be consistent to the extent possible with the multi-agency Energy Action Plan, which places cost-effective energy efficiency and demand response resources first in the Loading Order, followed by renewable resources and then fossil-fuel resources. Energy storage resources should be considered along with preferred resources. SCE's procurement plan should take into account the technical reliability requirements of the California Independent System Operator. Energy Division will review

SCE's adherence to these and other requirements before SCE commences its public solicitation process.

We consider today's decision a measured first step in a longer process. If as much or more of the preferred resources we expect do materialize, there will be no need for further LCR procurement based on current assumptions. If circumstances change, there may be a need for further LCR procurement in the next long-term procurement proceeding. We are confident that today's decision is the appropriate and considered step at this time.

SCE is directed to file an Application for each local reliability area seeking approval of contracts arising from the procurement process we authorize today. The Applications are expected in late 2013 or early 2014. [Separately and earlier, SCE may also file applications for gas-fired generation in order to expedite review of such contracts.](#) This decision establishes criteria for review of SCE's forthcoming Applications. A significant aspect of that review will be to ensure consistency with the Loading Order.

2. Background

This proceeding is the successor proceeding to rulemakings dating back to 2001 intended to ensure that California's major investor-owned utilities (IOUs) can maintain electric supply procurement responsibilities on behalf of their customers. The most recent predecessor to this proceeding was Rulemaking (R.) 10-05-006. As stated in the order originating this rulemaking in Ordering Paragraph 3, the record developed in R.10-05-006 is "fully available for consideration in this proceeding" and is therefore incorporated into the record of this proceeding.

In the Scoping Memo for this proceeding, issued on May 17, 2012, the general issues for the 2012 procurement planning cycle were divided into three topics¹:

1. Identify Commission-jurisdictional needs for new resources to meet local or system resource adequacy (RA), renewable integration, or other requirements and to consider authorization of investor-owned utility (IOU) procurement to meet that need. This includes issues related to long-term renewable planning and need for replacement generation infrastructure to eliminate reliance on power plants using once-through cooling technology (OTC);
2. Update, and review individual IOU bundled procurement plans consistent with Public Utilities Code § 454.5;² and
3. Develop or refine procurement rules that were not resolved in R.10-06-005, and consider other emerging procurement policy topics.

The Scoping Memo divided the proceeding into three Tracks:

1. Track 1: Local Reliability
2. Track 2: System Reliability
3. Track 3: Procurement Rules and Bundled Procurement Plans

This is the decision for Track 1 of this proceeding. In recent years the California Independent System Operator (ISO or CAISO) has performed an annual Local Capacity Requirements (LCR) study, which is filed in the Commission's RA proceeding. This study is used to adopt local RA procurement requirements for the next year; for example, requirements for 2013 were adopted in Decision (D.) 12-06-025, in the 2012 RA proceeding (R.11-10-023).

¹ Scoping Ruling at 5.

² All statutory references are to the Public Utilities Code, unless otherwise noted.

In RA decisions, the Commission has focused on LCR for local reliability for one forward year. In the Local Reliability track of this proceeding, we consider authorizing long-term procurement of new infrastructure for local reliability purposes for the years 2021 and beyond.³ As the Scoping Memo stated, the end result of this track of the proceeding should be that the IOUs and/or other load-serving entities (LSEs) will be authorized or required to contract for local reliability needs over the next several years, to the extent that the Commission finds there is such a need.

The main driver of local capacity requirements is that around ~~4,900~~4900 megawatts (MW) of OTC plants in the local transmission-constrained areas of the Los Angeles (LA) basin local area may retire in the next several years, as well as other OTC plants in the Big Creek/Ventura and San Diego local areas because of State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) regulations.⁴

⁵ By 2021, approximately ~~7,000~~7000 MW of OTC capacity is expected to retire in the LA basin local area and the Big Creek/Ventura local area.

“Once-through cooling” is a method to dispose of waste heat produced by a power plant (heat not converted into electricity) in which cold ocean or river water is pumped one time through the plant, absorbing and carrying out the plant’s waste heat back into the ocean or river. Because the water pumped through the plant and back into the ocean or river can cause considerable stress on the local aquatic ecosystems, the result is considered as water pollution under

³ A local capacity area is a geographic area that does not have sufficient transmission import capability to serve the customer demand in the area without the operation of generation located within that area.

⁴ See State Water Resources Control Board Resolution No. 2010-0020, adopted on ☼ May 4, 2010, effective 9/28/2010; Attachment 1, Milestone No. 26 at 14.

⁵ Issues related to infrastructure needs for the San Diego local area are being considered in Application (A.) 11-05-023 and will not be in the scope of this proceeding, except to the extent that any decisions in that proceeding inform the record.

Section 316(b) of the Federal Clean Water Act. In California, the SWRCB is the state agency that enforces the Federal Clean Water Act. As part of such regulation, the SWRCB now requires that most of these aging coastal fossil-fuel plants become compliant with their policy by the end of the year 2020, with some exceptions with different dates. Compliance can occur either through changing cooling intake to no longer use once-through cooling, or by reducing entrainment by 93%. Most generators in their plans filed with the SWRCB have indicated that they are pursuing the first option, which implies retirement or repowering of the facility.

Table 1 shows the plants, locations and expected compliance dates for OTC plants in the LA basin and Big Creek Ventura local areas.⁶

⁶ The San Onofre Nuclear Generating Stations (SONGS) plants are OTC plants, but are not included in this analysis.

TABLE 1

**Once-Through Cooling Plants Compliance Schedule
Per State Water Resources Control Board**

**Los Angeles Basin Local Reliability
Area**

Unit Name	Owner	NQC	Compliance date
Alamitos 1	AES	175	12/31/2
Alamitos 2	AES	175	12/31/2
Alamitos 3	AES	332	12/31/2
Alamitos 4	AES	336	12/31/2
Alamitos 5	AES	498	12/31/2
Alamitos 6	AES	495	12/31/2
El Segundo Unit 3	NRG	335	12/31/1
El Segundo Unit 4	NRG	335	12/31/1
Huntington Beach Unit 1	Edison Mission Energy	226	12/31/2
Huntington Beach Unit 2	Edison Mission Energy	226	12/31/2
Huntington Beach Unit 3	Edison Mission Energy	225	12/31/1
Huntington Beach Unit 4	Edison Mission Energy	227	12/31/1
Redondo Beach Unit 5	AES	179	12/31/2
Redondo Beach Unit 6	AES	175	12/31/2
Redondo Beach Unit 7	AES	493	12/31/2
Redondo Beach Unit 8	AES	496	12/31/2

**Big Creek - Ventura Local Reliability
Area**

Unit Name	Owner	NQC	Compliance date
Mandalay Unit 1	GenOn	215	12/31/2
Mandalay Unit 2	GenOn	215	12/31/2
Mandalay Unit 3	GenOn	130	12/31/2
Ormond Beach Unit 1	GenOn	741	12/31/2
Ormond Beach Unit 2	GenOn	775	12/31/2

Units and compliance dates from:

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/publications_forms/publications/factsheets/docs/once-through-cooling0811.pdf

As noted, Table 1 excludes SONGS

* Net Qualified Capacity (NQC) from:

<http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/C6BE7182-D647-4C70-B1AC-5D3A1CE207C3/0/CPUCNQCLocalAreaDataYear2012.xls>

In a settlement agreement approved by the Commission in D.12-04-046 in the previous long-term procurement plan Rulemaking,⁷ parties to the agreement found that in the first quarter of 2012 the ISO would present a study of integration of renewable resources into local transmission-constrained areas, along with a study of the effect of potential OTC plant retirements. The adopted settlement included a recommendation that the Commission issue a decision by the end of 2012 on the need for sufficient resources to integrate the number of renewable resources coming online to meet a 33% renewable portfolio standard by 2020 and the retirement of OTC plants.

Section 454.5(b)(9)(C) states that utilities must first meet their “unmet resource needs through all available energy efficiency and demand reduction resources that are cost-effective, reliable and feasible.” Consistent with this code section, the Commission has held that all utility procurement must be consistent with the Commission’s established Loading Order, or prioritization. The Loading Order, first set forth in the Commission’s 2003 Energy Action Plan, was presented in the Energy Action Plan II adopted by this Commission and the California Energy Commission (CEC) in October 2005. The Loading Order, which has been reiterated in multiple forums (including D.12-01-033 in the

⁷ This settlement was entitled: “Motion For Expedited Suspension Of Track 1 Schedule, And For Approval Of Settlement Agreement Between And Among Pacific Gas And Electric Company, Southern California Edison Company, San Diego Gas & Electric Company, The Division Of Ratepayer Advocates, The Utility Reform Network, Green Power Institute, California Large Energy Consumers Association, The California Independent System Operator, The California Wind Energy Association, The California Cogeneration Council, The Sierra Club, Communities For A Better Environment, Pacific Environment, Cogeneration Association Of California, Energy Producers And Users Coalition, Calpine Corporation, Jack Ellis, Genon California North LLC, The Center For Energy Efficiency And Renewable Technologies, The Natural Resource Defense Council, NRG Energy, Inc., The Vote Solar Initiative, And The Western Power Trading Forum.”

predecessor to this docket), requires the utilities to procure resources in a specific order:

“The ‘Loading Order’ established that the state, in meeting its energy needs, would invest first in energy efficiency and demand-side resources, followed by renewable resources, and only then in clean conventional electricity supply.” (Energy Action Plan 2008 Update at 1.)

In the 2008 Energy Action Plan Update at 20, the Commission further interpreted this directive to mean that the IOUs are obligated to follow the loading order on an ongoing basis. Once procurement targets are achieved for preferred resources, the IOUs are not relieved of their duty to follow the Loading Order. In D.07-12-052 at 12, the Commission stated that once demand response and energy efficiency targets are reached, “the utility is to procure renewable generation to the fullest extent possible.” The obligation to procure resources according to the Loading Order is ongoing. (D.12-01-033 at [19](#)); In D.12-01-033

at 21, the Commission recognized that procuring additional preferred resources is more difficult than “just signing up for more conventional fossil fuel generation,” but consistency with the Loading Order and advancing California’s policy of fossil fuel reduction demand strict compliance with the loading order.

This clarified Loading Order is a departure from the ~~Commissions~~[Commission’s](#) previous position of procuring energy efficiency and demand response, then renewable energy, and then allowing “additional clean, fossil-fuel, central-station generation,” because “preferred resources require both sufficient investment and adequate time to ‘get to scale.’” (D.04-06-011, footnote 22 at 31). Instead of procuring a fixed amount of preferred resources and then procuring fossil-fuel resources, the IOUs are required to continue to procure the

preferred resources “to the extent that they are feasibly available and cost effective.” (D.12-01-033

at [2121](#)); While procuring a fixed amount of preferred resources provides flexibility and a clearer idea of how to approach the procurement process, the ongoing Loading Order approach is more consistent with Commission policy. (*Id.*)

A prehearing conference (PHC) was held on April 18, 2012. At the PHC, the ISO stated that it had completed a study of LCRs through 2016 in its Transmission Planning Process. The ISO also completed a study of local capacity needs related to expected or potential retirements of OTC plants through 2021. These studies are consistent with the studies anticipated in the settlement agreement adopted in D.12-04-046. In its comments on the scope of this proceeding and at the PHC, the ISO maintained that it cannot evaluate any additional renewable portfolio scenarios beyond those already in the record of R.10-05-006 in time for a decision by the Commission by the end of 2012.

In this proceeding, parties were given the opportunity to present evidence that the ISO’s studies should be modified, or that the Commission should consider additional factors beyond the ISO’s studies, for the purposes of determining local reliability needs. The Scoping Memo presented a list of specific issues for this phase of the proceeding.

The ISO served its testimony on May 23, 2012. Parties served testimony in response to the ISO and on issues from the Scoping Memo on June 25, 2012. The assigned Commissioner issued a Ruling on July 13, 2012 seeking clarification on certain issues raised in opening testimony. Parties (including the ISO) served reply testimony (including issues from the assigned Commissioner’s Ruling) on

July 23, 2012.⁸ Evidentiary hearings were held August 7-10 and August 13-17, 2012. Briefs were filed on September 24, 2012 and Reply Briefs were filed on October 7, 2012. Per a Ruling issued September 14, 2012, comments were filed on October 9, 2012 regarding certain implementation issues arising from a workshop on September 7, 2012. This track of the proceeding was submitted on October 9, 2012.

The parties which served testimony in Track 1 of this proceeding are:⁹ AES Southland (AES); Alliance for Retail Energy Markets, Direct Access Customer Coalition and Marin Energy Authority (collectively, AReM); California Cogeneration Council (CCC); California Energy Storage Alliance (CESA); California Environmental Justice Alliance (CEJA); CAISO or ISO; [California Large Energy Consumer's Association \(CLECA\)](#); Calpine Corporation (Calpine); Center for Energy Efficiency and Renewable Technologies (CEERT); Cogeneration Association of California (CAC); Division of Ratepayer Advocates (DRA); EnerNOC, Inc. (EnerNOC); GenOn Energy, Inc. (GenOn); Independent Energy Producers Association (IEP); Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC); Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E); San Diego Gas and Electric Company (SDG&E); Southern California Edison Company (SCE); South San Joaquin Irrigation District (SSJID); The Utility Reform Network (TURN); The Vote Solar Initiative (Vote Solar); and Women's Energy Matters (WEM). Testimony from each of these parties was received into evidence at the evidentiary hearing.

Each of these parties also filed comments and/or briefs. In addition, comments and/or briefs were filed by Alliance for Nuclear Responsibility (ANR);

⁸ Certain parties served supplemental and other versions of testimony on other dates with permission of the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ).

⁹ Parties serving testimony that was subsequently stricken from the record are not included in this list.

Beacon Power, LLC; City and County of San Francisco; Clean Coalition; Community Environmental Council; [Distributed Energy Consumer Advocates](#); Ormat Technologies; and Sierra Club California (Sierra Club).

3. Long-Term Local Capacity Requirements for the LA Basin Local Area – Party Positions

3.1. ISO

Overall, the ISO recommends the long-term procurement of approximately ~~2,400~~[2400](#) MW in the LA basin local area to meet LCR needs in 2021, if the generation is selected from the most effective sites. This amount includes a specific identified need for 225 MW in the Ellis sub-area of the LA basin local area.¹⁰ The ISO recommends that the Commission authorize this procurement by the end of 2012 and that SCE begins a contracting process in 2013. The ISO found that potential retirement of OTC generation in the PG&E service territory is not expected to create local capacity deficiencies.¹¹

The ISO performed local capacity technical studies to determine the minimum amount of resources within a local capacity area needed to address reliability concerns following the occurrence of various contingencies on the electric system.¹² The ISO used power flow modeling as the basis for its recommendations. The ISO's recommendations for the amount of local capacity required to ensure that there is sufficient capacity to keep the lights on at all times are based on load circumstances that are projected by the CEC to occur once in 10 years,¹³ and the assumption that the two largest generation or transmission failures occur [nearly](#) simultaneously in a local area.

¹⁰ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 17.

¹¹ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 3.

¹² Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 3.

¹³ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 16.

In the previous Rulemaking (R.10-05-006), Commission staff provided the ISO with four scenarios consistent with the 33% renewables portfolio standard¹⁴ (RPS).¹⁵

These scenarios provided information for models tested by the ISO in that proceeding, based on analysis developed in the Commission's RPS proceeding. Due to the settlement adopted in D.12-04-046, such models were not used as the basis for a Commission decision, but these models remain available for use in this proceeding.

In opening testimony, ISO witnesses Rothleder and Sparks describe how in this proceeding they again modeled a number of possible outcomes for the ISO based on the same RPS portfolios. An important part of the modeling was the use of demand forecasts provided by the CEC in its 2010 Integrated Energy Policy Report (IEPR), which used 2009 demand forecast data. Rothleder describes certain modeling changes that led to different results from those produced in R.10-05-006.¹⁶

The ISO performed a local capacity technical study that "determined the minimum amount of resources within a local capacity area needed to address reliability concerns following the occurrence of various contingencies on the electric system."¹⁷ While the ISO has performed annual short-term (one year out) local capacity studies for a number of years that are used in the Commission's RA proceedings, here the ISO performed a local capacity study that looked at a

¹⁴ See Pub. Util. Code §§ 399.11-399.31.

¹⁵ The four scenarios are: 1) Trajectory, or the current procurement path; 2) Environmentally-constrained, which focused on reducing land-use impacts; 3) the ISO Base Case, which was a modified version of the CPUC's cost-constrained case wherein cost was the primary consideration; and 4) the time-constrained case, which focused on attaining 33% renewables as quickly as possible.

¹⁶ Exhibit ISO-4 (Rothleder) at 5-6.

¹⁷ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 3.

10-year planning horizon.¹⁸ This is the first time the ISO has performed this 10-year study.¹⁹

The ISO performed its studies assuming that generation to meet LCR needs stemming from the assumed retirement of OTC plants would be met via repowering or replacement in the same locations as the OTC plants.²⁰ The ISO provided a range of forecasts for each RPS portfolio. The lower end of the range for the four RPS scenarios corresponds to the amount of generation needed if it were located at existing OTC sites that are the most effective at mitigating the identified transmission constraint. The higher end of the range corresponds to the amount of generation needed if it were located at existing OTC sites that are the least effective at mitigating the identified transmission constraint.²¹ In the various studies, the ISO found an LCR need of at least ~~1,870~~1870 MW for the most effective sites, and up to 3896 MW for less effective sites in the LA basin local area served by SCE. Specifically, the LCR need would be in the Western LA portion of the LA basin local area (a transmission-constrained sub-area of the LA basin).

Several parties challenged the ISO's methodology, as discussed herein. The ISO maintains that no party presented a valid alternative to the ISO's methodology, which it describes as "a deterministic approach based on Northern American Electric Reliability Council/Western Electricity Coordinating Council planning criteria and ISO tariff requirements."²²

¹⁸ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 5.

¹⁹ Reporter's Transcript (RT) 117.

²⁰ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 2.

²¹ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 6.

²² ISO Opening Brief at 2.

No capacity from demand response²³ was included in any ISO analysis because the ISO “does not believe that demand response can be relied upon to address local capacity needs, unless the demand response can provide equivalent characteristics and response to that of a dispatchable generator.” The ISO claims “demand response does not have these characteristics at this time.”²⁴

Nor does the ISO include any demand reduction for uncommitted energy efficiency or uncommitted combined heat and power (CHP) in its forecasts.²⁵ Uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP are potentially viable energy efficiency programs or CHP installations not already included in the 2009 CEC demand forecast, regardless of actions taken after that forecast. The ISO contends that it has “no basis for expecting that uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP generation can be counted upon for meeting local reliability needs beyond the committed programs that were included in the CEC’s officially adopted demand forecast.”²⁵²⁶

Table 2 shows the various outcomes of the ISO studies.

²³ There appears to be price-responsive demand response built into the CEC demand forecast, but not other demand response programs.

²⁴ Exhibit CEJA x ISO-1 at 3.

²⁵ These resources are termed either “incremental” or “uncommitted.” Either term refers to resources beyond the amounts embedded in the CEC’s demand forecast.

²⁵²⁶ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 15.

TABLE 2
Summary of ISO Studies by RPS Portfolio

Local Area	Local Area Requirements (MW)				Replacement OTC Generation Need (MW)			
	Trajectory	Environmentally Constrained	ISO Base Case	Time Constrained	Trajectory	Environmentally Constrained	ISO Base Case	Time Constrained
LA Basin (this area includes sub-area below)	10,743	11,246	11,010	12,165	2,370 – 3,741	1,870 – 2,884	2,424 – 3,834	2,460 – 3,896
Western LA Basin (sub-Area of the larger LA Basin)	7,797	7,564	7,517	7,397				
Big Creek/Ventura (BC/V) Area	2,371	2,604	2,438	2,653	(Need is for Moorpark only, a sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura Local area)			
					430	430	430	430

In each of the four RPS scenarios, the ISO model included assumptions of distributed generation MW, and non-distributed generation MW for 2021; all scenarios assumed the same demand forecasts from the CEC. Tables 3 - 6 show the ISO's distributed generation and non-distributed generation assumptions for each scenario.²⁶²⁷

²⁶²⁷ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 7-9.

TABLE 3

Portfolios	Area	Local Area Req'm't			Replacement OTC Units Needed?	Constraint	Contingency
		Non- D.G. (MW)	D.G. (MW)	Total (MW)			
Trajectory	Overall LA Basin	12,961	339	13,300	Yes	Mira Loma West 500/230 Bank #1 (24-Hr rating)	Chino-Mira Loma East #3 230 kV line + Mira Loma West 500/230 kV Bank #2
		10,404	339	10,743	Yes	Eagle Rock- Sylmar S 230 kV line	Sylmar S-Gould 230 kV line + Lugo-Victorville 500 kV line
	Western	7,529	268	7,797	Yes	Serrano-Villa PK #1	Serrano-Lewis #1 / Serrano- Villa PK #2
	Ellis	225	59	284	Yes	Voltage Collapse	Barre-Ellis 230 kV line + SONGS - Santiago #1 and #2 230 kV lines
	El Nido	614	5	619	No	La Fresa-Hinson 230 kV line	La Fresa-Redondo #1 and #2 230 kV lines

TABLE 4

Portfolios	Area	Local Area Req'm't			Replacement OTC Units Needed?	Constraint	Contingency
		Non- D.G. (MW)	D.G. (MW)	Total (MW)			
Environmentally Constrained	Overall LA Basin	11,048	1,519	12,567	Yes	Mira Loma West 500/230 bank #1 (24- Hr rating)	Chino-Mira Loma East #3 230kV line + Mira Loma West 500/230 kV bank #2
		9,727	1,519	11,246	Yes	Eagle Rock- Sylmar S 230 kV line	Sylmar S - Gould 230 kV line + Lugo - Victorville 500 kV line
	Western	6,695	869	7,584	Yes	Serrano- Villa PK #1	Serrano-Lewis #1 / Serrano-Villa PK #2
	Ellis	225	124	349	Yes	Voltage Collapse	Barre-Ellis 230kV Line + SONGS - Santiago #1 and #2 230 kV lines
	El Nido	494	91	585	No	La Fresa- Hinson 230 kV line	La Fresa-Redondo #1 and #2 230 kV lines

TABLE 5

Portfolios	Area	Local Area Req'm't			Replacement OTC Units Needed?	Constraint	Contingency
		Non-D.G. (MW)	D.G. (MW)	Total (MW)			
Base	Overall LA Basin	12,659	271	12,930	Yes	Mira Loma West 500/230 Bank #1 (24-Hr rating)	Chino-Mira Loma East #3 230 kV line + Mira Loma West 500/230 kV bank #2
		10,739	271	11,010	Yes	Eagle Rock-Sylmar S 230 kV line	Sylmar S-Gould 230kV line + Lugo-Victorville 500 kV line
	Western	7,325	192	7,517	Yes	Serrano-Villa PK #1	Serrano - Lewis #1 / Serrano - Villa PK #2
	Ellis	225	39	264	Yes	Voltage Collapse	Barre-Ellis 230kV Line + SONGS-Santiago #1 and #2 230 kV lines
	El Nido	544	94	568	No	La Fresa-Hinson 230 kV line	La Fresa-Redondo #1 and #2 230 kV lines

TABLE 6

Portfolios	Area	Local Area Req'm't			Replacement OTC Units Needed?	Constraint	Contingency
		Non-D.G. (MW)	D.G. (MW)	Total (MW)			
Time-Constrained	Overall LA Basin	12,677	687	13,364	Yes	Mira Loma West 500/230 bank #1 (24-Hr rating)	Chino - Mira Loma East #3 230 kV line + Mira Loma West 500/230 kV bank #2
		11,478	687	12,165	Yes	Eagle Rock-Sylmar S 230 kV Line	Sylmar S-Gould 230 kV line + Lugo-Victorville 500kV line
	Western	6,954	443	7,397	Yes	Serrano-Villa PK #1	Serrano-Lewis #1 / Serrano-Villa PK #2
	Ellis	225	61	286	Yes	Voltage Collapse	Barre - Ellis 230 kV line + SONGS-Santiago #1 and #2 230 kV lines
	El Nido	589	31	620	No	La Fresa-Hinson 230 kV line	La Fresa-Redondo #1 and #2 230 kV lines

The ISO recommendation is based on the Trajectory scenario because “the Trajectory scenario studied in the OTC studies is the scenario most aligned with commercial interest.”²⁷²⁸ The ISO also believes this scenario best reflects future load growth and renewable generation development.²⁸²⁹ The Trajectory scenario forecasts a need for ~~2,370~~2370 MW in the LA basin local area, which Sparks

²⁷²⁸ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 17.

²⁸²⁹ ISO Opening Brief at 3.

rounds up to ~~2,400~~2400 MW.²⁹³⁰ This forecast includes a specific need for 225 MW in the Ellis sub-area.

In supplemental testimony, Sparks describes a sensitivity analysis performed at the request of this Commission, the CEC and the California Air Resources Board (CARB), to study a variation on the Environmentally Constrained portfolio. As part of the sensitivity analysis, demand reduction from ~~1,950~~1950 MW of uncommitted energy efficiency and 201 MW of additional CHP was included in the model,³⁰³¹ as provided by the three state agencies and adjusted for the LA basin local area (as part of ~~2,461~~2461 MW of uncommitted energy efficiency and 209 MW of uncommitted CHP for the entire SCE territory).³¹³² For the Western LA basin sub-area, ~~1,121~~1121 MW of uncommitted energy efficiency was included in this analysis, and 180 MW of CHP.³²³³

According to this testimony, the results of this sensitivity analysis show a need of ~~1,042~~1042 MW needed in the Western LA section of the LA basin local area for 2021 for effective sites, with the range reflecting the same effectiveness considerations as described above.³³³⁴ This compares to ~~1,870~~1870 MW for effective sites for 2021 in the Environmentally Constrained scenario in Table 2 herein. The sensitivity analysis also models the Del Amo-Ellis 230 kilovolt line loop-in project in service, based on updated information in the ISO's supplemental testimony that the ISO Board has now approved this project for

²⁹³⁰ RT 197-198.

³⁰³¹ Exhibit ISO-9 at (Table 3.4-1).

³¹³² Exhibit ISO-2 (Sparks) at 2-3.

³²³³ RT 137-143; Exhibit CEJA x ISO-1 at 2-3.

³³³⁴ Exhibit ISO-2 (Sparks) at Table 2.

2012. This project eliminates the need for local generation in the Ellis sub-area in this scenario.³⁴³⁵

The ISO does not recommend relying upon its sensitivity analysis to make a determination as to local area needs in this proceeding. Sparks testified that the ISO does not believe it is prudent to rely on uncommitted resources (such as uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP) for assessing future local needs. Further, Sparks testified that “deliberately conservative forecasts must be employed in the assessment of reliability requirements for capacity in constrained areas since the consequences of being marginally short versus marginally long are asymmetric. A marginal shortage means the loss of firm load, which puts public safety and the economy in jeopardy, whereas a marginal surplus has only a marginal cost implication.”³⁵³⁶ Further, Sparks testified that there is “uncertainty” concerning both uncommitted energy efficiency and incremental CHP which makes it imprudent to include these potential resources in the ISO forecasts.³⁶³⁷

Sparks testified that it is necessary to begin the procurement process for 2021 local capacity needs in 2013 “to ensure we don’t forgo the best options, and also to make sure that the options that are available are actually feasible.”³⁷³⁸

3.2. SCE Position

SCE generally agrees with the ISO’s analysis identifying a 2021 need for up to ~~2,370~~²³⁷⁰ MW of existing LCR generation in the LA basin local area to remain in service or be replaced with similarly located generation (also known as, or up to ~~3,741~~³⁷⁴¹ MW if new generation cannot be placed at the most effective sites in

³⁴³⁵ Exhibit ISO-2 (Sparks) at 2-3.

³⁵³⁶ Exhibit ISO-2 (Sparks) at 3-4.

³⁶³⁷ Exhibit ISO-2 (Sparks) at 5-6.

³⁷³⁸ RT 199.

the local area.³⁸³⁹ SCE seeks authority to start a process in 2013 to enter into contracts for between zero MW and ~~3,741~~³⁷⁴¹ MW in the LA basin local area.

SCE seeks flexibility in conducting any LCR procurement that is needed. In general, SCE would prefer not to procure resources to meet system needs and to make long-term commitments that would subsequently be rendered less valuable by changed circumstances.³⁹⁴⁰ SCE “prefers procurement of new LCR generation through a new multi-year forward procurement auction, such as a capacity market or a new generation auction administered by the CAISO” but acknowledges that such a mechanism is not currently available.⁴⁰⁴¹

Due to uncertainty in forecasts, SCE describes input assumptions in the ISO models that may change based on new information, and which could lead to a higher or lower need for LCR resources than the ISO identified. These include changes to the reliability planning standards, demand forecast, resource scenarios, LCR generation sites, and transmission options.⁴¹⁴² SCE witness Minick testified that another variable in determining long-term LCR needs is accurate identification of when the OTC plants are expected to close. He points to the potential for extensions of SWRCB deadlines and other changes surrounding OTC regulations as uncertainties in determining need.⁴²⁴³

Minick also testified that the ISO did not recognize the potential for increased distributed generation, assumptions for uncommitted energy efficiency or increased localized generation, all of which would lower the load on the transmission system.⁴³⁴⁴ In reply testimony, SCE cites concerns raised by many

³⁸³⁹ Exhibit SCE-1 (Cushnie/Silsbee/Minick) at 1, 3-5. SCE uses a slightly different definition of “effective” and “less effective” sites than the ISO.

³⁹⁴⁰ Exhibit SCE-1 (Cushnie) at 2.

⁴⁰⁴¹ Exhibit SCE-1 (Cushnie) at 1.

⁴¹⁴² Exhibit SCE-1 (Minick/Cabbell) at 5-9.

⁴²⁴³ Exhibit SCE-1 (Minick) at 10.

⁴³⁴⁴ Exhibit SCE-1 (Minick) at 7.

parties about the ISO's assumptions regarding the availability and use of preferred resources, agreeing with claims by parties that higher levels of preferred resources than forecasted by the ISO will reduce or eliminate the need for new LCR generation in SCE territory.⁴⁴⁴⁵

Despite these uncertainties, SCE witness Silsbee testified that at least some new generation procurement needs to occur to meet LCRs in the LA basin local area. He points to difficulties in constructing new generation in the LA Basin local area, which mean that it might take 7 to 9 years to develop new replacement generation. While there are uncertainties about the dates when OTC plants will cease to operate, there are also uncertainties around the lead time for generation permitting and construction. Therefore, Silsbee testified that there is a need to start initial procurement processes soon; for example, with a Purchased Power Agreement (PPA) entered into and approved by the Commission in 2013, it would potentially take until 2020 or longer for the plant to become operational.⁴⁵⁴⁶

3.3. DRA Position

DRA recommends the Commission defer a decision on SCE's LCR procurement, in order to allow the Commission to take into account final adopted planning standards in Phase 2 of this proceeding that relate to distributed generation standards. DRA also recommends a transmission study to determine if there is further potential to increase imports into constrained areas, and ways to upgrade current transmission facilities. If the Commission authorizes SCE to procure LCR resources, DRA recommends authorization of no

⁴⁴⁴⁵ Exhibit SCE-2 (Silsbee) at 4.

⁴⁵⁴⁶ Exhibit SCE-1 (Silsbee) at 16-17.

more than 169 MW for the LA basin local area for 2021 and no more than 278 MW for this area for 2022.⁴⁶⁴⁷

DRA witness Fagan testified that “the risk of not procuring now is minimal if not zero,” and that there is not a technical reliability risk in waiting another two years to make the LCR determination.⁴⁷⁴⁸ DRA’s concern is that the Commission could authorize procurement of fossil-fuel plants now, when preferred resources may materialize soon which would obviate the need for some fossil fuel resources. Alternatively, DRA recommends that there be an opportunity to revise the LCR need determinations after 2012 planning assumptions are finalized.⁴⁸⁴⁹

DRA has significant concerns about the ISO models for LCR needs. Fagan testified:

...the CAISO’s modeling analyses overestimate the range of deficiency of resources needed to meet 2021 local capacity requirements in the LA basin... primarily by either excluding or minimizing the effect that preferred demand side resources, including uncommitted energy efficiency and demand response, can have on projected peak load in these areas by 2021.”⁴⁹⁵⁰

Fagan calculates that LCR needs are lowered by more than 40% from the ISO’s estimates of ~~1,870~~1870 to 2664 MW in the Environmentally Constrained scenario (see Table 2) to only 828 to ~~1,207~~1207 MW when the additional resources are included in the Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis (see Table 3).⁵⁰⁵¹

⁴⁶⁴⁷ Exhibit DRA-6 (Fagan) at 4.

⁴⁷⁴⁸ RT 924.

⁴⁸⁴⁹ Exhibit DRA-3 (Spencer) at 12.

⁴⁹⁵⁰ Exhibit DRA-1 (Fagan) at 2-3.

⁵⁰⁵¹ Exhibit DRA-1 (Fagan) at 2-3, 12-20. There are some methodological differences which cause a variation between DRA’s figures and the ISO’s figures.

Fagan testified that the ISO's primary modeling estimates are too high primarily because they exclude all uncommitted energy efficiency and all demand response resources. He believes these resources will be available and should be considered when planning for future year procurement needs.⁵¹⁵² Fagan recommends reducing the ISO forecast by 957 MW of uncommitted energy efficiency and ~~1,550~~¹⁵⁵⁰ MW of demand response.⁵²⁵³ Fagan acknowledges that these figures are part of a load and resources table, which is a simpler tool than the ISO's power flow model, and does not consider sub-areas; nevertheless, he contends that DRA's method is appropriate for a procurement proceeding.

DRA witness Spencer testified that the ISO has not properly accounted for the amount of preferred resources (including demand response, energy efficiency and renewable resources) expected to be available to reduce load or meet electricity demand. He maintains that "failure to adequately account for such resources increases the risk of over-procurement,"⁵³⁵⁴ including underutilized assets and "crowding out" of preferred resources. Further, over-procurement poses the risk of additional expenses for ratepayers.⁵⁴⁵⁵ In other words, ratepayers would pay to reduce load and increase supply, but would then (under the ISO recommendation) also be required to pay for additional supply as if the first set of funded initiatives did not exist.

Spencer also contends State policy goals should be given weight when considering the ISO 2021 local capacity needs recommendations. Specifically, California Governor Brown recently called for the development of 12,000 MW of distributed generation by 2020.⁵⁵⁵⁶ While the ISO recommendation of the

⁵¹⁵² Exhibit DRA-1 (Fagan) at 17.

⁵²⁵³ Exhibit DRA-1 (Fagan) at 18, Table RF-2.

⁵³⁵⁴ Exhibit DRA-3 (Spencer) at 1.

⁵⁴⁵⁵ Exhibit DRA-3 (Spencer) at 3.

⁵⁵⁵⁶ Governor Jerry Brown, Clean Energy Jobs Plan at 3; June 2010.

Trajectory scenario includes 339 MW of distributed generation for the LA basin local area, it also modeled (but did not recommend) the Environmentally Constrained scenario with ~~1,519~~1519 MW of distributed generation. DRA supports using the Environmentally Constrained scenario because DRA contends it is in line with California's commitment to distributed generation goals.⁵⁶⁵⁷

3.4. TURN Position

TURN recommends that the Commission authorize procurement sufficient to satisfy 2/3 of the LCR needs sought by the ISO, due to problems with the ISO forecasts. Specifically TURN witness Woodruff contends that the ISO forecasts are "moving targets" that can vary significantly with each new iteration of the study.⁵⁷⁵⁸ TURN contends that both over-procurement and under-procurement would be costly, but that the ISO ignores the potential costs to ratepayers and focuses only on the "extremely low risk of criteria violations that could potentially result from significant shortage under extraordinarily stressed system conditions."⁵⁸⁵⁹

TURN recommends that the Commission task SCE with procurement of any new local resources authorized in this docket, as the only practical option. TURN recommends that the Commission adopt one or more mechanisms to mitigate potential market power issues and other LCR procurement challenges. Possible mitigations measures include:

- Holding RFPs to seek the most competitive replacements for OTC resources, even in sub-areas in which there are currently no known alternatives to an OTC unit. Such RFPs should solicit both conventional generation and non-fossil alternatives.

⁵⁶⁵⁷ Exhibit DRA-3 (Spencer) at 8-9.

⁵⁷⁵⁸ Exhibit TURN-1 (Woodruff) at 7-9.

⁵⁸⁵⁹ TURN Opening Brief at 6.

- Providing minimum and maximum procurement targets to ensure truly needed amounts are procured but prevent procurement of capacity that will not necessarily be needed.
- Implementing some type of “circuit breaker” mechanism to allow procurement of lower amounts of capacity should prices of one or more bids greatly exceed a reasonable cost.
- Providing procurement in the most logistically challenging areas first, such as the Ellis and Moorpark sub-areas.⁵⁹⁶⁰

3.5. Environmental Parties’ Positions

CEJA, NRDC, Sierra Club and WEM all contend that the ISO local capacity methodology should not have excluded significant amounts of uncommitted energy efficiency, CHP, demand response and energy storage. CEJA claims that “CAISO’s results are inherently conservative and call for greater MW than will actually be needed.”⁶⁰⁶¹ NRDC claims “the amount of efficiency included in the CAISO’s assessment of local capacity needs is unreasonably low because it excludes all savings from future energy efficiency policies, as well as some that were recently adopted.”⁶¹⁶² Sierra Club contends that the ISO “uses worst case, unrealistic assumptions,” such as modeling for outages which have not occurred in the last 10 years.⁶²⁶³ WEM argues that omitting certain categories of uncommitted energy efficiency “will lead to major forecast errors.”⁶³⁶⁴

Vote Solar recommends the Commission make a finding of LCR need for the total of the LA basin local area and the Big Creek/Ventura local area of between 800 MW and ~~1,700~~1700 MW, depending on location.⁶⁴⁶⁵ However, Vote Solar recommends authorizing SCE to procure some of the identified LCR needs

⁵⁹⁶⁰ Exhibit TURN-1 (Woodruff) at 2-3.

⁶⁰⁶¹ Exhibit CEJA-1 (Powers) at 4.

⁶¹⁶² Exhibit NRDC-1 (Martinez) at 1.

⁶²⁶³ Sierra Club Opening Brief at 5-6.

⁶³⁶⁴ Exhibit WEM-1 (George) at 10.

⁶⁴⁶⁵ Vote Solar Opening Brief at 2, 4-5.

via gas-fired plants (preferably in the most efficient locations), but to wait a few years to see how much uncommitted energy efficiency, demand response and distributed photovoltaic installations will be available for delivery to reduce LCR needs by 2020.⁶⁵⁶⁶

CEJA's analysis foresees additional resources, including additional transmission fixes, which can lower the LCR need in the LA basin local area for 2021. CEJA contends that these added resources tend to be available when most needed and are distributed geographically. CEJA claims that the ISO's failure to consider or include uncommitted energy efficiency, demand response, incremental CHP and all available distributed generation is unreasonable. CEJA concludes that, after including these additional resources, the actual LCR need under each of the four RPS scenarios is "likely zero."⁶⁶⁶⁷ Sierra Club also recommends a finding of zero LCR need for the LA basin local area.⁶⁷⁶⁸

CEERT contends that the ISO assumed higher customer loads than adopted as State policy, inconsistent with the Loading Order. While CEERT is concerned that the ISO's forecasts are based upon relatively rare contingencies, CEERT does recommend finding procurement of no more than ~~1,800~~1800 MW for LCR needs in this proceeding.⁶⁸⁶⁹ However, CEERT wants the Commission to identify eligibility requirements and performance metrics for preferred resources that can meet LCR needs, before authorizing LCR procurement.⁶⁹⁷⁰ CEERT would allow non-traditional resources (those other than gas-fired resources) to

⁶⁵⁶⁶ Exhibit Vote Solar-1 (Gimon) at 4-5.

⁶⁶⁶⁷ Exhibit CEJA-3 (May) at 2-3.

⁶⁷⁶⁸ Sierra Club Opening Brief at 19.

⁶⁸⁶⁹ CEERT Opening Brief at 30.

⁶⁹⁷⁰ CEERT Opening Brief at 4-5.

submit bids in any solicitation to fill this need, consistent with the Loading Order.⁷⁰⁷¹

3.6. Other Party Positions

PG&E recommends that the LCR need determination should be based on the ISO study, because the ISO uses a conservative approach without modification for uncertain resource availability. PG&E also recommends that the Commission not establish any preferred resources set-asides in this proceeding.⁷¹⁷² SDG&E recommends that the ISO's LCR determinations should be accorded considerable weight by the Commission. SDG&E endorses SCE's position that SCE be authorized to procure up to the LCR amounts recommended by the ISO, with review by the Commission of SCE proposed contracts.⁷²⁷³

CLECA contends that new generation can be operational in less than 7 to 9 years in some circumstances, such as by getting plants to the point of construction but only paying for an option to build if necessary. CLECA suggests the Commission could authorize development contracts that include permitting and site development but do not include construction, effectively creating an option for expedited development of new generation if and when it is needed.⁷⁴ CLECA also contends that the ISO, due to its obligations with respect to grid reliability, recommends over-procurement compared to what are required under NERC/WECC standards, leading to excessive ratepayer costs.⁷⁵

IEP contends there is a need for some form of replacement capacity for the potential retirement of at least some OTC units, and that IOUs should procure

⁷⁰⁷¹ Exhibit CEERT-1 (Caldwell) at II-3 - II-4.

⁷¹⁷² PG&E Opening Brief at 4-9.

⁷²⁷³ SDG&E Opening Brief at 3-11.

⁷⁴ CLECA Opening Brief, p. 28.

⁷⁵ CLECA Opening Brief, pp. 12-19.

LCR resources through competitive solicitations, or cost-of-service contracts.⁷³⁷⁶ IEP recommends a “somewhat more conservative approach” to determining LCR needs in order to ensure that firm load curtailments do not occur.⁷⁴⁷⁷ IEP proposes an “Incremental Need” calculation to set procurement targets; the Commission would authorize IOUs to procure resources at the level recommended by the ISO, but acknowledge that other resources might become committed in the future.⁷⁵⁷⁸

EnerNOC criticizes the ISO for leaving various preferred resources out of its forecasts, focusing on the exclusion of demand response resources.⁷⁶⁷⁹ EnerNOC recommends the Commission find an LCR need for the LA basin local area of ~~2,400~~2400 MW minus a MW amount reflective of expected growth of preferred resources in the local area, as an interim target. EnerNOC recommends the Commission reconsider the level of LCR need in the next long-term procurement proceeding, expected in 2014.⁷⁷⁸⁰

Calpine recommends that any procurement authorized in this proceeding to satisfy LCR needs not be granted until system needs have also been determined in Phase 2 of this proceeding. Calpine contends that such an approach will put the IOUs in a better position to identify the least cost/best fit mix of resource options to satisfy both local and system needs.⁷⁸⁸¹ Calpine also recommends adopting procurement rules to ensure all viable technologies, resources and solutions are considered by the IOUs to satisfy local and system

⁷³⁷⁶ Exhibit IEP-1 (Monsen) at 5-11.

⁷⁴⁷⁷ Exhibit IEP-1 (Monsen) at 20-21.

⁷⁵⁷⁸ Exhibit IEP-1 (Monsen) at 5-11.

⁷⁶⁷⁹ EnerNOC Opening Brief at 4-15.

⁷⁷⁸⁰ EnerNOC Opening Brief at 15.

⁷⁸⁸¹ Exhibit Calpine-1 (Barmack) at 1, 4.

reliability needs. This would include gas-fired plants, preferred resources and transmission alternatives and upgrades.⁷⁹⁸²

AES calculates a need for approximately 2300 MW at certain OTC locations in the LA Basin local area. Therefore, AES finds the ISO recommendation for approximately ~~2,400~~2400 MW at effective locations to be consistent with its own analysis.⁸⁰⁸³

CCC disagrees with the ISO that uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP should be excluded from LCR forecast models. CCC argues that the ISO's reliance on the CEC's IEPR misses more recent developments with regard to CHP. Specifically, CCC points to Commission approval of the "QF/CHP Settlement Agreement" in D.10-12-035 which has led to IOUs conducting their initial Request for Offers (RFOs) to procure 2000 MW of CHP capacity.⁸¹⁸⁴ CCC also cites to more recent CEC efforts to update its projections for future CHP development in California.⁸²⁸⁵

ANR endorses the ISO's Trajectory scenario estimate for the LA basin local area, but has strong reservations about the future availability of SONGS and a 600 MW transmission transfer. ANR contends the risk of over-capacity is smaller than the risk of under-capacity.⁸³⁸⁶ ANR recommends that Track 1 of this proceeding be continued after the Commission decision issues for the purpose of adjusting the determined LCR need, in order to take into account new information contained in the upcoming ISO 2012-2013 Transmission Plan.⁸⁴⁸⁷

⁷⁹⁸² Exhibit Calpine-1 (Barmack) at 5.

⁸⁰⁸³ Exhibit AES-1 (Ballouz) at 1-2.

⁸¹⁸⁴ Exhibit CCC-1 (Beach) at 6-7.

⁸²⁸⁵ Exhibit CCC-1 (Beach) at 7-8.

⁸³⁸⁶ ANR Opening Brief at 21.

⁸⁴⁸⁷ ANR Opening Brief at 22.

4. Long-Term Local Capacity Requirements for LA Basin Local Area – Discussion

4.1. Statutory Guidance

The Legislature has stated its policy goals relating to reliability, reasonableness of rates, and a commitment to a clean environment in the “Reliable Electric Service Investments Act,” codified as § 399(b). This statute protects these divergent interests by ensuring investments in the integrity of the grid, in a sizeable and well trained utility workforce, in cost-effective energy efficiency improvements, in a sustainable supply of renewable energy, and in research and development that will advance the public interest.

The Commission is also bound by the RA Requirements in § 380.

Section 380(c) states:

Each load-serving entity shall maintain physical generating capacity adequate to meet its load requirements, including, but not limited to, peak demand and planning and operating reserves. The generating capacity shall be deliverable to locations and at times as may be necessary to provide reliable electric service.

The implementation of RA serves to ensure system reliability as well as siting and construction of new resources. Section 380 requires LSEs to maintain 100% of forecast load available as well as a 15% reserve. LSEs are also required to demonstrate to the Commission that sufficient Local RA resources have been procured in order to meet the needs of transmission constrained Local Areas.

A primary responsibility of this Commission is to ensure reliability in the electrical system. It would neither be prudent nor responsible to allow the system to fail and the lights to go out when we reasonably could have avoided such deleterious outcomes. Similarly, the primary mission of the ISO is to ensure reliability in the California electrical grid. Section 345 states:

The Independent System Operator shall ensure efficient use and reliable operation of the transmission grid consistent with achievement of planning and operating reserve criteria no less stringent than those established by the Western Electricity Coordinating Council and the North American Electric Reliability Council.

A significant difference between the ISO's reliability mission and the Commission's reliability emphasis is that the Commission must balance its reliability mandate with other statutory and policy considerations. Primarily, these considerations are reasonableness of rates and a commitment to a clean environment. These considerations stem from both statute and Commission policy consistent with statute.

Regarding reasonableness of rates, § 451 states in pertinent part:

All charges demanded or received by any public utility... shall be just and reasonable. Every unjust or unreasonable charge demanded or received for such product or commodity or service is unlawful.

Further, § 454 states:

Except as provided in Section 455, no public utility shall change any rate or so alter any classification, contract, practice, or rule as to result in any new rate, except upon a showing before the commission and a finding by the commission that the new rate is justified.

There are a number of statutes which require the Commission to implement procurement-related policies to protect the environment. As a primary example, the Commission's RPS program is established in §§ 399.11-399.31. As discussed in Section 2, the Loading Order was established both in the Energy Action Plan and in statute.

In this decision, we strike a balance among the Commission's three primary statutory directives for ensuring reliability, reasonable rates and a clean

environment. We cannot, and will not, sacrifice or ignore any of these imperatives. Nor need we do so; the record in this case supports outcomes which enable us to accomplish all our goals, meet statutory requirements and direct utilities to procure sufficient levels of diverse resources in a timely manner at a reasonable cost so as to ensure reliability. We now turn to the specific details.

4.2. Assumptions

ISO witness Sparks acknowledged that forecasting one year ahead is easier than 10 years out, with the 10-year forecast entailing more uncertainty on many factors.⁸⁵⁸⁸ Referring to the sensitivity analysis of the Environmentally Constrained scenario (which includes assumptions of more distributed generation, more uncommitted energy efficiency and more demand response than the Trajectory scenario), Sparks testified that the ISO study methodology “would need to be revisited if we were to actually see these types of changes to the resource supply in the area.”⁸⁶⁸⁹ Because of the difficulty in assessing forecasts 10 years into the future done for the first time, it is necessary to carefully assess the assumptions in such forecasts and to build in a method to revisit the forecasts when more information is available.

Sparks further testified:

The ISO has no basis for expecting that uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted combined heat and power generation can be counted on for meeting local reliability needs beyond the committed programs that were included in the CEC’s officially adopted demand forecast.”⁸⁷⁹⁰

However, we do have a basis for considering an estimate of such resources in our analysis. We discuss such estimates below.

⁸⁵⁸⁸ RT 79.

⁸⁶⁸⁹ RT 81.

⁸⁷⁹⁰ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 15.

Sparks claims that “the consequences of being marginally short versus marginally long are asymmetrical” because “a marginal shortage means a loss of firm load, which puts public safety and the economy in jeopardy, whereas a marginal surplus has only a marginal cost implication.”⁸⁸⁹¹ DRA disagrees. DRA witness Spencer cites costs reaching over one billion dollars (plus annual maintenance costs) as being very significant and not simply marginal.⁸⁹⁹² In addition, there are significant environmental detriments to building and running more fossil-fuel power plants than necessary.

ISO witness Millar agrees that if reliability needs are met through natural gas generation, but more distributed generation occurs than the ISO forecasts, this would increase ratepayer costs (although he contends “that is a consequence of having to move forward in the face of uncertainty.”⁹⁰⁹³ Presumably, increased ratepayer costs would also occur if more energy efficiency or other resources than in the ISO models came to fruition. On the other hand, as already noted herein, the ISO contends that delaying procurement can result in lost opportunities due to a potential seven to nine year lead time for certain plants to go from proposal to operational.

We agree with the ISO that under-procurement entails significant risks. We also agree with DRA and others that over-procurement entails significant risks. We do not agree with the ISO that one error is necessarily more problematic than the other; neither error is desirable if avoidable. Nor can the

⁸⁸⁹¹ Exhibit ISO-2 (Sparks/Millar) at 4; Exhibit DRA-3 (Spencer) at 16, citing Rebuttal Testimony of Robert Sparks on Behalf of the California Independent System Operator Corporation, A.11-05-023, June 4, 2012 at 3.

⁸⁹⁹² Exhibit DRA-3 (Spencer) at 16, citing PG&E’s pending Oakley power plant Application (A.12-03-026).

⁹⁰⁹³ RT 474.

consequences of either outcome be easily quantified; neither the ISO nor anyone else has quantified these consequences.⁹¹⁹⁴

Our intent is to neither authorize over-procurement nor under-procurement. However, the procurement process is of necessity imperfect because it relies on future forecasts. One benefit of a long planning horizon is the opportunity to adjust to the inevitable changes in circumstances. We will balance the potential for lost or limited opportunities to procure certain resources with long lead times against the opportunities to reconsider circumstances in the future.

The ISO used power flow modeling to develop its scenarios to forecast LCR needs. SCE agrees with this approach because it takes into consideration transmission constraints and limitations in specific local areas.⁹²⁹⁵ DRA proposes using a load and resources table. While DRA's approach has its benefits, there is general agreement that the ISO's modeling is more sophisticated and precise. We find the use of the ISO's power flow modeling to be reasonable for these purposes.

Sparks agreed that the precision of the ISO's power flow simulation is "completely dependent" upon the accuracy of the input assumptions, and that if the input assumptions vary, then the results would vary.⁹³⁹⁶ Therefore, it is important to consider whether any major assumptions used by the ISO should be revisited.

⁹¹⁹⁴ RT 499-503.

⁹²⁹⁵ Exhibit SCE-2 (Cabbell) at 16.

⁹³⁹⁶ RT 167.

4.2.1. One-in-Ten Year Load, with Two Major Contingencies

The first question is whether the ISO's general methodology is reasonable. In our RA proceedings, we use ISO forecasts with a one-in-10 year load forecast, with two major contingency outages, to assess LCR needs one year in advance. In this proceeding, the ISO for the first time extended this methodology out to 10 years in advance.

A number of parties question whether the ISO's approach is appropriate. CEERT and others raise the issue of whether we should authorize procurement of up to several thousand MW of capacity based on a rare set of circumstances - essentially (as CEJA puts it) a "scenario that two import pathways to SCE's territory are unavailable on the hottest day in 10 years."⁹⁴⁹⁷ ISO witness Sparks testified that this situation in the LA basin local area has never occurred in the last 10 years.⁹⁵⁹⁸ The ISO did not analyze any scenario with only one contingency.

We recognize that the ISO models use assumptions of rare and unusual circumstances, which may never occur. However, this methodology is well-tested in our RA proceedings as a means of procurement of resources for local reliability purposes. As PG&E points out, the Commission must ensure the system will be reliable under a variety of possible future states, including a high load stress condition.⁹⁶⁹⁹ While the circumstances underlying the methodology are (hopefully) rare, the consequences of not having sufficient resources in such a rare situation would be extremely serious. We generally will use the ISO

⁹⁴⁹⁷ CEJA Opening Brief at vii, 6-8.

⁹⁵⁹⁸ RT 120.

⁹⁶⁹⁹ PG&E Opening Brief at 6.

methodology for consideration of LCR needs, with the caveats concerning inputs discussed herein.

4.2.2. OTC Plant Compliance Schedule

The next question to consider is whether the OTC plants are likely to retire according to the compliance schedule presented in Table 1 herein. The schedule determined by the SWRCB is beyond our jurisdiction. However, we can consider relevant factors in the record that might influence whether the schedule will hold.

ISO witness Sparks testified that the ISO participates in a SWRCB committee called the Statewide Advisory Committee on Cooling Water Intake Structure (SACCWIS). In that committee, Sparks stated that the ISO “would seek to adjust the [OTC retirement] schedule” if it determines that reliability cannot be met within the schedule.⁹⁷¹⁰⁰ If the retirement schedule is delayed for one or more plants past 2020, there could be a reduction in the local reliability need for the LA basin local area. In addition, Sparks testified that the continued operation of OTC plants was one possible way to meet local needs.

ISO witness Millar testified that there are a range of mitigation options in lieu of the addition of generation by SCE, if reliability cannot be met. He continued that these options may “fall within our current framework and our current authorities as well as should we be seeking additional authorities in order to advance the necessary reinforcements.” For example, continuation of procurement already under ISO contract and consideration of load-shedding are other options. However, he also stated that while “[t]here is no framework to simply delay compliance with once-through cooling” retirement deadlines,

⁹⁷¹⁰⁰ RT 193 - 194.

working with the SWRCB to consider changing deadlines would be an option (but not “a given”).⁹⁸¹⁰¹

If the Commission authorizes procurement based on the current OTC plant closure schedule, there could be over-procurement to the detriment of ratepayers and the environment if the plants do not close as scheduled. DRA contends that several OTC plants in the LA basin local area have asked for partial deadline extensions of up to six years.⁹⁹¹⁰² DRA claims that the SACCWIS in March 2012 recommended considering extension deadlines on a unit-by-unit basis.¹⁰⁰¹⁰³ CEJA contends that SWRCB OTC policy does not require any coastal OTC plants to actually retire, but allows these plants to remain operating should they comply with one of two tracks in the OTC policy (new cooling technologies or unit-by-unit measures to reduce marine impacts). CEJA claims many OTC units will not retire but will comply with one of the two tracks.¹⁰¹¹⁰⁴ [CLECA points out that delaying implementation of the OTC policy is an option for some limited period of time if it takes a little longer to implement full mitigation of the LCR consequences of this policy or to resolve some of the uncertainties that are currently driving the expected cost of LCR mitigation.](#)¹⁰⁵

We are aware of some efforts by specific OTC plant owners to comply with one of the SWRCB tracks to avoid retirement. However, there is at this time insufficient evidence that any change to the OTC deadlines in Table 1 will occur. [As CLECA suggests, it may be that the ISO will request a delay in the OTC closure schedule in order to ensure ongoing reliability. While we do not anticipate such a delay, if](#) any extensions to OTC closure deadlines do occur, this

⁹⁸¹⁰¹ RT 447-456.

⁹⁹¹⁰² Exhibit DRA-2 (Siao) at 5.

¹⁰⁰¹⁰³ Exhibit DRA-9.

¹⁰¹¹⁰⁴ Exhibit CEJA-1 (Powers) at 27-30.

¹⁰⁵ [CLECA Opening Brief, p. 25.](#)

can be taken into account in future procurement proceedings or in review of a procurement application by SCE. At this time, it is reasonable to accept as a fact that, based on information available today, OTC plants will close as per the SWRCB schedule in Table 1.

4.2.3. Transmission

DRA contends that there are transmission fixes that may be able to offset some of the local capacity needs identified by the ISO. However, DRA acknowledges that it remains unclear whether additional cost-effective transmission solutions are available that can reduce LCR need, and recommends further study.¹⁰²¹⁰⁶

SCE agrees with DRA that the ISO did not consider certain transmission mitigation that could reduce LCR need,¹⁰³¹⁰⁷ but contends that the ISO's transmission infrastructure assumptions are reasonable.¹⁰⁴¹⁰⁸ SCE witness Cabbell testified that every year SCE evaluates the transmission grid and (with the ISO) looks for feasible and cost-effective transmission fixes.¹⁰⁵¹⁰⁹ However, she also asserts that there are challenges to reducing the local capacity need through transmission fixes, including the viability of construction of new transmission lines in the LA basin local area, increased need for voltage support for upgraded transmission, and a ~~seven~~-7-to -10 year lead time to put in new transmission lines.¹⁰⁶¹¹⁰ ISO witness Millar testified that "we have identified the...low-hanging fruit where transmission reinforcement was a viable way to

¹⁰²¹⁰⁶ Exhibit DRA-1 (Fagan) at 4-5. Also see RT 907-910 and DRA Opening Brief at 24.

¹⁰³¹⁰⁷ Exhibit SCE-1 (Cabbell) at 8-9.

¹⁰⁴¹⁰⁸ Exhibit SCE-2 (Cabbell) at 16.

¹⁰⁵¹⁰⁹ RT 778.

¹⁰⁶¹¹⁰ Exhibit SCE-2 (Cabbell) at 17-18; RT 798.

reduce local capacity requirements” and these reinforcements were included in the ISO forecasts.¹⁰⁷¹¹¹

CEJA contends that the ISO should have assumed in its models a 600 MW transmission load transfer to resolve the most critical contingency for the overall LA basin involving the Mira Loma West transmission line. According to CEJA, this transfer would significantly lower levels of LCR in the LA basin, if feasible.¹⁰⁸¹¹² The ISO states that “it is a reasonable assumption to base the 2021 local area generation on the proposed [600 MW] mitigation.” The ISO also states that it has had preliminary discussions with SCE on this matter, but needs to obtain a cost and schedule for such an upgrade from SCE.¹⁰⁹¹¹³ SCE witness Cabbell testified that SCE has not performed any technical analysis or power flow modeling on this proposal, which would require further investigation with the ISO. However, she understands that this mitigation measure could be useful for reducing the LA basin local area LCR but not necessarily the Western LA basin sub-area LCR.¹¹⁰¹¹⁴

We find there is no conclusive evidence that any assumptions used by the ISO with regard to transmission capacity and contingencies are not appropriate. It is possible or even likely that there are certain mitigation options for transmission constraints or certain transmission upgrades which were not fully considered by the ISO and which may become feasible. It is also possible that certain transmission fixes may become feasible and cost-effective, including the use of synchronous condensers, static var compensators and shunt capacitors, all of which SCE considers annually.¹¹¹¹¹⁵ In future procurement proceedings and in

¹⁰⁷¹¹¹ RT 421.

¹⁰⁸¹¹² Exhibit CEJA-3 (May) at 4-7.

¹⁰⁹¹¹³ Exhibit CEJA-3 (May) at 6 (from ISO response to CEJA request No. 8).

¹¹⁰¹¹⁴ RT 782; 828.

¹¹¹¹¹⁵ RT 173; 780-781.

SCE's procurement application, we may be able to incorporate new information about transmission upgrades and new transmission capacity.

We find the ISO's transmission assumptions to be reasonable for use in this proceeding in determining LCR procurement authorizations.

4.2.4. Demand Assumptions

The ISO used the 2009 mid-energy demand case of the Final California Energy Demand Forecast of the CEC for 2010 - 2020, prepared as part of the CEC's 2010 IEPR, as the basis for its demand assumptions in its power flow models.¹¹²¹¹⁶ In and of itself, no party disputed that this forecast was reasonable. We agree. However, this is not the end of the analysis. We now consider whether there are elements of demand that should be considered in addition to or as supplements to that forecast.

4.2.4.1. Energy Efficiency

The ISO included in its modeling the amount of energy efficiency included in the CEC 2009 demand forecast (mid-energy forecast). This amount includes a significant amount of energy efficiency stemming from programs approved by the Commission through the IOUs (such as lighting programs and appliance efficiency programs)¹¹³¹¹⁷ and statewide programs approved by the CEC (such as building standards). This amount does not include any uncommitted energy efficiency. Several parties recommend adding in some forecast of uncommitted energy efficiency, which would decrease demand and, if located effectively, decrease local capacity needs.

As SCE witness Cushnie notes: "Energy efficiency can't address all of the needs of the electric system."¹¹⁴¹¹⁸ This includes meeting all technical

¹¹²¹¹⁶ This forecast was posted on May 30, 2012 on the CEC website.

¹¹³¹¹⁷ See D.09-09-047 for the most recent Commission-approved energy efficiency programs for IOUs.

¹¹⁴¹¹⁸ RT 688.

requirements to directly reduce LCR needs. However, energy efficiency does directly reduce electrical demand, which indirectly reduces local capacity requirements. The question before us is whether some amount of uncommitted energy efficiency is certain enough to reduce demand through 2021.

IOU energy efficiency programs are ~~committed~~funded on a three-year cycle basis (with occasional one-year extensions.) After the three-year cycle concludes, these resources are not considered committed in the CEC demand forecast analysis used by the ISO. As DRA witness Fagan points out, this does not mean the resources are not available. He testified that, due to the State policy of placing energy efficiency first in the Loading Order, “it is a relatively safe bet that funding will continue and that those resources will show up.”⁴¹⁵¹¹⁹

NRDC contends that uncommitted energy efficiency levels in the CEC’s 2009 Incremental Impacts Report⁴¹⁶¹²⁰ is what the CEC stated should be subtracted from the its base forecast. The CEC uncommitted energy efficiency forecast from 2009 included all anticipated energy efficiency programs from 2013-2020, all building code improvements between 2006 and 2020 and all appliance standards improvements between 2005 and 2020.⁴¹⁷¹²¹ NRDC and CEJA list a number of energy efficiency programs which have already been adopted and are already saving energy, but which were excluded from the ISO forecasts because they were categorized as uncommitted.

CEJA contends that the CEC’s 2009 Incremental Impacts forecast for uncommitted energy efficiency is actually conservative, as it includes a low

⁴¹⁵¹¹⁹ RT 904-906.

⁴¹⁶¹²⁰ *Incremental Impacts of Energy Efficiency Policy Initiatives Relative to the 2009 Integrated Energy Policy Report Adopted Demand Forecast, CEC, May 2010. See excerpts in* ☞ Exhibit CEJA-2 at 75-77.

⁴¹⁷¹²¹ Exhibit NRDC-1 (Martinez) at 3-4.

realization rate for “Big Bold Energy Efficiency Strategies” (BBEES) adopted as goals by this Commission in D.07-10-032 and in our 2008 Energy Efficiency Strategic Plan.¹¹⁸¹²² One of the BBEES is that all new commercial construction will be zero net energy by 2030.¹¹⁹¹²³ As evidence that the BBEES are becoming more likely to be realized, CEJA points to Governor Brown’s Executive Order B-18-12 which calls for 50~~percent~~% of California state government commercial buildings to reach zero net energy by 2025.¹²⁰¹²⁴

ISO witness Millar agreed that the CEC demand forecast from the 2009 IEPR used by the ISO did not include BBEES or other uncommitted energy efficiency programs.¹²¹¹²⁵ Examples of such programs already adopted or already in place include:¹²²¹²⁶

- California’s 2008 Title 24 Building Code;
- California’s 2010 Title 20 Lighting Standard;
- California’s 2010 Television Efficiency Standard;
- California’s 2012 Title 20 Battery Charge Standard;
- California’s 2013 Title 24 Building Code; and
- Several Federal standards on appliances such as water heaters and clothes washers.

Energy efficiency is first in the Loading Order set forth in the Energy Action Plan. Our commitment to cost-effective energy efficiency has been consistent, and the resources we have approved for IOU energy efficiency

¹¹⁸¹²² Exhibit CEJA-1 (Powers) at 5.

¹¹⁹¹²³ The other BBEES are: a) All new residential construction in California will be zero net energy by 2020; b) Heating ventilation and air conditioning will be transformed to ensure that its energy performance is optimal for California’s climate; and c) all eligible low-income customers will be given the opportunity to participate in the low income energy efficiency program by 2020.

¹²⁰¹²⁴ Exhibit CEJA-1 (Powers) at 3.

¹²¹¹²⁵ RT 445-447.

¹²²¹²⁶ Exhibit NRDC-1 (Martinez) at 4-5.

programs have grown considerably over the last several years. In D.09-09-047, we approved approximately \$3.2 billion in energy efficiency funding for 2010 through 2012. As required by statute, we fully expect to continue to fund all cost-effective energy efficiency into the foreseeable future. Recently, in D.12-05-014, we adopted 2013-2014 IOU energy efficiency portfolios, with estimates of 576 MW of energy savings statewide and 293 MW in SCE territory specifically.¹²³¹²⁷ Thus there is good reason to expect that California's commitment to energy efficiency will continue, if not strengthen. The likelihood that stretch energy efficiency goals will be achieved was enhanced by the November 6, 2012 passage of California Proposition 39, which (among other things) provides for \$500 million per year in additional energy efficiency funds.

SCE's practice for many years has been to include certain components of uncommitted energy efficiency in doing its own internal load forecasts.¹²⁴¹²⁸ The ISO agrees that, to the extent uncommitted resources ultimately develop, they can be helpful in reducing overall net demand.¹²⁵¹²⁹ It is entirely consistent to assume that our ongoing energy efficiency efforts will result in continuation of successful programs and development of improved programs. We have no doubt that the CPUC California Public Utilities Commission, CEC and federal programs and standards incorporated into uncommitted energy efficiency amounts will occur, as these are already in place.

We find that amounts of uncommitted energy efficiency in programs and standards already approved by this Commission and other agencies, but not yet in the demand forecast used by the ISO, should result in adjustments to demand

¹²³¹²⁷ D.12-05-015, section 4.5.8. Savings here are from programs, not including standards.

¹²⁴¹²⁸ RT 1032.

¹²⁵¹²⁹ Exhibit ISO-2 (Sparks/Millar) at 4.

forecasts for the purpose of authorizing LCR procurement levels.¹³⁰ There is a significant amount of uncommitted energy efficiency in such programs and standards that is certain to exist in the future. Many approved actions were included in the 2009 CEC uncommitted energy efficiency forecasts. Not all uncommitted energy efficiency is as certain to occur. For example, the Commission's BBES are goals that may well materialize – and we intend to actively pursue these goals -- but achievement of these laudable goals is still somewhat speculative at this time. The CEC 2009 forecast of uncommitted energy efficiency properly evaluates the potential savings from uncommitted energy efficiency.

We now turn to the question of how much demand in the LA basin local area should be reduced by uncommitted energy efficiency. NRDC recommends a minimum amount of ~~2,461~~2461 MW of uncommitted energy efficiency for the SCE territory.¹²⁶¹³¹ This figure is derived from the Scoping Memo in R.10-05-006¹²⁷¹³² (the predecessor to this proceeding and part of the record in this proceeding), and is based on the CEC's analysis of the total amount of energy efficiency that is incremental to its 2009 demand forecast. However, this amount is for all of the SCE territory, not just the LA basin local area. DRA uses the same information as the ISO uses in the Environmentally Constrained Scenario sensitivity analysis, and recommends assuming 2305 MW of uncommitted

¹³⁰ [The CEC may wish to consider eliminating the distinction between forecasted energy efficiency and forecasted uncommitted energy efficiency in the future in favor of a single forecast of anticipated levels.](#)

¹²⁶¹³¹ Exhibit NRDC-1 (Martinez) at 6-7.

¹²⁷¹³² Assigned Commissioner and Administrative Law Judge's Joint Scoping Memo and Ruling, R.10-05-006 (December 3, 2010), Attachment 1; and Corrections to December 3, 2010 Long-Term Procurement Plans (LTPP) Scoping Memo (February 10, 2011).

energy efficiency in the LA basin local area by 2021. CEJA estimates ~~1,934~~1934 MW of uncommitted energy efficiency in the LA basin local area by 2021. ¹²⁸133

There is a difference between using uncommitted energy efficiency levels for projecting future demand levels and using uncommitted energy efficiency levels for forecasting local capacity requirements. Lower demand levels do not reduce LCRs on a one-to-one basis, but must be modeled. In addition, uncommitted energy efficiency may not occur uniformly across the state. Amounts must be allocated or assigned to specific areas to model outcomes. A sophisticated power flow model can show the impacts of different demand levels with accuracy and detail. This is exactly what the ISO did in the Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis. For the LA basin local area, the ISO determined that the LCR need for 2021 is ~~1,042~~1042 MW in that scenario sensitivity analysis for effective sites, after including the CEC's uncommitted energy efficiency forecasts.

The ISO determination of 1042 MW in the sensitivity analysis is 828 MW below its determination for the Environmentally Constrained scenario (See Table 2). The only difference between these scenarios is modeling of uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP resources. We can impute that a similar 828 MW reduction in LCR needs would occur in other scenarios.

We find that the ISO's Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis includes a reasonable maximum level of uncommitted energy efficiency for the LA basin local area. We will consider this level as part of our authorization of what level of LCR need SCE is authorized to seek.

¹²⁸133 Exhibit CEJA-3 (May) at 2.

4.2.4.2. Demand Response

The ISO did not include any demand response in its forecast beyond the amount embedded in the CEC IEPR forecast.¹²⁹¹³⁴ As with energy efficiency, there are various demand response programs that already exist, but were not included in the ISO models. There are also a number of demand response programs under development. Demand response is equal with energy efficiency at the top of the Loading Order in the Energy Action Plan.

CEJA contends the ISO should have included more demand response in its analysis estimating that up to ~~2,224~~2224 MW of demand response resources may be available in the LA basin.¹³⁰¹³⁵ CEJA cites D.12-04-045 stating “demand response will be an increasingly valuable resource as we pursue future policy challenges.”¹³¹¹³⁶ CEJA lists a number of recent developments at the Commission and the ISO to facilitate integration of demand resources into ISO electricity markets. In its Opening Brief, CEJA estimates that 1064 MW of demand response should be considered in the LCR calculation.¹³⁷

EnerNOC claims that SCE has identified an opportunity to nearly double its existing demand response portfolio by 2017 as a result of such technologies as SCE’s Smart Grid Deployment Plan by adding an additional 1500 MW of demand response potential, to approximately 3000 MW. EnerNOC contends that at least some of this should be assumed to be in the LA Basin and have capability of reducing that area’s LCR need.¹³⁸

¹²⁹¹³⁴ SCE witness Silsbee testified that price-responsive demand may be embedded in the CEC demand forecast. RT 1040.

¹³⁰¹³⁵ Exhibit CEJA-1 (Powers) at 6 – 14; Exhibit CEJA-3 (May) at 2.

¹³¹¹³⁶ D.12-04-045 at 77.

¹³⁷ CEJA Opening Brief, p. 35.

¹³⁸ Exhibit EnerNOC-1 (Tierney-Lloyd) at II-8.

DRA presented evidence that SCE's most recent load impact report predicts 942 MW of demand response for 2020 for the Western LA Basin.¹³⁹ This forecast does not identify a level of locally dispatchable demand response resources nor does it evaluate the effectiveness of demand response resources in reducing LCR needs. SCE witness Silsbee testified that at least 549 MW of demand response is currently available in the Western LA Basin, with 102 MW in the most effective locations.¹⁴⁰ It is unclear how much of these resources are locally dispatchable.

EnerNOC objects to the ISO's LCR need assessment for its "failure to include or adequately consider demand response resources in (its) need assessment, either in terms of meeting or reducing its need."¹³²¹⁴¹ EnerNOC witness Tierney-Lloyd testified with regard to demand resources that "the filter for evaluating preferred resources must not only be what is feasible and reliable by today's standards; but, what is likely to be available during the planning window."¹³³¹⁴²

We agree that demand response programs are important resources in the California electricity system. However, there are differences between demand response and energy efficiency. The ISO contends that demand response programs should not be counted for local reliability purposes because there are limitations on the use of these programs, customers are not required to shed load when called upon, demand response programs generally do not have the necessary characteristics (such as voltage support) of supply-side resources,¹³⁴¹⁴³

¹³⁹ Exhibit DRA-6 (Fagan), p. 8 (Table RF-1)

¹⁴⁰ RT 1079, referencing Exhibit CEJA x SCE 03.

¹³²¹⁴¹ EnerNOC Opening Brief at 16.

¹³³¹⁴² Exhibit EnerNOC-3 (Tierney-Lloyd) at III-2.

¹³⁴¹⁴³ Exhibit ISO-4 (Rothleder) at 9; RT 287.

and the effects of demand response programs may not materialize at the times and in the locations needed.¹³⁵¹⁴⁴

ISO witness Sparks allows that demand response “could be used to reduce the replacement OTC needs if the demand response is in electrically equivalent locations and if they materialize and are determined to be feasible for mitigation.”¹³⁶¹⁴⁵ ISO witness Millar also testified that it may be possible to develop specific demand response programs which would be able to count for reliability purposes, possibly including programs targeted to specific local areas,¹³⁷¹⁴⁶ or to shave peak load (which would reduce the load forecast).¹³⁸¹⁴⁷ However, there are no demand response programs at this time which the ISO believes meet reliability criteria.

In D.11-10-003 in the RA proceeding, we adopted protocols for counting demand response resources for reliability purposes. In that decision, we required that, effective in 2013, demand response resources must be dispatchable locally to count as RA resources. Millar contends that, even with this requirement, there is “no basis yet to have...sufficient comfort that (demand response resources) will actually reduce our local capacity needs” because it is unclear that there will be any locally dispatchable demand response programs.¹³⁹¹⁴⁸

In other proceedings, we are moving forward to promote cost-effective demand response and to integrate demand response programs as reliability resources. SCE acknowledges the potential of demand response resources to

¹³⁵¹⁴⁴ RT 350 - 352.

¹³⁶¹⁴⁵ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 15; RT 204-205.

¹³⁷¹⁴⁶ RT 352-355.

¹³⁸¹⁴⁷ RT 423-425.

¹³⁹¹⁴⁸ RT 433-434.

address the transmission contingencies in the ISO's analysis.¹⁴⁰¹⁴⁹ SCE witness Silsbee testified that he sees "no reason" why a small amount of demand response which now counts for local RA requirements cannot be counted toward meeting LCR needs (although there may be limits to the ability of demand response to meet LCR needs).¹⁴¹¹⁵⁰ However, SCE recommends additional work regarding the economics and viability of demand response programs for reliability purposes, and for meeting the needs of the grid and fitting in with the transmission system. Therefore, SCE recommends more study to see if such programs can reduce the LCR need.¹⁴²¹⁵¹

We fully expect that innovative demand response programs will continue to develop, including those that possess characteristics that are consistent with ISO local reliability criteria. In R.10-05-006, the predecessor to the proceeding, the Scoping Memo (Appendix 1 at 60) estimated 2842 MW of demand response resources would be available in the SCE territory in 2020. In D.12-04-045, our recent demand response decision, we stated:

The California Clean Energy Future plan expressly acknowledges that in addition to its historic role as an emergency and peak demand management tool, DR will be able to provide a range of services that can support grid integration of large quantities of intermittent and variable renewable resources. The plan also articulates our collective commitment to integrating DR into the CAISO's wholesale energy markets.

We reiterate our commitment to a strong demand response program consistent with D.12-04-045. We agree with parties who contend that demand response resources are likely to be able to provide capabilities which should reduce LCR needs recommended by the ISO. ~~However, we agree with the ISO~~

¹⁴⁰¹⁴⁹ Exhibit SCE-2 (Silsbee) at 12-13.

¹⁴¹¹⁵⁰ RT 1044-1045.

¹⁴²¹⁵¹ RT 607; 646.

~~that we do not have sufficient information about the potential impact on reducing local capacity needs of specific demand response programs at this time. Specifically, While~~ the ISO did not study a scenario with additional demand response resources, it is reasonable to assume that some amount of demand response resources will be located in the LA Basin, be locally dispatchable, and available to meet LCR needs by 2020. Estimates of 2000 to 3000 MW of demand response are clearly overly optimistic for local reliability purposes, as these estimates are not specific to the LA Basin, may not be locally dispatchable and may not effectively reduce LCR needs.

~~Therefore, we cannot now quantify any amount of locally dispatchable demand response for the purposes of this proceeding, and will not adjust the authorized LCR need authorization at this time due to demand response projections. We do find that at least some future demand response programs are likely to meet ISO criteria for meeting LCR needs. Estimates of over 2,000 MW of demand response are probably overly optimistic for local reliability purposes, but there is significant potential for this resource if demand response can be accepted by the ISO to meet LCR criteria. Therefore, we use this information as a directional indicator, instead of a quantifiable indicator; in other words, the likelihood of some amount of LCR-compliant demand response resources can be used to strengthen conclusions about the overall LCR need. We look for more study to quantify future demand response programs available for local reliability purposes.~~

~~In the near future, it is possible that the ISO may develop criteria to allow demand response to count for LCR purposes. We intend to work with the ISO to make this happen. If that occurs before SCE files its procurement application (discussed below), it will decrease overall demand and decrease the need for~~

~~LCR resources. We will also take into account such information in future long-term procurement proceedings.~~ order to determine a reasonable level of demand response likely to be available by 2020 to reduce LCR needs, we take a conservative approach. We will assume a nominal level of 200 MW of dispatchable demand response resources that will be available in the LA Basin to reduce LCR needs by 2020. Since there appears to be at least 100 MW of demand response in the most effective locations now in the LA Basin (and 549 MW of total demand response resources now in that area), by 2020 it is likely that the actual amount available to reduce LCR needs in the LA Basin will be significantly higher – perhaps closer to DRA and CEJA’s estimates of around 1000 MW. As the Commission, the ISO and the industry work together over time to clarify the technical characteristics for the circumstances in which demand response resources should count for meeting local capacity requirements (such as local dispatchability), our confidence in the viability of these resources for such purposes should grow. In the future, it is likely that there will be more consensus about how to include demand response resources in LCR forecasts.

4.2.4.3. Distributed Generation

Under Governor Brown’s June 2010 Clean Energy Jobs Plan, approximately 6500 MW of new CHP would be added to the grid over the next 20 years with a plan to add 12,000 MW of distributed generation statewide by 2020.¹⁴³¹⁵² The [Assembly Bill \(AB\) 32](#) Scoping Plan sets a goal of 4000 MW of new CHP by 2020.

The Commission’s commitment to expanded distributed generation is supported by a multitude of programs, including the California Solar Initiative (~~CSI~~), Net Energy Metering (~~NEM~~), Self-Generation Incentive Program

¹⁴³¹⁵² Stats 2006, ch. 488.

(SGIP), the Renewable Auction Mechanism (RAM), Renewable Market ~~Adjustment~~Adjusting Tariff (Re-MAT), Combined Heat and Power tariffs, and the Utility Photovoltaic and Fuel Cell Programs. In 2013 the Commission will implement Senate Bill (SB) ~~1,122~~1122 expanding offerings to bioenergy distributed generation projects. These programs commit IOU customers to substantial investment in distributed generation and promise to deliver thousands of megawatts.

The ISO ~~forecasts~~scenarios assume between 271 MW and ~~1,519~~1519 MW of distributed generation ~~(including CHP)~~ actually will be developed in the LA basin local area over the next ~~ten~~10 years, based on the standardized planning assumptions developed in

R.10-05-006.¹⁴⁴¹⁵³ Most of this appears to be rooftop solar and other small solar installations. ISO witness Millar testified that if distributed generation increased beyond what the ISO is forecasting, that generally would lower the local capacity need. However, the ISO does not recommend relying on the ~~1,519~~1519 MW distributed generation forecast in the Environmentally Constrained scenario, but on a range from 271 MW to 687 MW embedded within the other three scenarios. This is because the ISO claims the distributed generation level in the Environmentally Constrained scenario may be an “admirable goal” but “it is not a capacity amount that can be depended on for ensuring reliability of the bulk power system.”¹⁴⁵¹⁵⁴

The ISO does not consider it reasonable or prudent to rely on incremental CHP programs beyond what has been considered in the 2009 CEC forecast due to

¹⁴⁴¹⁵³ DRA similarly estimates between 347 MW and 2468 MW of new CHP in SCE’s region by 2020.

¹⁴⁵¹⁵⁴ Exhibit ISO-2 (Sparks/Millar) at 6-7.

uncertainty that exists with regard to future increases in CHP development. However, Millar also contends that CHP should not be excluded from meeting reliability needs if such facilities can meet ISO technical characteristics. Further, Millar testified, in the context of state policy objectives supporting CHP: “We want to support [CHP] if there’s some work we can do to help those programs or those resources meet these [reliability] needs providing they have the like characteristics.”

As ISO witness Millar states, with regard to including energy efficiency in a demand forecast, “we would turn largely to the judgment of the CEC in developing their forecast.”¹⁴⁶¹⁵⁵ We agree, and find that similar consideration should be given with regard to distributed generation forecasts by state agencies. We do not agree with the ISO’s decision to unilaterally dismiss the CEC forecast of ~~1,519~~¹⁵¹⁹ MW of distributed generation under the Environmentally Constrained scenario. This forecast has the same validity as CEC forecasts in the other three scenarios and should be considered as part of our analysis. However, we will adopt the ISO’s recommendation to use the 339 MW projection of distributed generation, except for uncommitted CHP.

SCE witness Cushnie testified: “CHP has some of the same characteristics that conventional gas-fired resources would have, but they are not going to be as effective as (gas-fired resources) in meeting the need.”¹⁴⁷¹⁵⁶ CEJA contends the ISO should have considered more CHP in its analysis, citing to the Governor’s goals and a CARB 2008 Scoping Plan adopting a CHP goal of an additional 4000 MW of installed CHP capacity by 2020. Specifically, CEJA recommends inclusion of at least 285 MW of incremental CHP should be included in the ISO forecast for the LA basin local area, which is a proportion of 360 MW of incremental CHP for

¹⁴⁶¹⁵⁵ RT 492.

¹⁴⁷¹⁵⁶ RT 731.

SCE's total territory (this amount is taken from the Scoping Memo in R.10-05-006.) CCC presents a report showing a medium projection of 621 MW of additional CHP by 2020.

We find that there is the potential for additional ~~distributed generation (including CHP)~~ to be realized over the ISO's Trajectory scenario. The exact amount that can be assumed is not clear from the record; however, it is reasonable to assume that ~~a~~ some amount of uncommitted ~~distributed generation~~ CHP will come to fruition in the LA basin local area before 2021. Thus, we find there will be more distributed generation than was included in the ISO Trajectory scenario. SCE's point that CHP may not be as effective as gas-fired generation in meeting LCR needs is important; it is necessary to model the impacts of increased CHP. This is what the ISO has done in the four scenarios it studied; Table 3 - 6 herein show that the ISO assumed between 271 MW (Base scenario) and 1519 MW (Environmentally Constrained scenario, which includes increased CHP in modeling 1,519) of distributed generation. The ISO's recommended Trajectory scenario includes 339 MW of distributed generation. ~~We~~

As with uncommitted energy efficiency, we are convinced that the ISO should have included some projection of uncommitted CHP into its models. As with energy efficiency, a significant amount of what the CEC categorized in 2009 as uncommitted CHP is now more certain to exist. As discussed in Section 4.2.4.1 herein, we find that the ISO's Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis includes a reasonable maximum level of uncommitted distributed generation for the LA Basin local area. We will use energy efficiency for the LA basin local area. This same forecast also includes the full amount of uncommitted CHP in the CEC forecast. The combination of

uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP led to a reduction in LCR needs of 828 MW in the one ISO scenario which modeled this modification. We will consider this level as part of our ~~consideration~~authorization of what level of LCR need SCE is authorized to seek.

~~However, while we assume 1,519 MW of distributed generation will be available in the LA Basin local area, we do not presume that procurement authority for the entire 1,519 MW has been granted to SCE. The Commission's multiple distributed generation programs are certainly contributing toward that target, but the record of this proceeding does not demonstrate whether or not SCE's current distributed generation procurement authority would ensure our assumption becomes reality. This potential gap between our assumption and distributed generation procurement authority granted to date must be addressed by this decision to ensure reliability in LA Basin local area.~~

4.2.4.4. Energy Storage

Under California Governor Brown's June 2010 Clean Energy Jobs Plan, approximately 3000 MW of energy storage would be added to the grid to meet peak demand and support renewable energy generation.

CESA recommends that the Commission closely coordinate this proceeding with the Energy Storage Rulemaking, R.10-12-007. CESA calls for the full integration of storage into long-term procurement planning as "a powerful and resource adequacy-improving asset class."¹⁴⁸¹⁵⁷ CESA contends that energy storage can meet LCR needs and, like generation, is dispatchable.¹⁴⁹¹⁵⁸

CEJA contends it is not reasonable that the ISO did not consider any energy storage in its analysis.¹⁵⁰¹⁵⁹ CEJA claims that energy storage has been

¹⁴⁸¹⁵⁷ Exhibit CESA-1 (Lin) at 8.

¹⁴⁹¹⁵⁸ Exhibit CESA-2 (Lin) at 2.

¹⁵⁰¹⁵⁹ Exhibit CEJA-1 (Powers) at 14-19.

found to be more effective than conventional peaking generation, and that both SCE and the ISO recognize the value of storage and the increasing viability of storage technology.

ISO witness Millar testified that, at this time, there are no energy storage facilities on the net qualifying capacity (NQC) list for local capacity¹⁵¹¹⁶⁰ (i.e., eligible to be counted for RA purposes) and that the ISO has not identified any energy storage projects in its transmission planning process.¹⁵²¹⁶¹ However, he stated that there is a process by which any energy storage facilities which emerge could be placed on the NQC list and be eligible to provide local reliability for RA purposes.¹⁵³¹⁶² Similar to demand response resources, Millar testified that if energy storage technologies met certain performance requirements, they could count for reliability purposes.¹⁵⁴¹⁶³ However, he testified that “we don’t know” if energy storage can meet ISO technical characteristics in the next ten years.¹⁵⁵¹⁶⁴

SCE witness Minick testified that there are “only a few test programs for energy storage on our system, and they are not specifically located in areas that would be of any benefit for LCR analysis.” He continued: “We have looked at 20 to 30 different energy storage technologies, and we have presented that information to the Commission, and I don’t think we have found many, if any, cost-effective.”¹⁵⁶¹⁶⁵

We are examining the feasibility of energy storage technologies in R.10-12-007. In that proceeding we are considering multiple energy storage options to determine the cost-effectiveness of these potential resources. At this

¹⁵¹¹⁶⁰ RT 347.

¹⁵²¹⁶¹ RT 404.

¹⁵³¹⁶² RT 348-349.

¹⁵⁴¹⁶³ RT 355.

¹⁵⁵¹⁶⁴ RT 461.

¹⁵⁶¹⁶⁵ RT 948.

time we do not have sufficient information to determine how many viable energy storage facilities will emerge between now and 2021 that can be used for local reliability purposes in the LA basin local area (or elsewhere). We will not consider a modification to the ISO local reliability need forecast for energy storage for the LA basin local area at this time.

However, we intend to promote the inclusion of energy storage technologies in SCE's upcoming procurement process. [CEJA details a number of SCE energy storage initiative and projects underway that will increase energy storage capacity in its territory \(although largely outside of the LA Basin\).](#)¹⁶⁶ [As a result, CEJA recommends a minimum procurement level of 48 MW of energy storage resources, based upon a storage assumption of 100 MW for the LA Basin, with the Western LA Basin as approximately 48% of the LA Basin.](#)¹⁶⁷ As explained below, we will require that SCE procure at least 50 MW of energy storage resources for LCR purposes in the LA basin local area. We view this as a [reasonable and](#) modest level of targeted procurement of an emerging resources, and as an opportunity to assess the cost and performance of energy storage resources.

5. Minimum and Maximum Procurement Authorizations

As noted above, SCE recommends that we authorize a range of procurement from zero to ~~3,871~~[3871](#) MW. While SCE and many parties have significant concerns about the LCR procurement levels recommended by the ISO, SCE proposes the widest possible range of procurement flexibility. Other parties find fault in SCE's expansive proposal. CEJA, for example, recommends that SCE's proposal be rejected as "a bad idea to take an economically risky

¹⁶⁶ [CEJA Opening Brief, pp. 55-56.](#)

¹⁶⁷ [CEJA Reply Brief, p. 2.](#)

(and environmentally harmful) scenario, and simply shift the burden of this risk to ratepayers.”¹⁵⁷¹⁶⁸

To address this concern, TURN recommends both a minimum and maximum procurement authorization level, partially to “provide purchaser flexibility when negotiating with bidders.”¹⁵⁸¹⁶⁹ SCE contends that a minimum LCR procurement target is not useful as the specific proposals and options available to meet the LCR need are not known at this time; instead SCE would have the Commission finalize appropriate LCR levels in SCE’s future application for approval of proposed LCR projects.¹⁵⁹¹⁷⁰

We agree with SCE that not all information is known. We can and will further refine LCR authorization requirements in future long-term procurement planning proceedings. However, we take seriously the ISO’s concern (seconded by SCE and others) that there are some procurement opportunities associated with gas-fired power plants which may be lost if there is a delay in moving forward, due to a likely seven to nine year lead time. We do not agree with DRA that “there is zero reliability risk of waiting to procure additional fossil resources” for 2021.¹⁶⁰¹⁷¹ Gas-fired resources are appropriate resources to procure for their technical reliability characteristics and for cost considerations; however, we discuss below that procurement should be consistent with the Loading Order to the extent possible.

We will set a minimum LCR procurement level. There is ~~significant~~^{some} uncertainty about what how much uncommitted energy efficiency will be available to reduce demand by 2021, and how much uncommitted CHP will be available to fill LCR needs. However the forecast of zero for these resources

¹⁵⁷¹⁶⁸ Exhibit CEJA-5 (May) at 2.

¹⁵⁸¹⁶⁹ Exhibit TURN-1 (Woodruff) at 22.

¹⁵⁹¹⁷⁰ Exhibit SCE-2 (Cushnie) at 7.

¹⁶⁰¹⁷¹ RT 912.

included in the ISO Trajectory scenario is not reasonable. Therefore, the LCR need is less than the ISO forecasts in its Trajectory ~~Scenario~~ scenario. At the same time, the record establishes that there is a significant need for LCR resources to replace retiring OTC plants by 2021 under ~~even the Environmentally Constrained every ISO~~ scenario and sensitivity analysis. It is reasonable to require a minimum procurement level to ensure reliability.

TURN recommends a “circuit breaker” mechanism if the Commission allows procurement of a lower amount of capacity than the ISO recommends (which is the maximum level SCE recommends.) The “circuit breaker” would occur “if the prices of one or more bids greatly exceed a reasonable cost.”¹⁶¹¹⁷² SCE argues this proposal is not needed if the Commission does not adopt a minimum LCR procurement target.¹⁶²¹⁷³ However, we do adopt a minimum LCR procurement level. While we are cognizant of the potential for bids with excessive cost, already existing mechanisms such as cost-of-service contracts and reliance upon requests for offers provide some ratepayer protection. Further, the Commission-established Procurement Review Groups, Independent Evaluators and Energy Division staff review also provide important and substantive ratepayer protections.

Adjustments to the ISO forecasts to include the maximum reasonable level of uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP, ~~as well as reasonable levels of distributed generation (beyond uncommitted CHP) essentially~~ lead to the ISO’s Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis. As shown in Table 2, this analysis leads to a forecast of ~~1,042~~1042 MW of LCR need for effective sites. ~~To provide a zone of flexibility, we will round this figure and adopt a minimum LCR need of 1,050 MW for the West LA sub-area of the LA basin local~~

¹⁶¹¹⁷² Exhibit TURN-1 (Woodruff) at 22.

¹⁶²¹⁷³ Exhibit SCE-2 (Cushnie) at 9-10.

~~area.~~ However, this scenario is a derivative of the Environmentally Constrained scenario. The difference between the Trajectory scenario and the Environmentally Constrained scenario is that the latter included 1519 MW of supply-side distributed generation,¹⁷⁴ as compared to 339 MW in the Trajectory scenario. There is no credible evidence in the record that there will be 1519 MW of supply-side distributed generation in the LA Basin by 2020.

We agree with the ISO, SCE and others that the Trajectory scenario is appropriate for determining LCR needs. However, we have determined herein that it is appropriate to reduce the ISO forecasts to account for the likelihood that 50% to 100% of uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP will exist, and that at least 200 MW of locally-dispatchable demand response will exist.

The ISO did not provide a sensitivity analysis for the Trajectory scenario. It is possible to roughly calculate the impact of including more energy efficiency, CHP and demand response resources into the Trajectory scenario. The sole difference between the ISO Environmentally Constrained scenario and the sensitivity study for this scenario is the inclusion of uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP. The ISO shows that these resources would decrease LCR needs by 828 MW. It is reasonable to assume that modeling uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP into the Trajectory scenario would result in at least this much reduction in LCR needs (given that the Trajectory scenario starts with a higher LCR need). We will assume that inclusion of 100% of uncommitted energy efficiency and 100% of uncommitted CHP will reduce the LCR need in the Trajectory scenario by 800 MW. In addition, we have determined that we will assume a conservative projection of 200 MW of locally dispatchable demand response resources.

¹⁷⁴ Some distributed generation is embedded in the CEC's demand forecast.

In sum, the Trajectory scenario LCR forecast should be reduced by a maximum of 1000 MW to account for undercounted resource availability. We therefore adopt a minimum LCR need of 1400 MW for the West LA sub-area of the LA basin local area.

We have stated herein that potential demand response and energy storage resources ~~may are likely to~~ be able to reduce LCR needs in the future. ~~These cannot be quantified at this time, but do provide directional information.~~ A way of looking at this is that even if some uncommitted energy efficiency and/or CHP resources included in the ISO forecast do not ultimately appear, there is a reasonable likelihood that ~~some other resources including locally-dispatchable demand response (beyond our conservative forecast of 200 MW)~~ and/or energy storage resources will appear which can similarly fill or reduce LCR needs. ~~This directional information strengthens~~ Alternatively, there may also be transmission-related improvements which can decrease LCR needs. These additional potential resources strengthen our determination that far lower levels of new generation procurement are needed to satisfy LCR needs in the LA basin local area than recommended by the ISO in the Trajectory scenario.

We will also set a maximum procurement level. SCE's proposal for a maximum procurement level is based on the highest ISO forecast level, given less efficient locations.¹⁶³¹⁷⁵ Our analysis of the demand forecast used by the ISO convinces us that the ISO's recommendations for procurement of LCR needs in the LA basin local area are too high. Further, we are convinced that inevitably changing circumstances over the next several years must be taken into consideration. By adopting a lower maximum procurement level than the ISO

¹⁶³¹⁷⁵ SCE's method for recommending maximum LCR levels appears to be slightly different than the ISO's method for calculating the upper bound for LCR needs in each scenario. The ISO considered the least effective OTC sites in each local area, while SCE used less effective locations in each local area.

recommends, the maximum levels are unlikely to turn out to be too high. If our adopted maximum procurement level is too low, there will be timely opportunities to obtain additional resources in future long-term procurement planning proceedings.

For determining the maximum procurement level, we reiterate that this projection should include a reasonable amount of uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP. Again, this projection should also include ~~directional~~ information regarding potential demand response and energy storage resources which can meet LCR needs. TURN recommends that the Commission assume that at least 50% of the long-term targets for preferred resources are achieved.¹⁶⁴¹⁷⁶ For a maximum procurement level, we should be cautious and not assume that all the uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP included in this sensitivity analysis will materialize. Further, the location of energy efficiency and CHP installations in the LA Basin local area (unknown at this time) may not be as effective in reducing LCR needs than other resources, such as gas-fired generation located at current OTC sites. For both of these reasons, TURN's suggestion of assuming 50% achievement is reasonable.

~~The Environmentally Constrained scenario (without the sensitivity analysis) has a LCR need of 1,870 MW for effective sites. This scenario does not include any uncommitted energy efficiency or uncommitted CHP. There is no ISO scenario with the exact analysis of achieving 50% of preferred resources. In order to determine a maximum LCR number using our criteria, we must interpolate between the Environmentally Constrained scenario need level and the need in the sensitivity analysis. A reasonable interpolation is to take the mid-point of the maximum LCR need figures in these scenarios. Halfway~~

¹⁶⁴¹⁷⁶ TURN Opening Brief at 8.

~~between 1,042 and 1,870 MW is 1,456 MW. Again, rounding to provide more flexibility, we find that the maximum procurement level for SCE should be 1,500 MW for the west LA sub-area of the LA basin local area.~~ As with our determination of a minimum procurement level, we will subtract amounts of uncommitted energy efficiency, uncommitted CHP and demand response resources from the Trajectory scenario forecast of 2400 MW. For the maximum procurement level, we will subtract 400 MW (derived from a calculation of 50% of the 800 MW of uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP described above), plus 200 MW of demand response resources. Therefore, we adopt a maximum LCR need of 1800 MW for the West LA sub-area of the LA basin local area.

The ISO forecasts provide a range of LCR needs depending upon location of new capacity. The low end of the ISO forecasts assume the new capacity is located at the most effective current OTC sites, and the high end assumes less effective OTC sites. Our determination today implicitly assumes that new capacity will be sited at the most effective sites. However, this may not be the case. SCE shall use the most up-to-date effectiveness ratings in its solicitation process.

As discussed further below, we will revisit LCR needs in the next long-term procurement proceeding, expected to commence in 2014. It is possible that in the next long-term procurement proceeding there will be shown to be a need for more LCR procurement than the maximum procurement levels we establish today. We consider today's decision a measured first step in a longer process. If as much or more of the preferred resources we expect do materialize, there may be no need for further LCR procurement in this time period. If circumstances change, there may be a need for further procurement. We are

confident that today's decision is the appropriate and considered step at this time.

6. Long-Term Local Capacity Requirements for Big Creek/Ventura Local Area

In the Big Creek/Ventura local area, the Ormond Beach and Mandalay power plants are OTC plants with ~~five~~^{four} units that are scheduled to shut down per ~~SWCRB~~^{SWRCB} regulations before 2021. In total, these units currently have approximately 2000 MW of capacity.

The ISO recommends LCR procurement of 430 MW in the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local area under all RPS scenarios, without a range for effectiveness of sites. This results from a need to mitigate reliability issues in the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local area, caused by a contingency of voltage collapse from a potential loss of area transmission lines.¹⁶⁵¹⁷⁷ The ISO analysis for the Big Creek/Ventura local area is consistent with the methodologies discussed above for studying long-term local capacity needs for the LA Basin local area.

SCE recommends deferring authorization for procuring additional local capacity in the Big Creek/Ventura local area until the next LTPP cycle (expected to commence in 2014). SCE contends that barriers to construction of new LCR generation is not as difficult in the Big Creek/Ventura local area as in the LA basin local area, because "this area does not have as many, or as stringent, siting restrictions as the LA basin."¹⁶⁶¹⁷⁸ SCE further argues that newer technology of various sizes is more likely to be the replacement generation in the Moorpark sub-area, which may be able to be built in 5-~~to~~⁷ years.¹⁶⁷¹⁷⁹

¹⁶⁵¹⁷⁷ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 13-14.

¹⁶⁶¹⁷⁸ Exhibit SCE-1 (Minick) at 10-11.

¹⁶⁷¹⁷⁹ Exhibit SCE-2 (Cabell) at 20.

DRA contends that there is no immediate need for LCR generation in the Big Creek/Ventura local area and that ongoing review of LCR needs is required. DRA acknowledges that there would be a loss of 1,946 MW in the area due to OTC retirements by 2020.¹⁶⁸¹⁸⁰ However, based on a load and resources table, DRA contends that there is a surplus of resources (up to 1,820 MW) in the Big Creek/Ventura local area when considering the effect of demand side resources.¹⁶⁹¹⁸¹ DRA believes that it would not take as long to go through the process to start running a new fossil-fueled power plant in the Big Creek/Ventura local area as in the LA basin local area, due to fewer concerns about siting.¹⁷⁰¹⁸² DRA maintains that this timeframe would allow the Commission to revisit whether alternative preferred resources materialize in the area. Therefore, DRA contends the risk of not procuring now is minimal if not zero. CEERT agrees with SCE and DRA that no LCR procurement is required to be considered until the expected 2014 long-term procurement proceeding.¹⁷¹¹⁸³

Calpine agrees with DRA that further analysis of the Moorpark sub-area is needed before LCR authorization in the Big Creek/Ventura local area is granted. Calpine sponsored an analysis that “suggests that there are potential transmission upgrades that may reduce or eliminate the need for OTC replacement generation in the Big Creek/Ventura local area.”¹⁷²¹⁸⁴ Specifically, Calpine argues that one of several transmission alternatives was identified by the ISO that can reduce the LCR need to 100 MW, while other transmission

¹⁶⁸¹⁸⁰ Exhibit DRA-1 (Fagan) at 19.

¹⁶⁹¹⁸¹ Exhibit DRA-1 (Fagan) at 17-22 and Table RF-3.

¹⁷⁰¹⁸² RT 920-922.

¹⁷¹¹⁸³ CEERT Opening Brief at 31.

¹⁷²¹⁸⁴ Exhibit Calpine-2 (Calvert) at 2, details in at 2-11.

alternatives suggested by Calpine can reduce the LCR need to from zero to 230 MW.¹⁷³¹⁸⁵

GenOn contends that Calpine's examples of transmission projects are not feasible or desirable solutions for addressing local reliability needs.¹⁷⁴¹⁸⁶ GenOn contends it is necessary to adopt an LCR need determination for the Big Creek/Ventura local area by the end of 2012 because of plant closures expected in 2020.¹⁷⁵¹⁸⁷ GenOn contends that it will take seven years or more until commercial operation of new gas-fired plants can commence. GenOn does not agree with SCE that it is not as challenging to develop new LCR generation in the Big Creek/Ventura local area.¹⁷⁶¹⁸⁸ GenOn also discusses implementation plans it submitted to the SWRCB for several OTC plants, including the Mandalay and Ormond Beach Generating Stations in the Big Creek/Ventura local area. While GenOn originally intended to keep the plants open via a compliance track acceptable to the SWRCB, it now intends to retire (and potentially replace) the plants by the SWRCB compliance deadline.¹⁷⁷¹⁸⁹

6.1. Discussion

As with the LA basin local area, there are questions about the ISO forecasts for the Big Creek/Ventura local area. Here, the ISO also did not include any values for uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP. As with the LA basin local area, it is likely that the ISO models overstate the LCR need for the Big Creek/Ventura local area for this reason. Similarly, it is more likely that at least some amount of demand response and/or energy storage will emerge in the

¹⁷³¹⁸⁵ Calpine Opening Brief at 7.

¹⁷⁴¹⁸⁶ GenOn Opening Brief at 8.

¹⁷⁵¹⁸⁷ Exhibit GenOn-2 (Beatty) at 2.

¹⁷⁶¹⁸⁸ Exhibit GenOn-2 (Beatty) at 7-9.

¹⁷⁷¹⁸⁹ Exhibit GenOn-1 (Beatty) at 3-5.

Big Creek/Ventura area which can be used to meet LCR needs in the next decade, then that there will be zero amount of these resources.

Calpine has shown that there are several transmission possibilities which might reduce LCR needs in the Big Creek/Ventura local area. It is not clear that all of Calpine's suggestions are feasible. However, the ISO did identify a non-generation (transmission) alternative similar as feasible to be completed.¹⁷⁸¹⁹⁰ This transmission option would result in a total OTC need of 100 MW, instead of 430 MW as proposed by the ISO.¹⁷⁹¹⁹¹ The ISO disagrees with Calpine about whether this option is a superior mitigation solution in the Moorpark area, contending that either way there would still be a need for replacement generation.

While it may be mathematically possible to show that some combination of preferred resources and transmission solutions could reduce the LCR need to zero (or near zero), there are technical issues and operational benefits from having specific types of in-area generation with the characteristics of the current OTC plants for the Moorpark area. We find that the ISO has shown that there is a need for this type of in-area generation in the Moorpark area, in order to avoid adverse impacts on transmission voltages and loadings under some operation conditions.

The ISO contends that there is a need for 430 MW of total in-area generation in the Moorpark area, even with a viable transmission alternative (or any preferred resources which do not have similar operating characteristics to OTC plants.) The ISO recommendation appears to be conservative on this point, as the ISO has not shown that 430 MW is the minimum amount of LCR need necessary to maintain vital operational characteristics. While some in-area

¹⁷⁸¹⁹⁰ Exhibit ISO-23 (Sparks) at 2.

¹⁷⁹¹⁹¹ Exhibit ISO-23 (Sparks) at 3.

generation similar to existing plants appears to be necessary, some combination of transmission alternatives and preferred resources will necessarily reduce the LCR need below the ISO's projections.

We cannot agree with DRA, SCE and others that it is reasonable to wait to authorize procurement in the Big Creek/Ventura local area. Depending on assumptions, the ISO forecasts a need for the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local area, at least some of which must be filled by generation with similar characteristics to the current OTC plants. The most likely locations for new OTC-like generation are the sites of the current OTC plants. The record shows that it may take seven years or more until operations commence in these locations.

The combination of likely preferred resource options and at least one viable transmission solution lead to the conclusion that less than 430 MW is needed for the Moorpark sub-area. It is reasonable to provide SCE with a range of procurement levels to allow SCE to take advantage of different technologies and combinations of potential solutions. TURN's recommendation to allow SCE to procure up to 2/3 of the ISO's recommendation leads to a total of approximately 290 MW. ~~Using the same ratio for the minimum and maximum authorized procurement in the LA basin leads to a minimum figure of 180 MW ($1,000/2,400 * 435$) and a maximum figure of 270 MW ($1,500/2,400 * 435$).~~ Two of the retiring Mandalay OTC plants have an NQC of 215 MW.¹⁸⁰¹⁹² It is reasonable to assume that there is a need for approximately the same size replacement generation. Therefore the minimum procurement level for the Moorpark sub-area will be 215 MW. [A reasonable maximum level is the 290 MW level per](#)

¹⁸⁰¹⁹² As shown in Table 1, the Ormond Beach plants have a much higher NQC than the 435 MW recommendation from the ISO. Therefore, it is not reasonable to expect plants of this larger size to be replaced.

the TURN recommendation. We will authorize SCE to start the process to procure between 215 and 290 MW in the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local area, consistent with the process described herein.

7. Procurement Process

7.1. Technical requirements for local capacity

In this decision, we have determined that SCE should be authorized to start a process in 2013 to enter into contracts for between ~~1,050~~1400 MW and ~~1,500~~1800 MW in the LA basin local area, and 215 to 290 MW in the Big Creek/Ventura local area. Our determination accounts for a reduced demand level due to more energy efficiency and demand response resources than assumed by the ISO, and additional CHP resources. Here we discuss the process for procurement of resources to meet these needs.

One significant issue is what technologies and resources SCE should be authorized to procure. The ISO does not assume any particular technology would be required to fill the local capacity needs, according to ISO witness Sparks: “As long as the resources are in the location where they are needed in these local areas, and they have characteristics of gas-fired generation, I don’t believe the ISO has a preference on exactly what type of resources.”¹⁸¹¹⁹³ Regarding distributed generation, the ISO studied a scenario with a high level of renewable distributed generation (the Environmentally Constrained scenario). Referring to distributed generation, Sparks suggested that further study would be needed “to the extent that some of these nonflexible resources are very large, and these large magnitudes are meeting local needs...we would probably need to study all seasons and all load levels to ensure the system can continue...to reliably operate.”¹⁸²¹⁹⁴

¹⁸¹¹⁹³ RT 201.

¹⁸²¹⁹⁴ RT 208–209.

SCE witness Cushnie testified that SCE is technology neutral in terms of the resources that it would acquire.¹⁸³¹⁹⁵ In general, SCE would procure resources that will meet ISO criteria for local reliability. However, as ISO witness Millar testified, there is no specific written protocol or tariff that can be referenced to determine the ISO's performance criteria for local reliability.¹⁸⁴¹⁹⁶ The ISO finds that gas-fired generation meets its criteria, as well as any other resources (or combination of resources) which have the same performance criteria as gas-fired generation. Demand [response](#) resources and CHP may meet the ISO's criteria, but not at this time. It is possible that other resources will pass the ISO test as well in the future. Of course, acquisition of more energy efficiency and demand side resources would reduce the LCR need.

Our concern is, without knowing upfront exactly what the ISO would find acceptable, that SCE could procure resources that would not pass ISO muster. In that case, the ISO -- consistent with its reliability mandate -- could seek Commission action authorizing ~~addition~~[additional](#) resources (thus lowering the value to ratepayers of already-procured resources) or could use its own authority (or seek new authority) to contract with resources to meet local needs (also increasing total costs). Either of these approaches is sub-optimal, both in cost terms and in environmental terms.

SCE proposes to use existing RA program rules to assess the effectiveness of proposed generation solutions for meeting LCR need. SCE proposes to identify its assumptions on the effectiveness of any resource for which the RA program does not provide clear guidance.¹⁸⁵¹⁹⁷ We will adopt SCE's proposal.

¹⁸³¹⁹⁵ RT 604.

¹⁸⁴¹⁹⁶ RT 355-356.

¹⁸⁵¹⁹⁷ Exhibit SCE-2 (Silsbee) at 5.

The ISO states that it will work with SCE and the Commission to develop the requirements needed for resources to compete in the procurement process.¹⁸⁶¹⁹⁸ We will require SCE to consult with the ISO regarding ISO performance characteristics (such as ramp-up time) for local reliability. In its application to procure specific resources to meet local reliability needs (discussed herein), SCE shall provide documentation of such efforts and how SCE meets ISO performance requirements.

7.2. Consistency with the Loading Order

SCE proposes to demonstrate that any proposed contract is consistent with the Loading Order by identifying each preferred resource and then assessing the availability, economics, viability and effectiveness of that supply in meeting the LCR need.¹⁸⁷¹⁹⁹ Per SCE witness Cushnie, SCE would also perform a cost/benefit analysis of the various procurement options.¹⁸⁸²⁰⁰ This study would be performed in parallel with any RFO and/or bilateral negotiations for supply.¹⁸⁹²⁰¹

Several parties have raised concerns that SCE's procurement process might not be consistent with the Loading Order in the Energy Action Plan. Vote Solar contends that preferred resources are endowed with advantages that are difficult to monetize or otherwise capture in an all-source RFO; for example, modularity (ability to be deployed in smaller MW), less environmental impact, smaller sites, and avoidance of outages and losses.¹⁹⁰²⁰² CEJA contends that implementation of the ISO recommendations for how to meet LCR needs will lead to excessive and unnecessary natural gas-fired capacity.¹⁹¹²⁰³ Similarly, Sierra Club contends that

¹⁸⁶¹⁹⁸ ISO Opening Brief at 3.

¹⁸⁷¹⁹⁹ Exhibit SCE-2 (Silsbee) at 4; RT 612-613; RT 627 (Cushnie).

¹⁸⁸²⁰⁰ RT 626-627.

¹⁸⁹²⁰¹ RT 650.

¹⁹⁰²⁰² Exhibit Vote Solar-2 (Gimon) at 2-3.

¹⁹¹²⁰³ Exhibit CEJA-1 (Powers) at 31-32.

the ISO's models "turn the Loading Order upside down by creating a framework that favors conventional generation over preferred resources."¹⁹²²⁰⁴

CAC claims there are about 60 MW of existing CHP capacity in the Western LA basin sub-area, and 70 MW of existing CHP in the Big Creek/Ventura local area, which were not included in ISO studies. In order to be consistent with the Loading Order and obtain this capacity to meet LCR needs, CAC recommends that the Commission establish a rebuttable presumption that existing resource offers (presumably CHP) priced no greater than the cost of new conventional fossil generation be deemed reasonable in the IOU procurement process.¹⁹³²⁰⁵

CEERT recommends a process for SCE to procure preferred resources as part of its solicitation. This process includes consultation with the ISO and prospective bidders to establish metrics and protocols for dispatchability and performance of preferred resources. Next, SCE would issue a Request for Qualification to establish the likely quantity and price range of available qualified preferred resources. Then, a cost-effective level of transmission and load-shedding which could meet LCR need would be established by the Commission based on existing and new studies. Through this process, CEERT contends there will be sufficient data available to conduct a "directed procurement" of LCR need.¹⁹⁴²⁰⁶

IEP recommends an all-source RFO in which all resources can compete on an equal basis.¹⁹⁵²⁰⁷ IEP proposes that any uncommitted energy efficiency and similar resources which are unable to qualify to compete in an all-source RFO would remain outside of the procurement mechanism until they materialize. At

¹⁹²²⁰⁴ Sierra Club Opening Brief at 13.

¹⁹³²⁰⁵ Exhibit CAC-1 (Ross) at 3, 8-9.

¹⁹⁴²⁰⁶ Exhibit CEERT-2 (Caldwell) at 3-4.

¹⁹⁵²⁰⁷ Exhibit IEP-1 (Monsen) at 15.

that point, these resources would be considered as committed, and reduce the amount of demand and amount of procurement needed in future procurement proceedings.¹⁹⁶²⁰⁸

7.3. Discussion

We have already determined herein the need to modify the ISO's recommendations for LCR needs in the LA basin local area to take into account reasonably-expected levels of energy efficiency ~~and distributed generation,~~ [demand response resources and CHP](#) (and the potential for [more demand response](#) resources ~~and~~ [as well as](#) energy storage resources to become available which can meet LCR requirements). By assuming higher levels for these resources than the ISO, we are promoting the policies of the Loading Order, and reducing the anticipated LCR need.

Because the range of LCR need we establish herein includes between 50% and 100% of uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP resources (~~as well as a [higher conservative](#) forecast of ~~distributed generation~~~~) [demand response resources](#), SCE will need to ensure that these resources do exist in the future in order to ensure local reliability. As part of our review of SCE's procurement plan, and when considering SCE's procurement application, we will require SCE to show that it has done everything it could to obtain cost-effective demand-side resources which can reduce the LCR need, and cost-effective preferred resources and energy storage resources to meet LCR needs. This task includes efforts already underway and approved in other Commission proceedings, with an eye to focusing such efforts in the specific local geographic areas where LCR needs exist. In other words, for the purposes of meeting LCR needs, it will do no good to procure preferred resources such as

¹⁹⁶²⁰⁸ IEP Opening Brief at 5-6.

energy efficiency outside of specific portions of the LA basin or Big Creek/Ventura local areas.

~~We have identified the potential for a gap between our assumed 1,519 MW of distributed generation in the LA Basin local area and SCE's current distributed generation procurement authority. We direct SCE to analyze this potential gap in preparing their procurement plan for additional preferred resources and take all necessary steps to close any gap that may be discovered with new distributed generation. We leave it to SCE to propose whether it may deploy an existing procurement mechanism (e.g., RAM or Re-MAT) or use another procurement method. If a gap between our assumed 1,519 MW of new distributed generation and SCE's existing procurement authority does exist, and filling that gap requires SCE to exceed the 1,500 MW limit established herein, SCE is authorized to exceed that limit. We will review the costs of what is procured to fill the gap to ensure reasonableness, but we will not relitigate the need determination.~~

~~SCE has stated that it will need to undertake technical studies to integrate certain preferred resources so that they meet local reliability needs. In its proposed solicitation plan to be reviewed by Energy Division, SCE shall show that it has a specific plan to undertake such integration in order to reduce LCR needs. We will also require SCE, in its application to approve PPAs arising out of this order, to make the demonstration it proposes to show consistency with the Loading Order; that is, to identify each preferred resource and then assess the availability, economics, viability and effectiveness of that supply in meeting the LCR need.~~

~~We will also evaluate SCE's application to ensure technological neutrality, so that no resource was arbitrarily or unfairly prevented from bidding in SCE's solicitation process. To the extent that the availability, viability and effectiveness~~

~~of resources higher in the Loading Order are comparable to fossil-fueled resources, we intend to ensure that SCE contracts with these preferred resources first.~~

With respect specifically to SCE's procurement of RPS-eligible resources to meet some or all of the LCR needs identified in this decision, this decision does not set up any new RPS procurement processes. SCE should follow existing RPS program procurement authorizations, rules, and processes in its procurement of resources to meet these LCR needs. In SCE's procurement implementation plan discussed below, we require SCE to detail the RPS procurement authorizations and processes that support its plans to acquire RPS-eligible resources to meet these LCR needs.²⁰⁹

We recognize that requirements regarding preferred resources must be reconciled with the additional requirement to consult with the ISO on performance criteria. We are confident that the dual objectives of reliability and adherence to the policy objectives of the Energy Action Plan can both be met.

In addition to meeting reliability criteria and consistency with the Loading Order, LCR procurement by SCE must be at least cost to ratepayers. SCE witness Cushnie testified that SCE "has every interest to do this in the least possible cost to the customers (because) there's no upside to the utility in doing this

²⁰⁹ In its 2012 RPS procurement plan, SCE proposed that it would not hold a solicitation for RPS-eligible resources in the period covered by the 2012 RPS procurement plan. In D.12-11-016, the Commission allowed SCE not to hold a solicitation for RPS-eligible resources and put in place a parallel restriction on SCE's ability to enter into bilateral contracts for RPS-eligible resources during the same period. In D.12-11-016 at 57, the Commission stated that "should SCE determine it has an unmet RPS need during the 2012 solicitation cycle, we will revisit SCE's request to not hold a solicitation and the corresponding restriction adopted today on bilateral contracts." SCE should indicate in its implementation plan whether it intends to seek Commission reconsideration of the solicitation and bilateral contracting determinations in its 2012 RPS procurement plan.

procurement.”¹⁹⁷²¹⁰ We will review SCE’s efforts at cost minimization in SCE’s forthcoming Application. However, balancing the three criteria of ensuring reliability, consistency with the Loading Order and cost-minimization is a challenge.

SCE explains that it intends to capture all cost-effective energy efficiency that can meet LCR needs.¹⁹⁸²¹¹ Overall, SCE further explains its intention for load reduction resources:

For preferred resources, SCE will assess the cost-effectiveness of such resources relative to supply-side options. If load reduction in the local area appears to be cost-effective, SCE will engage the CAISO to conduct transmission modeling load flow analysis to determine the operational effectiveness of load reduction programs and technology. SCE will reduce its procurement of supply-side resources to accommodate the future procurement and/or development of load reduction programs and technologies to the extent that they are determined to be cost-effective and operationally effective in reducing the identified LCR need.¹⁹⁹²¹²

SCE’s process for balancing objectives with regard to demand reduction resources is reasonable. We will also require SCE to apply a similar balancing to all preferred resources; we agree with SCE’s recommended approach to pursue the most competitively-priced CHP and renewable resources, consistent with meeting LCR locational needs and technical characteristics. The remainder of SCE’s LCR need will need to be met by supply-side resources and cost-effective transmission upgrades.

The record shows that there may be a significant amount of energy storage capacity and/or demand reduction from demand response resources in the next several years which are not included in any ISO model. We have determined

¹⁹⁷²¹⁰ RT 760-761.

¹⁹⁸²¹¹ RT 609-610.

¹⁹⁹²¹² SCE Opening Brief at 5-6.

that a significant amount of these resources may be available to meet or reduce LCR needs by 2021, even beyond the projections in the ISO models. We recognize there may be barriers to integration of these resources, including technical issues regarding whether such resources can meet ISO LCR criteria. At the same time, the prospect of additional resources to meet or reduce LCR needs provides an opportunity to further our Energy Action Plan through additional procurement of resources other than conventional gas-fired generation.

Because there is a strong likelihood that additional preferred and energy storage resources not included in our maximum procurement authorization (and potential changes to the transmission system) will be available to effectively meet or reduce LCR needs by 2021, we will require that SCE procure no more than ~~1,200~~1200 MW from conventional gas-fired resources in the LA basin local area. The record shows that the most certain technology which can meet LCR needs (from the ISO's perspective) is gas-fired generation. In order to ensure a base level of procurement certain to ensure reliability under the most stringent criteria, we will require that at least ~~1,000~~1000 MW in the LA basin local area be from gas-fired generation. In addition, because we intend to promote promising technologies with a strong potential to effectively meet LCR needs, we will require that SCE procure at least 50 MW of energy storage resources as part of its procurement plan for the LA basin local area.

Several parties, in their comments on the Proposed Decision, recommend that we include a requirement that some specified amount of preferred resources be required to be procured. One rationale is that if we have a minimum procurement level for gas-fired and energy storage resources, we should also do so for preferred resources consistent with the Loading Order. Because the Proposed Decision has been modified to increase the minimum procurement

level, there is an opportunity to specify further how the minimum procurement level will be achieved. We will require that at least 150 MW of the minimum procurement level be procured through preferred resources.

To summarize: SCE shall procure at least ~~1,050~~1400 MW to meet 2021 LCR needs in the west LA sub-area of the LA basin, using the process delineated herein. Included in that ~~1,050~~1400 MW shall be ~~1,000~~1000 - 1200 MW of conventional gas-fired generation²⁰⁰ ~~and,~~²¹³ at least 50 MW of energy storage capacity. ~~If SCE procures more than 1,050 MW, no more than 1,200 MW shall be from conventional gas-fired generation, and at least 150 MW of capacity from preferred resources. All additional resources beyond the minimum requirement must also be from preferred resources, or from energy storage resources.~~ SCE is not authorized to procure more than ~~1,500~~1800 MW of capacity to meet 2021 LCR needs in this part of the LA basin, ~~except as specified herein with regard to distributed generation.~~ All resource procurement is expected to follow the principles of least cost/best fit within these constraints. For example, if more than 50 MW of energy storage resources ~~bid~~ bids into the solicitation process, the most cost-effective and best-located projects should be used to fill the 50 MW requirement.

In addition to authorizing SCE to procure new generation resources, SCE continues to be authorized or required to obtain other resources, as detailed in decisions in the Commission's energy efficiency demand response, RPS and other proceedings. Nothing in this decision is intended to supersede or limit any

²⁰⁰ ~~Conventional gas-fired generation does not include CHP.~~

²¹³ Conventional gas-fired generation includes CHP resources that are electrically equivalent to conventional generation.

authority or requirement stemming from any other commission proceeding. SCE's efforts to obtain these resources are critical to ensuring that the assumptions embedded in this decision will become reality and the reliability needs in SCE's territory will be met.

7.3.1. RFOs and Bilateral Negotiations

One way for SCE to procure the LCR resources we authorize in this order will be to issue one or more RFOs.²⁰¹²¹⁴ For example, an RFO to fill LCR needs could specify the amounts needed, the location needed, and technical requirements.

SCE agrees with TURN that an RFO can be very effective in determining the most competitive options for meeting LCR needs. However, SCE requests the flexibility to determine whether it should hold an RFO or not in local capacity areas with limited or no alternatives, because in such a case an RFO may not yield competitive or cost-effective results. SCE contends that such problematic results could occur because the existing generation location has numerous inherent advantages that it can seek to increase costs in a solicitation process.²⁰²²¹⁵

TURN agrees that some cost-of-service contracts may be needed for OTC unit owners in certain sub-areas where market power exists, in order to ensure reasonable costs to ratepayers.²⁰³²¹⁶ Vote Solar contends that an all-source RFO could give rise to market power mitigation issues to address potentially unreasonable costs, irreversible outcomes, and a cumbersome process to take into account unique characteristics of preferred resources. CEJA proposes a phased

²⁰¹²¹⁴ SCE witness Cushnie testified that SCE conducts numerous RFO solicitations for procurement, including all-source solicitations, RPS solicitations and CHP solicitations. RT 686.

²⁰²²¹⁵ Exhibit SCE-3 (Cushnie) at 8.

²⁰³²¹⁶ Exhibit TURN-2 (Woodruff) at 3.

RFO process, starting with a solicitation aimed at energy efficiency, then one for demand response, and on through the Loading Order.²⁰⁴²¹⁷

IEP recommends annual all-source solicitations after setting clearly defined performance requirements and obligations for various resource types, but cautions that there might be concerns about whether energy efficiency and demand response resources can be relied upon for firm capacity and deliverability.²⁰⁵²¹⁸ IEP supports cost-of-service contracts if there is an IOU showing and a Commission finding of local market power.²⁰⁶²¹⁹ GenOn also supports use of cost-of-service contracts in the situation where a solicitation does not yield robust results.²⁰⁷²²⁰

AB 1576²⁰⁸²²¹ (codified as § 454.6) authorizes the use of cost-of-service contracts to facilitate investment in the replacement or repowering of older, less-efficient thermal generation facilities when the ISO certified that the project is needed for local reliability. Section 454.6 states:

- (a) A contract entered into pursuant to Section 454.5 by an electrical corporation for the electricity generated by a replacement or repowering project that meets the criteria specified in subdivision (b) shall be recoverable in rates, taking into account any collateral requirements and debt equivalence associated with the contract, in a manner determined by the commission to provide the best value to ratepayers.
- (b) To be eligible for rate treatment in accordance with subdivision (a), a contract shall be for a project which meets all of the following criteria:
 1. The project is a replacement or repowering of an existing generation unit of a thermal powerplant.

²⁰⁴²¹⁷ CEJA Opening Brief at 43.

²⁰⁵²¹⁸ Exhibit IEP-1 (Monsen) at 12-17, 21.

²⁰⁶²¹⁹ Exhibit IEP-1 (Monsen) at 8-11.

²⁰⁷²²⁰ Exhibit GenOn-2 (Beatty) at 12.

²⁰⁸²²¹ Stats. 2005, ch. 374.

2. The project complies with all applicable requirements of federal, state, and local laws.
3. The project will not require significant additional rights-of-way for electrical or fuel-related transmission facilities.
4. The project will result in significant and substantial increases in the efficiency of the production of electricity.
5. The Independent System Operator or local system operator certifies that the project is needed for local area reliability.
6. The project provides electricity to consumers of this state at the cost of generating that electricity, including a reasonable return on the investment and the costs of financing the project.

In situations where an RFO may not result in a reasonably priced contract, SCE proposes a targeted bilateral negotiation that may result in a cost-effective cost-of-service PPA option.²⁰⁹²²² SCE contends that § 454.6 provides the option of using cost-of-service contracts to replace or repower existing generation. SCE witness Cushnie describes the relationship between an RFO solicitation and bilateral negotiations:

If Edison was to negotiate separately through bilateral negotiations, the potential for a cost of service contract consistent with the legislation... the counterparty will not necessarily know what Edison's options are with respect to pursuing preferred resources with respect to transmission solutions. So it gives Edison more leverage in those negotiations that if we can't negotiate a contract that is reasonable, that we can then move to these other forms of procurement. But if we conduct the solicitation first and conclude that the solicitation was not competitive, we now have reduced any sort of leverage we might have in a subsequent bilateral negotiation because that will have informed the counterparty that there were no competitive options and now Edison just wants to negotiate on price. So

²⁰⁹²²² Exhibit SCE-3 (Cushnie) at 8.

it's a judgment call at the end of the day as to what makes the most sense.²¹⁰²²³

It is reasonable to authorize SCE to use either or both RFOs and cost-of-service contracts in its LCR procurement process. Both methods are intended to fill the LCR needs identified in this order, and to do so consistent with the Loading Order and cost minimization. We agree with SCE and other parties that cost-of-service contracts (also called bilateral contracts) are allowed under § 454.6 under specified circumstances which are likely to result in a procurement process as a result of this decision. Therefore, § 454.6 cost-of-service contracts are an option that SCE will be able to use in situations where there is significant market power that would be detrimental to ratepayers.

SCE opposes requiring all resources to bid into ~~to~~ a single all-source RFO. SCE witness Cushnie contends: "Certain preferred resources just aren't going to be viable in (an all-source) solicitation," and that he is not aware of a preferred resource ever prevailing against a conventional resource in an all-source RFO.²¹¹²²⁴ Instead, SCE recommends studying ways to assess the effectiveness and potential use of preferred resources separate from an RFO.²¹²²²⁵ SCE maintains that these studies are necessary because such programs cannot be reasonably ~~be~~ expected to be developed and bid into a utility solicitation to meet a need that begins in 2020 and extends for ten years or more.

We agree that load reduction programs may not fit well into a typical RFO. SCE witness Cushnie testified that "to the extent we can get comfort that the economics and the viability are there, we can do studies to see if that can reduce the LCR need to meet with supply side resources."²¹³²²⁶ It is not clear exactly

²¹⁰²²³ RT 641.

²¹¹²²⁴ RT 628-629.

²¹²²²⁵ RT 628.

²¹³²²⁶ RT 612.

what SCE intends through this study process. However, we have already assumed a significant amount of preferred resources in determining the minimum and maximum LCR levels for the LA basin local area. SCE should continue to assess and implement all ways to include cost-effective and viable preferred resources to reduce LCR needs. As more preferred demand side resources are available to meet these needs, SCE's LCR needs will be reduced toward the minimum authorized procurement level.

In various other dockets, we have established programs to promote the development of cost-effective energy efficiency and demand response resources. In order to ensure these resources will best be available to meet LCR needs, DRA recommends that SCE should be directed to work with the ISO to determine a priority-ordered listing of the most electrically beneficial locations for preferred resources deployment.²¹⁴²²⁷ We agree and will require SCE to do so.

Cushnie testified that before SCE undertakes any procurement method, it would take into account updated load forecasts and all available current information.²¹⁵²²⁸ Thus, he recommends not locking down all the assumptions to use for LCR procurement at this time.²¹⁶²²⁹ We agree with this approach. We have set minimum and maximum LCR procurement levels herein. Within this range, SCE will need to consider a variety of issues. These issues include (but are not necessarily limited to) effectiveness of siting, changes in load forecasts, potential cost-effective transmission upgrades, availability of SONGS and other existing resources, and potential market power of bidders. Within the parameters we set today, we will allow SCE managerial discretion to seek the best mix of resources. However, as set forth below, Energy Division will review

²¹⁴²²⁷ DRA Opening Brief at 30.

²¹⁵²²⁸ RT 757-758.

²¹⁶²²⁹ RT 760.

SCE's procurement process in advance, and SCE will need to file an application for approval of its procurement contracts.

One specific consideration is that the requirement to procure at least 50 MW of energy storage resources may provide energy storage providers with market power, to the detriment of ratepayers. TURN recommends allowing SCE to "invoke a price circuit-breaker for storage procurement if storage providers cannot provide resources that help meet local reliability at a reasonable price."²³⁰ We agree. While we see considerable value in pursuing the experiment to procure energy storage resources, we do not intend that SCE be required to sign contracts from energy storage suppliers at all costs. In its application to implement this decision, SCE shall present the required contracts for energy storage resources to the Commission for approval, or have the burden to show that it should procure less than 50 MW because the bids it received were unreasonable.

CEJA and DRA urge the Commission to consider OTC plants that comply with SWRCB Track 2 policy (90+% reduction in water usage) without retiring as potential resources to meet SCE's local procurement needs.²³¹ Such plants may provide SCE with additional capacity options and potentially lower costs to ratepayers. We find that it is reasonable for SCE to consider retrofits to existing OTC plants, assumed retired in the ISO studies, in its procurement process. SCE may negotiate with existing OTC plant owners, either through an RFO or consistent with § 454.6, to finance retrofits that will reduce these plants' environmental harm sufficiently to be in compliance with SWRCB policy. Any

²³⁰ TURN Opening Comments on Proposed Decision, p. 4.

²³¹ CEJA Opening Comments on Proposed Decision, p. 7. DRA Reply Comments on Proposed Decision, p. 2.

proposed retrofit of an OTC facility shall compete with other least cost/best fit options.

7.3.2. Energy Division Review of ~~Solicitation Process~~SCE Procurement Plan

SCE seeks flexibility to choose the exact circumstances and timing under which it would utilize an RFO process or a bilateral contract negotiation in its LCR solicitation process, including parallel use of both methods. We agree with SCE that it is difficult in advance to know which method would be most advantageous to ratepayers, and that SCE is in the best position to administer this process. We will allow SCE the flexibility it seeks, subject to review of its ~~process~~procurement plan by Energy Division and a subsequent Commission application.²¹⁷232

SCE shall provide its procurement plan for all required and authorized resources in the LA Basin and Big Creek/Ventura local areas to Energy Division no later than 120 days after the effective date of this decision. SCE may provide parts of its procurement plan to Energy Division earlier than 120 days. Specifically, we encourage SCE to present its plan for procurement of up to 1200 MW of gas-fired generation in the LA Basin and up to 290 MW of gas-fired generation in the Big Creek/Ventura local area earlier than 120 days. Due to the long lead time for these particular resources, it is imperative that SCE begin the procurement process (including Energy Division review) as soon as possible.

The procurement plan(s) shall include all of the following:

- A list of all applicable rules and statutes impacting the plan;

²¹⁷232 Nothing in this decision exempts SCE from previously adopted Commission rules on RFOs in D.07-12-052 and elsewhere.

- A detailed description of how it intends to procure resources, specifying the structure of any RFO or alternative procurement process and related timelines;
- A methodology for determining least cost/ best fit that includes evaluating and quantifying performance characteristics that vary among resource type (e.g. time to start, output at various times, variable cost, effectiveness in meeting contingencies, etc.);
- What type of price benchmark will be used in determining cost-effectiveness for resources;
- An explanation for each resource type indicating whether modifications will be made to existing programs or if a new approach will be utilized;
- A methodology for determining peak capacity for resources for which there is not a currently approved methodology for determining Net Qualifying Capacity; and
- A methodology for determining other reliability capabilities (e.g. voltage support) for resources for which there is not a currently approved methodology for determining these capabilities

We have reviewed the comments of parties filed in response to the September 7, 2012 energy storage/long-term procurement workshop. Based on those comments and the overall record in this proceeding, any ~~such~~ RFO should include the following elements:

- a) The resource must meet the identified reliability constraint identified by the California ISO;
- b) The resource must be demonstrably incremental to the assumptions used in the California ISO studies, to ensure that a given resource is not double counted;
- c) The consideration of costs and benefits must be adjusted by their relative effectiveness factor at meeting the California ISO identified constraint;

- d) A requirement that resources offer the performance characteristics needed to be eligible to count as local RA capacity;
- e) No provisions specifically or implicitly excluding any resource from the bidding process due to resource type;
- f) No provision limiting bids to any specific contract length;
- g) Provisions designed to be consistent with the Loading Order approved by the Commission in the Energy Action Plan and to pursue all cost-effective preferred resources in meeting local capacity needs;
- h) Provisions designed to minimize costs to ratepayers by procuring the most cost-effective resources;
- i) A reasonable method designed to procure local capacity requirement amounts at or within the levels authorized or required in this decision, not counting amounts procured through cost-of-service contracts;
- j) An assessment of projected greenhouse gas emissions as part of the cost/benefit analysis;
- k) A method to consider flexibility of resources without a requirement that only flexible resources be considered; and
- l) Use of the most up-to-date effectiveness ratings.

SCE shall not begin its public solicitation process until ~~the~~ Energy Division determines in writing that SCE has complied with the provisions of this Decision. Because the process for soliciting gas-fired capacity may be simpler than for other capacity, Energy Division may provide that the gas-fired capacity portion of SCE's procurement plan can go forward first. The determination of the Energy Division shall be final.

7.3.3. SCE Application

SCE estimates that it would take anywhere from one to two years after today's decision before SCE can submit an application to the Commission with final LCR procurement contracts for Commission approval, after procurement

solicitations, bilateral negotiations and studies for preferred resources.²¹⁸²³³ At that time, SCE witness Cushnie foresees that “parties may choose to challenge the resources we’re proposing to utilize to meet the LCR need.”²¹⁹²³⁴ In addition, he agrees that SCE would not object if a party wanted to assert that there were other preferred Loading Order resources that were available to SCE on a cost-effective basis that SCE failed to incorporate.

All contracts stemming from the LCR procurement authorization we establish today shall be brought to the Commission for approval in a single application for the LA basin local area and a single application for the Big Creek/Ventura local area (these applications may be combined if SCE chooses). Under SCE’s schedule, the applications will be forthcoming sometime in late 2014. However, it is not self-evident why this process should take this amount of time. ~~To the extent that the Energy Division solicitation review process goes smoothly, we~~We expect that SCE’s applications could be filed ~~in earlier than~~ late ~~2013 or early~~ 2014. Given the likely 7-~~to~~9 year procurement process for ~~certain~~gas-fired resources, we implore SCE to file its applications as soon as practical.

In its applications, SCE shall show:

- Cost-effectiveness;
- Consistency with the Loading Order; including a demonstration that it has identified each preferred resource and assessed the availability, economics, viability and effectiveness of that supply in meeting the LCR need;
- Procurement of between 215 and 290 MW to meet local capacity requirements in the Big Creek/Ventura local reliability area;

²¹⁸²³³ RT 719-720; 733-735.

²¹⁹²³⁴ RT 758.

- Procurement of between ~~1,050~~1400 and ~~1,500~~1800 MW to meet local capacity requirements in the Los Angeles local reliability area (including specific provisions for conventional gas-fired and energy storage resources); ~~and~~
- For bilateral contracts negotiated under § 454.6, that the project will provide electricity at the cost of ~~generating~~generation, including a reasonable return on the investment and the costs of financing the project; ~~and~~
- A demonstration of technological neutrality, so that no resource was arbitrarily or unfairly prevented from bidding in SCE's solicitation process. To the extent that the availability, viability and effectiveness of resources higher in the Loading Order are comparable to fossil-fueled resources, SCE shall show that it has contracted with these preferred resources first.

8. Flexible Capacity

The ISO recommends that any capacity to fill LCR needs "should have flexibility characteristics similar to the OTC generation" that needs to be replaced.²²⁰²³⁵ ISO witness Rothleder testified that flexible resources should:

[p]rovide dispatch flexibility between minimum and maximum operating level[s]...can be used to respond to quick changes in load and variations of generation from renewable resources...can provide ancillary services...have inertia or governor control to respond to changes in frequency and a faster start, to respond more quickly when needed.²²¹²³⁶

Rothleder further testified that LCR resources would also need to meet other attributes of flexible conventional generation including "voltage support, flexibility, frequency response, sustained energy supply, reliable responsiveness,

²²⁰²³⁵ Exhibit ISO-1 (Sparks) at 17.

²²¹²³⁶ Exhibit ISO-4 (Rothleder) at 8-9.

no significant use limitations and the ability to provide energy regulation, operating reserves and load following.”²²²²³⁷

SCE believes that all resources that have high NQC ratings -- as determined through the Commission’s RA proceedings -- have the potential to meet local area needs (although some are more effective than others). SCE witness Minick testified: “In reality, an LCR resource doesn’t need to have flexibility. They could be a baseload resource at a certain location and meet LCR requirements. But, it would be very nice from an operational perspective to have flexibility.”²²³²³⁸ SCE witness Cushnie testified that “you might not want to have very stringent standards [for flexibility] in your solicitations” and SCE “can then look at various permutations of resource mixes including preferred resources.”²²⁴²³⁹

IEP recommends that the Commission wait for the completion of studies by the ISO necessary to determine the need for, and the preferred characteristics of, flexible resources before authorizing specific procurement of flexible resources.²²⁵²⁴⁰ EnerNOC believes that the Commission must define flexible attributes before requiring such attributes to be procured for LCR purposes.²²⁶²⁴¹ EnerNOC contends that there are demand resources that provide several operational characteristics that the ISO considers in its description of flexibility.²²⁷²⁴²

TURN does not believe that it is important to explicitly incorporate flexible capacity attributes into the LCR procurement process, because it is a serious

²²²²³⁷ Exhibit ISO-4 (Rothleder) at 8-9.

²²³²³⁸ RT 972-973.

²²⁴²³⁹ RT 696-697.

²²⁵²⁴⁰ IEP Opening Brief at 10-11.

²²⁶²⁴¹ EnerNOC Opening Brief at 22.

²²⁷²⁴² Exhibit EnerNOC-2 (Huffman) at II-1 - II-6.

challenge to establish specific values for different dimensions of flexibility. Further, TURN contends that new combined cycle plants and combustion turbines likely to bid into RFOs will possess tremendous flexibility, thus likely leading to procurement of flexible resources even without any explicit requirement.²²⁸²⁴³

CEJA recommends that the Commission not limit potential procurement to resources that meet the ISO's flexibility definition, as LCR procurement in RA proceedings has never been equated with flexible capacity. CEJA points out that the ISO's modeling in R.10-05-006 (which is in the record of this proceeding) showed no flexibility need for 2020.²²⁹²⁴⁴

WEM recommends that the Commission consider that various preferred resources (including demand side resources) should be able to provide certain flexibility characteristics. WEM recommends that the Commission establish final flexibility needs after completion of the ISO's flexibility analysis in Track 2.²³⁰²⁴⁵

8.1. Discussion

SCE will be starting a procurement process as a result of this decision. In procuring resources, SCE will be able to determine what flexibility components various resources contain. At this time there is considerable uncertainty in both the types and quantities of flexible resources that may be needed to balance future resource needs. Preliminary ISO studies indicated a need with all OTC resources compliant of 0 MW in the mid load scenarios, but a need of ~~4,600~~4600 MW in the high load trajectory scenario.²³¹²⁴⁶ The combined cycle gas turbine resources added from the local areas to a subsequent run of the renewable integration modeling had high capacity factors, over 75%, while combustion

²²⁸²⁴³ TURN Opening Brief at 19-20.

²²⁹²⁴⁴ CEJA Opening Brief at 51.

²³⁰²⁴⁵ WEM Opening Brief at 6.

²³¹²⁴⁶ Exhibit ISO-4 (Rothleder) at 2, 11-19.

turbines had capacity factors close to 13%.²³²²⁴⁷ These results indicate that while flexibility is an important consideration, it is unclear what exact attributes and blend of flexible versus baseload resources are needed.

The issue of flexibility and determination of flexible attributes for LCR needs is also currently being considered in the RA proceeding, R.11-10-023. A decision in the RA proceeding is expected in the first half of 2013. There is no need to make a determination on flexibility issues in this track of this proceeding. There is also an insufficient record at this time. We cannot currently define flexibility for LCR procurement purposes with any specificity or determine what flexible attributes should or should not be procured by SCE.

Therefore, we will not require SCE to take into account any particular flexible attributes in its procurement process, and will not make acquisition of any flexible attributes a condition of approval of SCE's forthcoming LCR procurement application. However, SCE should identify any known flexible attributes or characteristics of resources bid into its RFO or considered in bilateral negotiations. To the extent that SCE can obtain flexibility in LCR contracts consistent with other requirements, it should do so.

9. Cost Allocation Methodology (CAM)

9.1. CAM Overview

In D.04-12-048, the Commission adopted the IOUs' 2004 long-term procurement plans. As part of its efforts to ensure a long-term, reliable energy supply for California customers, the Commission authorized the IOUs to recover stranded costs associated with new PPAs and utility-owned generation (UOG) from all customers, with the goal of providing "the need for reasonable certainty of rate recovery."²³³²⁴⁸ By doing so, the Commission sought to address utilities'

²³²²⁴⁷ Exhibit ISO-4 (Rothleder) at 5, 7-20.

²³³²⁴⁸ D.04-12-048, Conclusion of Law 14.

concern that they could end up over-procuring resources and incurring the associated stranded costs given the potential for a significant portion of their load to take service from a different electric service provider (ESP).

D.04-12-048 did not specify the actual implementation mechanism for recovering these costs. D.06-07-029 in the 2006 long-term procurement proceeding decision adopted the CAM, which allows the costs and benefits of new generation to be shared by all benefiting customers in an IOU's service territory. The Commission designated IOUs to procure the new generation through long-term PPAs, and the rights to the capacity were allocated among all LSEs in the IOU's service territory. The allocated capacity rights can be applied toward each LSE's RA requirements. In exchange for those benefits, the LSEs' customers – termed “benefitting customers” – pay for the net cost of the capacity.²³⁴²⁴⁹

The basic framework for the CAM was set forth in D.06-07-029 as follows: The IOU would contract with an Independent Evaluator to oversee an RFO for new resource contracts. At the conclusion of the RFO, the IOU would sign a long-term contract with the generator of a new resource. The IOU would seek contract approval from the Commission, and at that time, select whether or not it intends for the CAM to apply to the contract. The Commission's decision on the IOU's application determines the applicable CAM based on allocating the appropriate net capacity costs to all benefiting customers in the IOU service area.²³⁵²⁵⁰ The IOU would then request Commission approval to conduct

²³⁴²⁴⁹ The energy and capacity components of the newly acquired generation are disaggregated. The net capacity cost is calculated as the net of the total cost of the contract minus the energy revenues associated with the dispatch of the contract. The non-bypassable charge levied is for the net capacity cost only, and the non-IOU LSEs maintain the ability to manage their energy purchases.

²³⁵²⁵⁰ D.06-07-029 at 52-53.

periodic auctions with an Independent Evaluator for the energy rights of the resource, essentially selling the tolling right – the energy component – and retaining the RA benefit, which it then shares with all customers paying for the capacity.²³⁶²⁵¹ D.06-07-029 at 26 explained that “benefiting customers” referred to all bundled service, direct access (DA), Community Choice Aggregator (CCA) customers and “other customers who are located within a utility distribution service territory but take service from a local publicly-owned utility subsequent to the date the new generation goes into service.” D.06-07-029 at 26 (footnote 21) specified that current customers of publicly-owned utilities were exempt from the CAM.

Subsequent decisions clarified and amended the CAM. D.07-09-044 presented in greater depth the procedures for the energy auctions. The procedures established a backstop for the auctions. Should an auction fail to produce a successful bid for the energy products, the capacity costs would be calculated via a specified alternative mechanism.²³⁷²⁵² D.08-09-012 set forth that customer generation departing load was exempt from the CAM. That decision clarified that only large municipalizations were subject to the CAM, while exempting other classes of municipal departing load.

Senate Bill ~~(SB)~~ 695, signed into law in 2009, requires that the net capacity costs of new generation resources deemed “needed to meet system or local area reliability needs for the benefit of all customers in the electrical corporation’s distribution service territory” must be passed on to bundled service customers, DA and CCA customers.²³⁸²⁵³ In order to align the CAM with the requirements of SB 695, D.11-05-005 did the following:

²³⁶²⁵¹ D.06-07-029 at 31-32.

²³⁷²⁵² See D.07-09-044, Appendix A for specifics relating to the Joint Parties’ Proposal, the alternative to the auction mechanism.

²³⁸²⁵³ Stats. 2009, ch. 337.

- (1) Removed the right for the utility to elect or not elect CAM treatment for a resource that meets the conditions of the statues;
- (2) Widened the scope of the CAM to apply to utility-owned generation resources, and
- (3) Extended the duration of CAM treatment to match the duration of the underlying contract, eliminating the 10 -year cap.²³⁹²⁵⁴

SB 790 in 2011 codified the Commission requirement that the costs to ratepayers for CAM procurement are allocated to ratepayers in a “fair and equitable” manner.²⁴⁰²⁵⁵

The Scoping Memo posed three questions related to the CAM:

- (1) How should the costs of any additional local reliability needs be allocated among LSEs in light of the CAM?
- (2) Should the CAM be modified at this time? and
- (3) Should LSEs be able to opt-out of the CAM, and if so, what should the requirements be to permit such an opt-out?

In addition to the questions posed by the Commission, SSJID raised specific questions regarding its classification as a large municipalization and the CAM’s application in its particular case. SSJID also questioned whether the CAM applies to municipal departing load in general.

9.2. Allocating Costs of Local Reliability Needs Among LSEs in Light of the CAM

The three IOUs, TURN and DRA all assert that the CAM should apply to all generation authorized in Track 1,²⁵⁶ and net capacity costs should be allocated

²³⁹²⁵⁴ D.11-05-005 reaffirmed that SB 695 does not require any revisions to the determinations made in D.08-09-012 regarding non-bypassable charges and the CAM process.

²⁴⁰²⁵⁵ Stats. 2011, ch. 599.

²⁵⁶ [Nothing in this decision is intended to imply or state that the CAM applies to bundled procurement.](#)

to all benefitting customers, including bundled service, DA, and CCA customers.²⁴¹²⁵⁷

DRA explains that “since LCR resources would provide reliability benefits to all customers, the net capacity costs should similarly be allocated to all customers.”²⁴²²⁵⁸

AReM asserts that the Commission’s goal should be to minimize CAM procurement.²⁴³²⁵⁹ AReM testified that it is only fair to allocate CAM costs when the need creating the costs can be attributed to all customers, and not solely to IOU bundled load. To that end, AReM maintains that the Commission must evaluate the characteristics of the load served by the IOUs versus the characteristics of the load served by the other LSEs in the IOU service area to determine the different rates at which they grow. If this analysis finds that bundled customer load is driving the peak or decreasing the system load factor, then AReM contends bundled customers should pay for the resources necessary to meet that need.

Further, AReM states that per its obligation under § 454.5, the Commission should ensure that CAM procurement is needed to meet a specified reliability need as defined by § 365.1(c)(2)(B). AReM contends that this means that the reliability need must be incremental to the needs associated with LSEs. For example, AReM argues that if a generation plant that “primarily” served bundled load retired or shut down and the IOU filed for approval for CAM procurement to replace the unit, the Commission should reject this application. According to AReM, while “incidental reliability benefits [from the replacement unit] would

²⁴¹²⁵⁷ See Exhibit SDG&E-2 (Anderson) at 9; Exhibit SCE -2 (Cabbell/Cushnie/Minick/Silsbee) at 20-23; Exhibit TURN-2 (Woodruff) at 16; ¶ Exhibit DRA-5 (Ciupagea) at 1.

²⁴²²⁵⁸ Exhibit DRA-5 (Ciupagea) at 1.

²⁴³²⁵⁹ Exhibit AReM-1 (Mara) at 5, 20.

likely accrue to 'all' customers, bundled customers would benefit disproportionately more, because the customers of other LSEs would subsidize their 'unmet needs.'²⁴⁴²⁶⁰ Therefore, AReM reasons, CAM procurement should not be authorized.

AReM sets forth a two-step proposal for the Commission to determine whether a particular CAM project should be approved: (1) calculate the MWs of unmet need, and identify what portion of the unmet need is driven by the bundled load, and (2) if MWs of unmet need exist and are attributable to all benefiting customers in the service area, then AReM propose six criteria to ascertain whether the CAM should be applied in the particular case.²⁴⁵²⁶¹

The proposed criteria are:

1. The IOU's Application requests, as required by § 365.1(c)(2)(A), the following: (i) approval for a specific contract with a third party to procure generation resources; or (ii) an order to procure a specific UOG resource.
2. The Commission has previously determined that the MWs in the Application may be subject to CAM procurement.
3. The Commission determines that the project identified in the Application fulfill an unmet need that is not attributable to any individual LSE.
4. The Commission determines that the project identified in the Application is required by the ISO to meet a specific System or Local RA need that cannot be reasonably met by other existing resources, demand response, energy

²⁴⁴²⁶⁰ Exhibit AReM-1 (Mara) at 28.

²⁴⁵²⁶¹ AReM proposes this criteria as a less restrictive alternative to a "benefits test" as a means of determining when to authorize CAM procurement per § 365.1(c)(2)(A). SDG&E and DRA both recommend that the Commission explore creating a defined "benefits test" for CAM procurement. See Exhibit SDG&E-1 (Anderson) at 10-11 and Exhibit DRA-5 (Ciupagea) at 4. SDG&E suggests that "the Commission should find that benefitting parties are those parties that have load in the reliability area." ❖ Exhibit SDG&E-1 (Anderson) at 11.

efficiency or other alternatives and is required to be operational as of the timeline proposed in the IOU's Application to avoid degrading grid reliability.

5. The Commission determines that the project identified in the Application benefits all customers within the IOU's service territory, including DA and CCA customers, by the way in which it meets the reliability needs specified by the ISO, as required by § 365.1(c)(2)(B).
6. Local RA projects in an IOU's Local RA Area provide comparable reliability benefits, as specified by the ISO, to all customers located in the entire IOU's service area, as required by §§ 365.1(c)(2)(A), 365.1(c)(2)(B), and 366.2 (g). Projects that provide the specified reliability benefits primarily to customers located within the Local RA Area where the project will be developed must be rejected as inconsistent with the statutes noted.²⁴⁶²⁶²

The three IOUs and DRA oppose AReM's cost causation principle, stating that LCR resources would provide reliability benefits to all customers, and thus, the net capacity costs should similarly be allocated to all customers.²⁴⁷²⁶³

SDG&E proposes that the Commission explicitly adopt a rebuttable presumption that the net capacity costs of generation resources authorized to meet system and local reliability requirements should be allocated via the CAM to all customers within the IOU's service territory.²⁴⁸²⁶⁴ SDG&E acknowledges that while CAM procurement must receive careful consideration, minimizing CAM should not be the overriding consideration. As long as state policies and

²⁴⁶²⁶² Exhibit AReM-1 (Mara) at 30-31.

²⁴⁷²⁶³ Id. at 8-9; Exhibit SCE-2 (Cushnie) at 27-28; Exhibit PG&E-1 ¶

(Frazier-Hampton/Martyn/Williams) at 8 (PG&E asserts that if AReM's cost causation proposal is accepted, then DA and CCA providers should be willing to agree to submit procurement plans to the Commission alongside IOUs); Exhibit DRA-5 (Ciupagea) ¶ at 1-2.

²⁴⁸²⁶⁴ Exhibit SDG&E-2 (Anderson) at 6.

interests are served through utility procurements that provide benefits beyond the IOU's bundled customers, the Commission should allocate the costs via the CAM to all benefitting customers.²⁴⁹²⁶⁵ SDG&E also takes issue with what it perceives as AReM presupposing that utility bundled load drives growth in peak demand and decrease in system load factors, when these assumptions are debatable. SDG&E states that AReM fails to address the complicated reality that there is no "objective formula that can be devised for quantifying and allocating reliability benefits among different customer groups."²⁵⁰²⁶⁶

SCE states that the costs of any SCE procurement to meet system reliability needs must be "fully recoverable and allocated appropriately" to DA and CCA customers via the CAM.²⁵¹²⁶⁷ SCE asserts that it would prefer not to procure beyond its bundled customers for system reliability,²⁵²²⁶⁸ and maintains that it will not procure system reliability resources unless "all benefitting customers pay their fair share."²⁵³²⁶⁹

PG&E recommends allocating the costs of LCR procurement in Track 1 to "all customers in the service area where LCR resources are added, whether bundled, DA, or CCA customers."²⁵⁴²⁷⁰ PG&E believes that LCR procurement in the LA basin should be allocated to all benefitting customers in SCE's service territory, but not to any customers in PG&E's service territory.²⁵⁵²⁷¹

TURN asserts that "the most reliable means of getting any needed new capacity built is for Edison take on the responsibility of contracting for such

²⁴⁹²⁶⁵ Exhibit SDG&E-2 (Anderson) at 1-3.

²⁵⁰²⁶⁶ Exhibit SDG&E-2 (Anderson) at 8.

²⁵¹²⁶⁷ Exhibit SCE-1 (Cushnie) at 25.

²⁵²²⁶⁸ Exhibit SCE-1 (Cushnie) at 21-22.

²⁵³²⁶⁹ Exhibit SCE-1 (Cushnie) at 21.

²⁵⁴²⁷⁰ Exhibit PG&E-1 (Frazier-Hampton/Martyn/Williams) at 6.

²⁵⁵²⁷¹ Exhibit PG&E-1 (Frazier-Hampton/Martyn/Williams) at 4.

capacity and allocate the costs to all benefit[ing] customers via the CAM.”²⁵⁶²⁷²
TURN states that AReM’s suggestions for CAM implementation would result in DA and CCA customers paying for less than a proportionate share of the reliability costs, and should thus, be rejected.²⁵⁷²⁷³

9.3. Discussion

Section 365.1(c)(2)(A)-(B) holds that in instances when the Commission determines that new generation is needed to meet local or system area reliability needs for the benefit of all customers in the IOU’s service area, the net capacity costs for the new capacity shall be allocated in a fair and equitable manner to all benefiting customers, including DA, CCA and bundled load. Simply put, each customer must pay their fair share for the benefits that flow to them from the new generation for the full life of the asset.²⁵⁸²⁷⁴

AReM’s driving peak/decreasing load proposal fails to recognize the interrelated nature of the electric system and the reality that some individual customers of ESPs, CCAs and IOUs have static load profiles, while others are driving the need for new resources. In addition, the retirement of existing resources creates the need for new resources to serve customers that may not be driving increases. Therefore, we continue the current Commission policy of allocating CAM costs and benefits at the IOU service area level.

In addition, we do not adopt AReM’s two-step/six criteria framework. AReM’s approach imposes additional requirements designed to limit CAM allocation, and appears to create a precise determination of “benefitting customers.” However, precision is not the same as fairness. The Commission’s

²⁵⁶²⁷² Exhibit TURN-1 (Woodruff) at; Exhibit TURN-2 (Woodruff) at 16.

²⁵⁷²⁷³ Exhibit TURN-2 (Woodruff) at 4.

²⁵⁸²⁷⁴ We note that SB 695 relieves the IOUs of limiting CAM treatment to 10 -year contracts.

previously adopted criteria fairly apportion costs to customers as envisioned by past Commission and the legislature actions. While creating more complexity, nothing in AReM's proposal improves on the fairness of the current allocation. Thus, the costs of local reliability needs shall continue to be allocated in accordance with previous Commission decisions.

9.4. Should the CAM be Modified at This Time?

AReM proposes several further modifications to the CAM, including changes to energy auction terms and the adopted program's proxy calculation. AReM suggests that the Commission make the current five-year maximum ceiling on energy auctions products to a five-year minimum floor. AReM contends that longer term tolling would more accurately reflect "the incremental hedging value of the PPA."²⁵⁹²⁷⁵

AReM also opines that the net capacity cost calculation from the adopted program should be changed to better reflect the increased ancillary service value and value of "other products and services" provided by the new PPAs or UOG plants beyond non-spinning reserves.²⁶⁰²⁷⁶ In addition, AReM proposes that the Commission modify the adopted program in order to account for the options value associated with a long-term tolling contract. By failing to incorporate this value, AReM contends, the current CAM framework "ignores one of the primary driver of PPA cost: the opportunity value of purchasing energy with agreed-upon terms in a market characterized by energy price volatility."²⁶¹²⁷⁷

AReM also supports a levelized annual revenue requirement for UOG plants in order to account for the reality the imputed capacity costs of a UOG

²⁵⁹²⁷⁵ Exhibit AReM-1 (Fulmer) at 39.

²⁶⁰²⁷⁶ Exhibit AReM-1 (Fulmer) at 39-41.

²⁶¹²⁷⁷ Exhibit AReM-1 (Fulmer) at 42-43.

generating plant changes over time as the plant is depreciated.²⁶²²⁷⁸ Finally, AReM asserts that the CAM should be capped, as a “backstop to ensure reasonable results.”²⁶³²⁷⁹ AReM recommends that the Commission convenes workshops to discuss the details of implementing some of their suggested design modifications.

SDG&E believes that the current auction mechanism is administratively unwieldy and not necessarily conducive to efficient capacity costs.²⁶⁴²⁸⁰ SDG&E supports the use of the adopted program²⁶⁵²⁸¹ as an alternative to the use of an energy auction to determine the net capacity costs for CAM resources. SDG&E suggests that the Commission eliminate the IOUs’ obligation to auction the right to the energy, unless the Commission directs otherwise; toward that end, SDG&E opines that the Commission should convene workshops to construct a permanent alternative to energy auctions.²⁶⁶²⁸² In addition, SDG&E specifically rejects AReM’s proposal to amend the adopted program to include all major ancillary service products currently available in the ISO market, levelize the annual revenue requirement for utility-owned generation, and cap the CAM.²⁶⁷²⁸³

DRA supports SDG&E’s proposal to change the energy auctions. DRA encourages the Commission to convene workshops to explore possible

²⁶²²⁷⁸ Exhibit AReM-1 (Fulmer) at 44.

²⁶³²⁷⁹ Exhibit AReM-1 (Fulmer) at 48.

²⁶⁴²⁸⁰ Exhibit SDG&E-1 (Anderson) at 10-11. TURN, on the other hand, expressed its support for CAM’s current energy auction approach. Exhibit TURN-2 (Woodruff) at 3.

²⁶⁵²⁸¹ The adopted program refers to the current CAM program, adopted in D.06-07-029, and amended in subsequent decisions as previously laid out in this decision.

²⁶⁶²⁸² Exhibit SDG&E-2 (Anderson) at 10.

²⁶⁷²⁸³ SDG&E-2 (Anderson) at 6-12.

modifications to the net capacity cost allocation, the valuation for energy and ancillary services and pursue the reduction of capacity costs for all parties.²⁶⁸²⁸⁴

The three IOUs and TURN oppose AReM's proposal to incorporate ancillary services in calculating energy dispatch value.²⁶⁹²⁸⁵

SCE and PG&E align with SDG&E in objecting a levelized annual revenue requirement,²⁷⁰²⁸⁶

while all three IOUs and TURN expressly object to AReM's proposal to cap the CAM.²⁷¹²⁸⁷

We reject the proposed cap on CAM. We find that AReM's proposal to levelize the annual revenue requirement obviates the plain language of § 365.1(c)(2)(C), which states that the net capacity costs shall be determined by "subtracting the energy and ancillary services value of the resource from the total costs paid by the electrical corporation pursuant to a contract with a third party or the annual revenue requirement for the resource if the electrical corporation directly owns the resource." (emphasis added.) Once the CAM contract has lapsed, bundled customers would overpay for the depreciated value of the generating asset capacity, while non-IOU customers would have paid less than their fair share of the full value of the asset's capacity value. Further, the proposal to cap the CAM contradicts its central purpose: apportioning system

²⁶⁸²⁸⁴ Exhibit DRA-5 (Ciupagea) at 4.

²⁶⁹²⁸⁵ SDG&E-2 (Anderson) at 6-12; Exhibit SCE-2 (Cushnie) at Exhibit PG&E-1 ¶ (Frazier-Hampton/Martyn/Williams) at 9-10, Exhibit TURN-2 (Woodruff) at 9.

²⁷⁰²⁸⁶ Exhibit SCE-2 (Cushnie) at 37; Exhibit PG&E-1 ¶ (Frazier-Hampton/Martyn/Williams) at 10.

²⁷¹²⁸⁷ Exhibit SCE-2 (Cushnie) at 32, 37-38; Exhibit PG&E-1 ¶ (Frazier-Hampton/Martyn/Williams) at 11; Exhibit TURN-2 (Woodruff) at 8-9 (TURN contends that imposing a cap on CAM without simultaneously imposing a floor would be discriminatory).

and local reliability costs to all benefiting customers in an IOU service area so that each benefitting customer pays their fair share.

We have stated an openness to revisit the energy auction mechanism adopted in D.07-09-044.²⁷²²⁸⁸ Toward that end, we appreciate the suggestions from parties in the current proceeding to consider improvements toward the current auction mechanism structure, including valuing net capacity costs. The record, however, fails to provide an adequate basis upon which to comprehensively consider and adopt any potential changes to the auction mechanism. We may consider taking a more focused look at these issues in the future.

9.5. CAM Opt-Out

In D.06-07-029, the Commission found the concept of a CAM opt-out mechanism for LSEs appealing, upon the demonstration that an LSE is fully resourced with new generation for ten years forward. However, D.06-07-029 stated “the reality is that we have no viable enforcement program or mechanism for doing so,” such as a “multi-year RA program where an LSE could demonstrate it is fully resourced for the next four or 10 years.”

AReM strongly supports an LSE opt-out, asserting that it is essential to maintaining market choice. AReM’s opt-out would function as follows. Once the Commission determines unmet need subject to the CAM, an ESP or CCA would have the option to request an opt-out from the CAM. The LSE has until the IOUs submit any proposed CAM projects to request an opt-out. In order to qualify for an opt-out, an LSE would make a showing to the Commission that it has procured adequate generation resources for a five-year period.

²⁷²²⁸⁸ For example, see D.11-05-005.

AReM proposes three types of out-out: (1) Load Ratio Share Opt-Out; (2) Load-Based Opt-Out; and (3) Customer-Based Opt-Out, which are described in detail in its testimony.²⁷³²⁸⁹ The three IOUs, TURN and DRA all categorically reject AReM's opt-out proposals.²⁷⁴²⁹⁰

Each asserts that AReM's proposed five-year forward contract term showing is insufficient time to procure and finance new generation resources given the reality of long lead time for building new generation.²⁷⁵²⁹¹ SDG&E contends that a CAM opt-out would encourage LSE free riding at the expense of utility ratepayers.²⁷⁶²⁹² SCE asserts that a CAM opt out stands in direct contrast to the Legislature's intent to pass along costs to all benefiting customers in a fair and equitable manner.²⁷⁷²⁹³ PG&E points out that keeping track of all the potential LSEs who choose to opt out of the CAM via one of the three ways proposed by AReM will result in high administrative costs.²⁷⁸²⁹⁴

TURN asserts that AReM's proposal would result in DA and CCA customers paying for less than a proportionate share of the costs of local reliability needs, with virtually no responsibility for new capacity needed to meet load reliably.²⁷⁹²⁹⁵ DRA argues that it is unclear how AReM's proposal would be enforceable to "ensure that 'there will be no free riders' vis-à-vis the cost of

²⁷³²⁸⁹ See Exhibit AReM-1 (Mara), starting at 57.

²⁷⁴²⁹⁰ Exhibit SDG&E-2 (Anderson) at 13-14; Exhibit SCE-2 (Cushnie) at 38; Exhibit PG&E-1 (Frazier-Hampton/Martyn/Williams) at 12; Exhibit TURN-2 (Woodruff) at 6-7; Exhibit DRA-5 (Ciupagea) at 5.

²⁷⁵²⁹¹ Exhibit DRA-5 (Ciupagea) at 5.

²⁷⁶²⁹² Exhibit SDG&E-2 (Anderson) at 12.

²⁷⁷²⁹³ Exhibit SCE-2 (Cushnie) at 39-40, which excerpts § 365.1(c)(2)(A)-(B).

²⁷⁸²⁹⁴ Exhibit PG&E-1 (Frazier-Hampton/Martyn/Williams) at 12.

²⁷⁹²⁹⁵ Exhibit TURN-2 (Woodruff) at 7.

capacity of new generation,"²⁸⁰²⁹⁶ and disagrees with AReM that only non-IOU LSEs should be allowed to opt out of the CAM.²⁸¹²⁹⁷

9.6. Discussion

The issue of a CAM opt-out is complex. AReM has properly raised legitimate questions regarding equity of the current CAM structure. However, while AReM's detailed proposal of a potential opt-out structure is helpful, it is unclear how its five-year contract term/project life requirement would adequately ensure investment in new resources. Further, it is not at all clear that a CAM opt-out could be implemented without undue administrative burden. After considering comments from parties, we find the record insufficient to resolve these questions, and therefore do not adopt an opt-out at this time.

We will not rule out consideration of a CAM opt-out at a future date. However, we have considered parties' positions on more than one occasion, and declined to adopt a CAM opt-out. Therefore, we are disinclined to relitigate this issue in the future unless all or nearly all impacted parties can agree on a specific, detailed and implementable proposal, or there are significant changed circumstances.

9.7. SSJID Proposal

SSJID asserts that it should be exempt from the CAM. Specifically, SSJID recommends the Commission should "exempt all existing and future [publicly-owned utility departing load], including large municipalizations, from CAM responsibility."²⁸²²⁹⁸

PG&E argues that SSJID should be subject to the CAM. PG&E asserts that the Commission has already decided in D.08-09-012 at 27-30 that the CAM

²⁸⁰²⁹⁶ Exhibit DRA-5 (Ciupagea) at 5, quoting Exhibit AReM-1 (Mara) at 19.

²⁸¹²⁹⁷ Exhibit DRA-5 (Ciupagea) at 5.

²⁸²²⁹⁸ Exhibit SSJID-1 (Shields) at 4.

applies to all large municipalization departing loads, and that SSJID fits into the Commission's stipulated definition of a large municipalization.²⁸³²⁹⁹

SSJID's argument against CAM application is that: (1) SSJID's Municipal Departing Load (MDL) should not be classified as a large municipalization as defined by the Commission in D.08-09-012; (2) California law does not require that Public-Owned Utilities (POUs) or MDL of any size (including large) be included as "benefiting customers" for the purposes of the CAM; (3) POUs do not present the same capacity procurement risks as DA or CCA loads; (4) POU customers may not be able to RA credits allocated under CAM; and (5) the Commission's alternative methodology for allocating RA costs and benefits to large municipalizations is an approximation and is impractical.²⁸⁴³⁰⁰

Most of the matters raised by SSJID were addressed in D.08-09-012 and will not be relitigated here. Regarding the definition of "large municipalization," D.08-09-012 at 26-27 stated:

While there is no precise measure of what constitutes a "large municipalization," in the context of this decision, we are defining "large municipalization" as any portion of an IOU's service territory that has been taken control of or annexed by a POU where the amount of load departing the IOUs' service territories due to the municipalization is of such a large magnitude that it cannot reasonably be assumed to have been reflected as part of the historical MDL trends used in developing the adopted LTPP load forecasts."

As indicated, D.08-09-012 did not specify the exact parameters for "large municipalization." It is not within the scope of this proceeding to determine whether SSJID is a large municipalization. SSJID has not convinced us that other issues it raised require any further action at this time.

²⁸³²⁹⁹ Exhibit PG&E-2 (Rubin) at 2.

²⁸⁴³⁰⁰ Exhibit SSJID-1 (Shields) at 3-4.

10. Cost of Capital (COC)

SCE witness Hunt testified that SCE seeks Commission authorization to file a separate application to adjust its capital structure to take into account debt equivalence issues arising from additional PPAs.^{[285301](#)} Debt equivalence occurs when rating agencies determine that the capacity costs of PPAs are equivalent to debt for the IOUs because the payments cannot be avoided without defaulting on the PPA.

Hunt contends PPAs arising from this decision will create significant debt equivalents or debt equivalence on SCE's balance sheet that may need to be mitigated to preserve SCE's creditworthiness. Hunt estimates that SCE's 2013 debt equivalence will be about \$2.5 billion, while LCR procurement contracts could increase that amount by \$900 million to \$2.9 billion.^{[286302](#)}

DRA opposes SCE's request. DRA recommends that SCE should wait to have the Commission consider any changes in SCE's debt equivalence resulting from LCR procurement until the next COC proceeding. DRA asserts that since debt equivalence is only one of many credit risk drivers impacting SCE's credit rating, debt equivalence should be considered together with those other credit risk drivers.^{[287303](#)} TURN points out that the Commission has addressed this issue in several previous procurement-related proceedings and declined to approve the relief requested by the utility. TURN cites D.09-06-018 at 58, stating that "we will take action to address negative impacts on any utility's balance sheet or credit profile when warranted and necessary, and will do so in a manner consistent with the urgency of the matter."

^{[285301](#)} RT 834.

^{[286302](#)} Exhibit SCE-1 (Hunt) at 27.

^{[287303](#)} Exhibit DRA-8 (Lasko) at 3.

SCE's capital structure is typically determined in its COC proceeding. On April 20, 2012, SCE filed its most recent COC application. SCE's next COC proceeding is expected in early 2015. SCE witness Hunt testified that the point at which SCE's procurement PPAs stemming from this order would be included in rating agencies' rating as debt equivalence is generally when energy deliveries begin under a contract.²⁸⁸³⁰⁴ Mr. Hunt also testified that to the extent that the contract will simply replace an expiring contract, Standard and Poor's rating agency will impute debt as though the future contract is a continuation of the existing contract.

SCE itself expects the process from today's decision to Commission-approved contracts to take about two years, or until late 2014. Any potential impact on SCE's COC will not commence until at least the time of the Commission's decision on SCE's LCR procurement application, if not for several years afterwards.

We will not change our policy from D.09-06-018 and previous decisions. SCE should use its next COC application, or other venue for consideration of COC, to seek any changes it considers appropriate due to debt equivalence for the contracts foreseen from today's decision.

11. Motion of Megawatt Storage Farms (MSF)

On October 5, 2012 ~~Megawatt Storage Farms, Inc. (MSF)~~MSF filed a motion asking the Commission to rule that energy storage should be ranked first in the Loading Order. MSF argues that this proceeding is evaluating and deciding on quantities of resources to be procured, and that energy storage must be considered here. MSF notes that energy storage is not mentioned explicitly by name in the current Loading Order, and that it is impossible for the LTPP

²⁸⁸³⁰⁴ RT 839.

Proceeding to analyze or decide on procurements unless a decision is made on energy storage's ranking within the Loading Order.

MSF articulates several reasons why it contends energy storage should be first in the Loading Order. First, MSF contends that energy storage reduces natural gas needs for renewables integration. Second, MSF claims energy storage reduces natural gas needs for frequency regulation. Third, MSF argues that energy storage promotes energy efficiency by time shifting. Finally, because energy storage does not fit into other specified categories (these categories are entitled "new generation" and "fossil fuel, central station generation"), MSF contends energy storage is properly placed in the first category.

Several parties filed in opposition to MSF's motion. Opposing parties argue that the MSF motion is untimely, that energy storage issues are being considered in another proceeding, and that the Loading Order should not be modified in this proceeding.

The MSF motion is denied. In this decision, we establish a solicitation process for SCE to procure for long-term LCR needs. In this process, there will be opportunities for potential energy storage facilities to participate; we specifically require SCE's solicitation process to be technologically-neutral. Further, we require SCE to procure at least 50 MW of energy storage.

However, it is premature to consider where energy storage should be placed in the Loading Order. As MSF acknowledges and as discussed herein, we are considering issues related to energy storage in R.10-12-007. In that proceeding, it is possible (though not guaranteed) that the Commission will establish procurement targets for energy storage or otherwise provide a method to facilitate the development of energy storage technologies. At this time, no decisions have been made concerning the viability, cost-effectiveness or public

interest nature of energy storage technologies in that docket. If and when such action is taken, the role of energy storage technologies in the procurement process can be considered.

We also note that, as discussed herein, the Loading Order was developed in a multi-agency process and is, in part, established in statute. We do not intend to unilaterally reconsider the multi-agency Energy Action Plan in this decision; certainly, we cannot alter a statute here.

12. Categorization, Need for Hearings and Assignment

The assigned Commissioner is Michel Peter Florio and the assigned [Administrative Law Judge \(ALJ\)](#) is David M. Gamson. ALJ Gamson is the Presiding Officer.

13. Comments on Proposed Decision

The proposed decision [of](#) the ALJ in this matter was mailed to the parties in accordance with Section 311 of the Public Utilities Code and comments were allowed under Rule 14.3 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure.

Comments were filed on ~~_____~~ [January 14, 2013](#), and reply comments were filed on ~~_____~~ [by _____ January 22, 2013](#).

[Based on comments, the PD has been modified as follows:](#)

- [The minimum procurement level for the LA Basin has been increased from 1050 MW to 1400 MW;](#)
- [The maximum procurement level for the LA Basin has been increased from 1500 MW to 1800 MW;](#)
- [For the LA Basin, SCE is now required to procure at least 150 MW of preferred resources \(as opposed to no requirement in the PD\);](#)
- [For the LA Basin, SCE may procure up to 600 MW of preferred resources \(as opposed to an authorization of](#)

- 250 -450 MW in the PD), subject to the overall 1800 MW cap;
- As with the PD, SCE is required to present contracts for at least 50 MW of energy storage resources in the LA Basin to the Commission for approval, or (in the revised PD) to have the burden of proof to show that it should procure less than 50 MW because the bids it received were unreasonable;
 - The PD's authorization for SCE to procure up to 1519 MW of distributed generation (less amount already expected to be procured) in the LA Basin is deleted;
 - The ISO Trajectory scenario is used as a starting point for forecasting LCR needs for the LA Basin (instead of the ISO Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis in the PD). The ISO Trajectory scenario is adjusted to account for 50% to 100% of uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP forecasts by the CEC, and to account for a conservative forecast of 200 MW of demand response resources;
 - SCE is now required to consider retrofits of a power plant cooling system undertaken to comply with State Water Resources Control Board Statewide OTC Policy as a new resource in considering resources to meet its LCR needs;
 - A footnote in the PD is modified to allow certain CHP resources to qualify as part of the 1000 to 1200 MW requirement for conventional gas-fired resources in the LA Basin;
 - Clarification of the relationship between procurement requirements in this proceeding and Commission procurement decisions in the RPS docket;
 - Clarifications to requirements for SCE's Procurement Plan (reviewed by Energy Division) and subsequent procurement Applications;
 - Other minor changes and clarifications to the PD are made as appropriate;
 - Various Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Ordering Paragraphs are modified to effectuate the changes to the PD listed above.

Findings of Fact

1. It is reasonable for the Commission only to consider LCR forecasts by the ISO using renewable portfolio scenarios already in the record of R.10-05-006.
2. It is reasonable to use local capacity studies and power flow modeling from the ISO for LCR forecasting.
3. The ISO used demand forecasts provided by the CEC in its 2009 IEPR, which used 2009 demand forecast data. It is reasonable to use this data for LCR forecasting in this proceeding.
4. In the LA basin local area, the Alamitos, El Segundo, Huntington Beach, Redondo Beach power plants use OTC technology. Sixteen OTC units are required to comply with SCRWB regulations to substantially reduce water use before 2021. In total, these units currently have more than ~~4,900~~[4900](#) MW of capacity.
5. In the Big Creek/Ventura local area, the Ormond Beach and Mandalay power plants are OTC plants with ~~five~~[four](#) units which are required to comply with ~~SCRWB~~[SWRCB](#) regulations to substantially reduce water use before 2021. In total, these units currently have more than 2000 MW of capacity.
6. The ISO forecasted LCR needs 10 years into the future for the first time; these forecasts (like other forecasts) are subject to error due to input assumptions and significant changes in circumstances in the future.
7. Both under-procurement and over-procurement entail significant risks. Under-procurement entails risks of reliability problems and the impacts of mitigating such problems in a short timeframe. Over-procurement entails risks of excessive costs and unnecessary environmental degradation. It is not possible to quantify whether the risks of over- or under-procurement are greater.

8. It is reasonable to use the CEC's one-in-10 year load forecast, combined with the contingencies identified by the ISO, for the purpose of LCR forecasting in this proceeding.

9. It is reasonable to use the ISO's analysis of transmission for the purpose of LCR forecasting in this proceeding.

10. It is reasonable to assume that the OTC plants in the SCE territory required to comply with SWRCB regulations will comply through retirement or repowering consistent with the SWRCB schedule, for the purpose of LCR forecasting in this proceeding. However, no finding on this point is intended to apply to SONGS.

11. Each of the four RPS scenarios analyzed by the ISO contain a reasonable minimum level of energy efficiency from CEC forecasts which can be used for the purposes of determining LCR needs for the LA basin local reliability area.

12. The four RPS scenarios analyzed by the ISO do not include any uncommitted energy efficiency or uncommitted CHP resources analyzed by the CEC.

~~13. The ISO's Environmentally Constrained scenario assumes 1,519 MW of distributed generation in the LA basin local area. It is unclear whether SCE has sufficient authority to procure this amount of distributed resources in this local area absent this decision.~~

13. 14. To the extent uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP resources ultimately develop, they can be helpful in reducing overall net demand. However, these resources are not likely to be as effective in reducing LCR needs as repowered gas-fired resources at existing OTC locations. Reducing overall net demand reduces LCR needs.

~~14. 15.~~ A significant amount of what is categorized by the CEC as uncommitted energy efficiency is certain to occur because it is based on standards already adopted by the CPUC, the CEC and federal agencies.

~~15. 16.~~ Some of what is categorized by the CEC as uncommitted energy efficiency is not certain to occur because it is based on policies, such as the Commission's BBES, which are not yet implemented.

~~16. 17.~~ In the ISO's Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis, the impacts of uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP significantly reduced LCR needs for the LA basin local reliability area compared to other ISO scenarios.

~~17. 18.~~ There will be more uncommitted energy efficiency available in the LA basin local reliability area than was included in the ISO Trajectory scenario. The ISO Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis includes a reasonable maximum level of uncommitted energy efficiency for the LA basin local reliability area.

~~19. It may be possible to develop specific demand response programs which would be able to count for long-term local reliability purposes, possibly including programs targeted to specific local areas, or to shave peak load (which would reduce the load forecast). However, there are no demand response programs at this time which the ISO believes meet reliability criteria.~~

~~20. The record does not provide a way to quantify any amount of locally dispatchable demand response for the purposes of determining the LCR need in this proceeding.~~

18. There is at least 100 MW of demand response in the most effective locations now in the LA Basin (and 549 MW of total demand response resources now).

~~19. 21.~~ ~~It~~ By 2020 it is likely that ~~some~~ the actual amount of ~~locally dispatchable~~ demand response resources ~~will be~~ available to ~~meet or~~ reduce ~~future LCR needs~~ by 2021. LCR needs in the LA Basin will be considerably more than 100 MW, and possibly closer to DRA and CEJA's estimates of around 1000 MW.

~~20. 22.~~ There will be more ~~distributed generation~~ uncommitted CHP available in the LA basin local reliability area than was included in the ISO Trajectory scenario.

~~21. 23.~~ The ISO's ~~Environmentally Constrained~~ Trajectory scenario includes a reasonable minimum level of distributed generation for the LA basin local reliability area for the purposes of determining the LCR need in this proceeding, except that it does not include a sufficient estimate for uncommitted CHP.

~~22. 24.~~ The ISO's Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis includes a reasonable maximum level of uncommitted CHP for the LA basin local reliability area for the purposes of determining the LCR need in this proceeding.

~~23. 25.~~ In R.10-12-007, the Commission is considering multiple energy storage options to determine the cost-effectiveness of these potential resources. At this time there is not sufficient information to determine how much viable energy storage facilities will emerge between now and 2021 that can be used for local reliability purposes.

~~24. 26.~~ It is premature to consider a modification to the ISO local reliability need forecast for energy storage for the LA basin local area at this time.

~~25. 27.~~ It is reasonable to expect that some unidentified amount of energy storage resources will be available in the future, and it is likely that some amount of energy storage resources will be available to meet future LCR needs. It is unclear whether the costs of energy storage resources will be reasonable.

~~26. 28.~~ It is likely that some LCR procurement opportunities would be lost if there is a delay in approving a procurement process for the LA basin local reliability area and the Big Creek/Ventura local reliability area, due to a seven to nine year lead time for conventional gas-fired resources.

27. Gas-fired resources at the current OTC sites are certain to meet the ISO's criteria for meeting LCR needs. Other resources can also meet or reduce LCR needs, but may not be effective in doing so.

~~28. 29.~~ There is a significant need for LCR resources to replace retiring OTC plants in the LA basin local area by 2021 under every ISO scenario, ~~including as well as under~~ the Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis.

~~30. A minimum LCR procurement level is necessary to ensure reliability.~~

~~29. 31.~~ Even if some ~~distributed generation~~, uncommitted energy efficiency and/or uncommitted CHP resources included in the ISO Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis do not ultimately appear, there is a reasonable likelihood that some demand response and/or energy storage resources and/ or other distributed generation resources will be viable and able to similarly meet or reduce LCR needs.

~~30. 32.~~ The ISO's Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis includes the highest reasonable levels of uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP. This forecast shows an LCR need of ~~1,042~~1042 MW for the LA basin local area for effective sites, which is 828 MW below the LCR need in the Environmentally Constrained scenario (everything else being equal).

31. It is necessary that a significant amount of this procurement level be met through conventional gas-fired resources in order to ensure LCR needs will be met.

32. In order to determine a minimum LCR procurement level for the LA basin local area with 100% of the CEC's forecast of uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP, and 200 MW of demand response resources, it is reasonable to subtract the effects of these resources from the ISO's Trajectory scenario. Thus (with rounding), the ISO's projected need of 2400 MW in the Trajectory scenario would be reduced by 800 MW to account for 50% of uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP, and by 200 MW to account for a conservative estimate of demand response resources. This leads to a minimum procurement level of 1400 MW.

33. A maximum LCR procurement level will protect ratepayers from excessive costs resulting from potential over-procurement.

~~34. It is reasonable to assume 50% of the CEC's forecast of uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP levels will exist in order to determine a maximum LCR procurement level for the LA basin local area.~~

~~34. 35.~~ In order to determine a maximum LCR procurement level for the LA basin local area with 50% of the CEC's forecast of uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP, and 200 MW of demand response resources, it is reasonable to ~~consider a figure approximately halfway between the Environmentally Constrained scenario and the Environmentally Constrained scenario sensitivity analysis.~~ subtract the effects of these resources from the ISO's Trajectory scenario. Thus (with rounding), the ISO's projected need of 2400 MW in the Trajectory scenario would be reduced by 400 MW to account for 50% of uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP, and by 200 MW to account for a conservative estimate of demand response resources. This leads to a maximum procurement level of 1800 MW.

~~35.36.~~ If SCE procures more than the minimum MW amount for the LA basin local area, it will be consistent with the Loading Order to require some additional capacity to come from non-fossil-fueled sources.

~~36.37.~~ The ISO did not include any values for uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted CHP for the Big Creek/Ventura local area.

~~37.38.~~ The ISO did not include any values for demand response or energy storage resources in the Big Creek/Ventura local area.

~~38.39.~~ The ISO evaluated and found feasible a transmission alternative for the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local area.

~~39.40.~~ The ISO has shown that there is a need for in-area generation with operational characteristics similar to retiring OTC plants in the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local area.

~~40.41.~~ The most likely locations for to meet LCR needs in the Moorpark sub-area are the sites of the current OTC plants. The record shows that it may take seven years or more until operations commence in these locations.

~~41.42.~~ The most likely size for at least one replacement plant in the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local area is 215 MW, as this is the size of two existing OTC units in that area.

42. There may be a need to procure up to 290 MW in the Moorpark sub-area, after accounting for the likelihood of preferred resources and/or transmission upgrades which are likely to exist in that area and be able to reduce or meet LCR needs.

43. There is an immediate need to begin a procurement process to meet LCR needs of between 215 and 290 MW in the Moorpark sub-area.

44. SCE will need to undertake technical studies to integrate certain preferred resources (including energy storage resources) so that they meet local reliability

needs, and to work with the ISO to assess the impacts of such resources to meet or reduce LCR needs.

45. A requirement to procure a modest level of energy storage resources, such as 50 MW provides an opportunity to assess the cost and performance of energy storage resources.

46. A requirement to procure at least a minimum level of energy storage resources may provide energy storage providers with market power, to the detriment of ratepayers.

47. OTC plants that comply with SWRCB Track 2 policy (90+% reduction in water usage) without retiring are potential resources to meet SCE's local procurement needs. Such plants may provide SCE with additional capacity options and potentially lower costs to ratepayers.

48. 45. It may take one year or more after today's decision before SCE can submit an application to the Commission with final LCR procurement contracts for Commission approval, after procurement solicitations, bilateral negotiations and studies for preferred resources.

49. 46. Purchased power agreements arising from this decision may create significant debt equivalents on SCE's balance sheet that may need to be mitigated to preserve SCE's creditworthiness. Such additional debt equivalence will not come into effect until the start of commercial operations of the plant, unless the contract is considered by a rating agency as a continuation of a current contract.

50. 47. The cost allocation mechanism in effect today was established in D.06-07-029 and refined in D.07-09-04, D.08-09-012 and D.11-05-005.

51. 48. AReM's driving peak/decreasing load CAM proposal is inconsistent with the principle that each customer must pay their fair share for the benefits that flow to them from the new generation.

~~52.49.~~ AReM's two-step/six criteria framework for CAM allocation imposes additional requirements designed to limit CAM allocation, but does not improve on the fairness of the current allocation.

~~53.50.~~ AReM's proposal to levelize the annual revenue requirement would result in bundled customers overpaying for the depreciated value of the generating asset capacity, while non-IOU customers would have paid less than their fair share of the full value of the asset's capacity value.

~~54.51.~~ The record does not provide an adequate [and persuasive](#) basis upon which to comprehensively consider and adopt any potential changes to the auction mechanism.

~~55.52.~~ In AReM's CAM opt-out proposal, it is unclear how AReM's five-year contract term/project life requirement would adequately ensure investment in new resources.

~~56.53.~~ It is not clear that a CAM opt-out could be implemented without undue administrative burden.

Conclusions of Law

1. A significant difference between the ISO's reliability mission under § 345 and the Commission's reliability emphasis under § 380(c) is that the Commission must balance its reliability mandate with other statutory and policy considerations. Primarily, these considerations are reasonableness of rates under § 451 and § 454 and a commitment to a clean environment under Pub. Util. Code sections including § 399.11 (Renewables Portfolio Standard) and § 454.5(b)(9)(C) (Loading Order).

2. Consistent with § 454.5(b)(9)(C), which states that utilities must first meet their "unmet resource needs through all available energy efficiency and demand reduction resources that are cost-effective, reliable and feasible," and the

Commission's Loading Order established in the Energy Action Plan, utility LCR procurement must take into account the availability of preferred resources before procuring non-preferred resources.

3. The record in this proceeding supports outcomes which enable the Commission to meet statutory requirements and policy goals with regard to reliability, ratepayer costs and environmental protection, as well as to require the procurement of sufficient levels of diverse resources in a timely manner.

4. SCE's procurement process should have no provisions specifically or implicitly excluding any resource from the bidding process due to technology, except for ~~amounts above 1,200 MW in~~ specific requirements in this decision for the LA basin local area ~~and a requirement to procure 50 MW of energy storage resources, SCE.~~ Except as otherwise required by this decision, SCE's procurement process must have provisions designed to be consistent with the Loading Order approved by the Commission in the Energy Action Plan and § 454.5(b)(9)(C).

5. The ISO models overstate the LCR need for the LA basin local area and the Big Creek/Ventura local area.

6. It is reasonable to assume at least 50%, and as much as 100%, of the CEC's forecast of uncommitted energy efficiency and CHP levels will exist in order to determine minimum and maximum LCR procurement level for the LA basin local area.

7. It is reasonable, as a conservative approach, to assume a nominal level of 200 MW of locally-dispatchable demand response resource will be available in the LA Basin to reduce LCR needs by 2020.

8. ~~6.~~ Adoption of an LCR need range which takes into account between 50% and 100% of uncommitted energy efficiency and uncommitted distributed generation resources, and allows for the potential of demand response resources

and energy storage resources which may meet ISO technical criteria for meeting LCR needs, is consistent with the applicable statutory and regulatory requirements for procurement of preferred resources, including the Loading Order.

~~9. 7.~~ SCE should be ~~authorized to start the process~~required to procure a minimum of ~~1,050~~1400 MW and a maximum of ~~1,500~~1800 MW in the West LA sub-area of the LA basin local reliability area. No more than ~~1,200~~1200 MW should be from conventional gas-fired sources ~~up to 450~~. At least 150 MW should be from preferred resources. Up to 600 MW additional capacity may be from preferred resources or energy storage resources (in addition to resources already authorized or required to be obtained via Commission decisions in energy efficiency, demand response, RPS, energy storage and other relevant dockets), subject to the maximum procurement level.

~~10. 8.~~ SCE should be required to procure at least 50 MW of energy storage resources in the LA basin local area to meet LCR needs, subject to a showing that the costs of some or all of such procurement would not be reasonable.

~~9. To the extent that SCE does not already have sufficient authority to procure 1,519 MW of distributed generation in the LA basin local area, SCE should be authorized to do so in this decision.~~

~~11. 10.~~ SCE should be ~~authorized to start the process~~required to procure a minimum of 215 MW and a maximum of 290 MW in the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local reliability area.

12. SCE should be required to provide a procurement plan to Energy Division for compliance review of the requirements of this decision.

~~13. 11.~~ SCE should be required to file ~~an Application~~one or more Applications for approval of contracts to procure LCR resources consistent with this decision.

14. ~~12.~~ If there is additional information about the viability of preferred resources and/or transmission alternatives in the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local reliability area and West LA sub-area of the LA basin local reliability area when SCE files its Application for approval of contracts, that information should be considered at that time.

15. ~~13.~~ SCE should be required to determine the availability and cost-effectiveness of preferred resources, and energy storage resources, that can offer the necessary characteristics to meet or reduce LCR needs. SCE should then be required to work with the ISO to re-run its transmission modeling load-flow analysis to determine the impacts of such resources. To the extent such resources meet or reduce LCR needs, SCE should reduce procurement of non-preferred resources.

16. ~~14.~~ Cost-of-service contracts (also called bilateral contracts) allowed under § 454.6 are an option that SCE should be able to use in situations where there is significant market power that would be detrimental to ratepayers.

17. ~~15.~~ It is reasonable to authorize SCE to use either or both RFOs and cost-of-service contracts in its LCR procurement solicitation process.

18. It is reasonable for SCE to consider retrofits to existing OTC plants, assumed retired in the ISO studies, in its procurement process.

19. ~~16.~~ All contracts stemming from the LCR procurement authorization we establish today should be brought to the Commission for approval ~~in a single~~ by application for each local reliability area, anticipated sometime in 2014. It is reasonable to allow an earlier application for gas-fired procurement due to the long lead time for such resources.

20. ~~17.~~ The cost allocation mechanism established in D.06-07-029 and refined in D.07-09-04, D.08-09-012 and D.11-05-005 remains reasonable for application in

this proceeding without modification, and is fair and equitable as required by Section 365.1(c)(2)(A)-(B).

21. ~~18.~~ The appropriate procedural venue for SCE to seek any changes it considers appropriate due to debt equivalence related to contracts foreseen from today's decision is its next COC application.

22. ~~19.~~ The record is insufficient to resolve outstanding questions about a CAM opt-out at this time.

23. ~~20.~~ It is not within the scope of this proceeding to determine whether SSJID is a large municipalization for the purposes of the CAM.

24. ~~21.~~ The Motion of ~~Megawatt Storage Farms~~ MSE should be denied because it seeks to modify a policy adopted by the Commission along with other state agencies, and may conflict with statute.

O R D E R

IT IS ORDERED that:

1. ~~In this decision, we authorized~~ Southern California Edison Company ~~to~~ shall procure between ~~1,050~~ 1400 and ~~1,500~~ 1800 Megawatts (MW) of electrical capacity in the West Los Angeles sub-area of the Los Angeles basin local reliability area to meet long-term local capacity requirements by 2021.

Procurement must abide by the following guidelines:

- a. At least ~~1,000~~ 1000 MW, but no more than ~~1,200~~ 1200 MW, of this capacity must be from conventional gas-fired resources, including combined heat and power resources;
- b. At least 50 MW of capacity must be procured from energy storage resources;

- c. At least 150 MW of capacity must be procured from preferred resources consistent with the Loading Order of the Energy Action Plan;
- d. ~~e. Up to 450~~ Subject to the overall cap of 1800 MW, up to 600 MW of capacity, beyond the amounts specified required to be procured pursuant to subparagraphs (a), (b) and (c) above, may be procured through preferred resources consistent with the Loading Order of the Energy Action Plan (in addition to resources already required to be procured or obtain by the Commission through decisions in other relevant proceedings) and/or energy storage resources. Distributed generation procured as part of this authorization must be incremental to the 1,519 MW of distributed generation already forecast to be available in the LA Basin in the California Independent System Operator Environmentally Constrained portfolio. To the extent that 1,519 MW of distributed generation has not already been authorized in other Commission decisions, such authorization is granted here.

2. Southern California Edison Company ~~is authorized to begin a process to~~ shall procure between 215 and 290 Megawatts of electric capacity to meet local capacity requirements in the Moorpark sub-area of the Big Creek/Ventura local reliability area. ~~by 2021.~~

3. Southern California Edison Company (SCE) shall use existing Resource Adequacy (RA) program rules (as developed in Rulemaking 11-10-023 and successor proceedings) to assess the effectiveness of proposed generation solutions for meeting the local capacity requirements need established in this Order. SCE shall identify its assumptions on the effectiveness of any resource for which the RA program does not provide clear guidance.

~~4. Southern California Edison Company shall begin the procurement process for the capacity referenced in Ordering Paragraphs 1 and 2 immediately.~~

~~4.~~ ~~5.~~ Any Requests for Offers (RFO) issued by Southern California Edison Company ~~as part of the procurement process authorized by~~ [pursuant to](#) this Order shall include the following elements, in addition to any RFO requirements not delineated herein but specified by previous Commission procurement decisions (including Decision 07-12-052) and the authorization and requirements of this decision:

- a. The resource must meet the identified reliability constraint identified by the California Independent System Operator (ISO);
- b. The resource must be demonstrably incremental to the assumptions used in the California ISO studies, to ensure that a given resource is not double counted;
- c. The consideration of costs and benefits must be adjusted by their relative effectiveness factor at meeting the California ISO identified constraint;
- d. A requirement that resources offer the performance characteristics needed to be eligible to count as local Resource Adequacy capacity;
- e. No provisions specifically or implicitly excluding any resource from the bidding process due to resource type [\(except as authorized in this Order\)](#);
- f. No provision limiting bids to any specific contract length;
- g. Provisions designed to be consistent with the Loading Order approved by the Commission in the Energy Action Plan and to pursue all cost-effective preferred resources in meeting local capacity needs;
- h. Provisions designed to minimize costs to ratepayers by procuring the most cost-effective resources consistent with a least cost/best fit analysis;
- i. A reasonable method designed to procure local capacity requirement amounts at or within the levels authorized or required in this decision, not counting amounts procured through cost-of-service contracts;

- j. An assessment of projected greenhouse gas emissions as part of the cost/benefit analysis;
- k. A method to consider flexibility of resources without a requirement that only flexibility of resources be considered; and
- l. Use of the most up-to-date effectiveness ratings.

~~5. 6.~~ Southern California Edison Company (SCE) shall provide ~~Energy Division with~~ procurement plan for all required and authorized resources in the Los Angeles Basin and Big Creek/Ventura local areas to Energy Division no later than 150 days after the effective date of this decision. SCE may provide parts of its procurement plan to Energy Division earlier than 150 days. SCE shall show that its proposed procurement ~~process showing that the proposal~~ plan is consistent with Ordering Paragraph ~~5, and~~ 4. SCE shall not go forward with any public procurement process until ~~the~~ Energy Division approves the process in writing, except that SCE may proceed with parts of its procurement plan if so authorized. SCE also shall follow adhere to previous Commission ~~direction~~ decisions regarding this proposed procurement process, including consultation with the Procurement Review Group and Independent Evaluators.

~~6. 7.~~ In its proposed procurement plan to be reviewed by Energy Division, Southern California Edison Company shall show that it has a specific plan to undertake integration of energy efficiency, demand response, energy storage and distributed generation resources in order to meet or reduce local capacity requirement needs through 2021.

7. In its proposed procurement plan to be reviewed by Energy Division, Southern California Edison Company shall include all of the following:

- A list of all applicable rules and statutes impacting the plan;

- A detailed description of how it intends to procure resources, specifying the structure of any RFO or alternative procurement process and related timelines;
- A methodology for determining least cost/ best fit that includes evaluating and quantifying performance characteristics that vary among resource type (e.g. time to start, output at various times, variable cost, effectiveness in meeting contingencies, etc.);
- What type of price benchmark will be used in determining cost-effectiveness for resources;
- An explanation for each resource type indicating whether modifications will be made to existing programs or if a new approach will be utilized;
- A methodology for determining peak capacity for resources for which there is not a currently approved methodology for determining Net Qualifying Capacity; and
- A methodology for determining other reliability capabilities (e.g. voltage support) for resources for which there is not a currently approved methodology for determining these capabilities.

8. In its proposed procurement plan to be reviewed by Energy Division, Southern California Edison Company may also include an optional proposal to conduct separate solicitations for gas-fired generation and other resources.

9. ~~8.~~ Southern California Edison Company is authorized to procure bilateral cost-of-service contracts to meet authorize local capacity requirements as specified in this Order, including bilateral contracts consistent with the provisions of Public Utilities Code § 454.6.

10. ~~9.~~ Southern California Edison Company shall work with the California Independent System Operator to determine a priority-ordered listing of the most electrically beneficial locations for preferred resources deployment.

11. ~~10.~~ Southern California Edison Company (SCE) shall file one Application for approval of any and all contracts entered into as a result of the procurement process authorized by this decision for the Los Angeles basin local reliability area, and one Application for these purposes for the Big Creek/Ventura local reliability area. An exception to the requirement of this paragraph is if SCE's procurement plan, as approved by Energy Division, provides for one separate and earlier Application to procure gas-fired generation for both local reliability areas. SCE shall not receive recovery in rates for the costs related to any such contract before Commission review and approval of these Applications. In addition to currently applicable rules, the Applications shall specify how the totality of the contracts meet the following criteria:

- a. Cost-effectiveness;
- b. Consistency with the Loading Order, including a demonstration that it has identified each preferred resource and assessed the availability, economics, viability and effectiveness of that supply in meeting the LCR need;
- c. Compliance with Ordering Paragraphs 1 and 2; ~~and~~
- d. For applicable bilateral contracts, compliance with Public Utilities Code Section ~~454.6~~.454.6; and
- e. A demonstration of technological neutrality, so that no resource was arbitrarily or unfairly prevented from bidding in SCE's solicitation process. To the extent that the availability, viability and effectiveness of resources higher in the Loading Order are comparable to fossil-fueled resources, SCE shall show that it has contracted with these preferred resources first.

12. In its application regarding the Los Angeles Basin local reliability area to implement this decision pursuant to Ordering Paragraph 11, Southern California Edison Company shall present contracts for at least 50 MW of energy storage resources (pursuant to Ordering Paragraph 1) to the Commission for approval, or

have the burden to show that it should procure less than 50 MW because the bids it received were unreasonable.

13. Southern California Edison Company shall treat the retrofitting of a power plant cooling system, which is undertaken to comply with State Water Resources Control Board Statewide Policy on the Use of Coastal and Estuarine Waters for Power Plant Cooling and has a compliance deadline before December 31, 2022, as a new resource in considering resources to meet the needs in Ordering Paragraphs 1 and 2.

14. ~~11.~~ Southern California Edison Company (SCE) shall provide documentation in its Applications required by Ordering Paragraph ~~10~~11 of efforts to consult with the California Independent System Operator to develop performance characteristics for local reliability, and how SCE meets any such performance characteristics.

15. ~~12.~~ Southern California Edison Company shall allocate costs incurred as a result of procurement authorized in this decision and approved by the Commission consistent with the cost allocation mechanism approved in Decisions (D.) 06-07-029, D.07-09-044, D.08-09-012 and D.11-05-005.

16. ~~13.~~ The October 5, 2012 Motion of Megawatt Storage Farms, Inc. is denied.

17. ~~14.~~ This proceeding shall remain open.

This order is effective today.

Dated _____, at San Francisco, California.

Document comparison by Workshare Compare on Thursday, February 07, 2013
3:34:15 PM

Input:	
Document 1 ID	file:///d:/Nii/Desktop/R1203014%20Gamson%20Agenda%20Dec.[1].docx
Description	R1203014%20Gamson%20Agenda%20Dec.[1]
Document 2 ID	file:///d:/Nii/Desktop/R1203014 Gamson Agenda Dec Revision 1.docx
Description	R1203014 Gamson Agenda Dec Revision 1
Rendering set	Standard

Legend:	
Insertion	
Deletion	
Moved from	
<u>Moved to</u>	
Style change	
Format change	
Moved deletion	
Inserted cell	
Deleted cell	
Moved cell	
Split/Merged cell	
Padding cell	

Statistics:	
	Count
Insertions	935
Deletions	815
Moved from	3
Moved to	3
Style change	0
Format changed	0
Total changes	1756